Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2021:86

Maya Olaisen

Microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease

NTNU

NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Maya Olaisen

Microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, March 2021

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine

© Maya Olaisen

ISBN 978-82-326-6102-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-6518-1 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2021:86

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

Mikrobiota ved inflammatorisk tarmsykdom

Mikrobiota er fellesbetegnelsen på bakterier, sopp, virus, bakteriofager og arkebakterier som eksisterer i et miljø. Inflammatorisk tarmsykdom (IBD) er kroniske betennelsestilstander i gastrointestinaltraktus og består hovedsakelig av sykdommene Crohns sykdom (CD) og ulcerøs kolitt (UC). Årsaken til IBD ukjent, men den rådende hypotesen er at betennelse utvikles hos genetisk disponerte individ utsatt for miljøfaktorer og mikrobiota som fører til en overaktivering av tarmens immunsystem. Eksisterende behandling er ofte utilstrekkelig. Det nedlegges store ressurser i forskning på sykdomsårsak, sykdomsmekanismer og videreutvikling av behandling.

I artikkel I målte vi konsentrasjonen av medisinen 5-aminosalisylsyre (5-ASA) i tarmslimhinnen og undersøkte slimhinne-assosiert mikrobiota hos 42 pasienter med UC. 5-ASA er grunnsteinen i behandling av UC og medisinen utøver sin virkning i tarmslimhinnen. Vi sammenlignet tre forskjellige 5-ASA preparater med ulik frigjøringsmekanisme; Mezavant, Asacol og Pentasa. Vi fant stor variasjon av 5-ASA konsentrasjon i tarmslimhinnen mellom pasienter. Pasienter som brukte Mezavant hadde høyere 5-ASA konsentrasjoner enn pasienter som brukte Pentasa. Videre fant vi at pasienter med høye 5-ASA konsentrasjoner i slimhinnen hadde økt bakteriemangfold og en antatt gunstig bakteriesammensetning i tarmslimhinnen.

I artikkel II undersøkte vi bakteriell mikrobiota i tynntarmen hos 51 pasienter med CD og 40 friske kontroller (FK). Vi fant at pasienter med CD hadde redusert bakteriemangfold og en annerledes bakteriesammensetning i tynntarm sammenlignet med FK. Pasienter med CD hadde også bemerkelsesverdig høye mengder av bakterien *Tyzzerella 4* i tarmslimhinnen. Når vi sammenlignet bakteriesammensetningen innad i en pasientgruppe som hadde betent slimhinne nederst i tynntarmen og ikke-betent slimhinne lengre oppe fant vi ingen forskjell i bakteriesammensetning eller mangfold mellom betent slimhinne og ikke-betent slimhinne. Bakteriesammensetningen og mangfoldet var også lik uavhengig av betennelsesgrad og tynntarmslokalisasjon for hele gruppen av CD pasienter.

I artikkel III analyserte vi soppmikrobiota i tynntarmen hos 44 pasienter med CD og 40 FK (samme pasientmateriale som artikkel II). Vi fant at pasienter med CD hadde en endret soppflora med endret fordeling av ulike sopparter sammenlignet med FK. Spesifikt fant vi økt mengde *Malassezia* og redusert mengde *Saccharomyces* hos pasienter med CD. Når vi sammenlignet soppsammensetningen innad i en pasientgruppe som hadde betent slimhinne nederst i tynntarmen og ikke-betent slimhinne lengre oppe fant vi likt soppmangfold, men ulik soppsammensetning. I betent slimhinne var *Candida sake* overrepresentert, mens *Exophiala equina* and *Debaryomyces hansenii* var overrepresentert i ikke-betent slimhinne lengre oppe i tynntarmen. For hele gruppen av CD pasienter hadde ikke betennelsesstatus i slimhinnen eller lokalisasjon i tynntarm betydning for soppmangfold eller sammensetning.

Maya Olaisen Institutt for klinisk og molekylær medisin Fakultet for medisin og helsevitenskap, NTNU Veiledere: Reidar Fossmark, Arne Kristian Sandvik og Tom Christian Martinsen Finansieringskilde: Samarbeidsorganet Helse Midt-Norge, medisinsk klinikk, St. Olavs hospital.

> Ovennevnte avhandling er funnet verdig til å forsvares offentlig for graden ph.d. i medisin og helsevitenskap Disputas finner sted digitalt via Zoom onsdag 24.03.21, kl. 08:00.

Contents

1. Acknowledgement	5
2. Abbreviations	7
3. List of papers	9
4. Summary	10
5. Introduction	
5.1. The gastrointestinal (GI) tract	12
5.1.1. Anatomy	12
5.1.2. Cell types in small intestine and colon5.1.2.1. CBC stem cell5.1.2.2. Transit amplifying cell	14 14 15
5.1.2.3. Enterocyte	
5.1.2.4. Enterbendocrine cen 5.1.2.5. Goblet cell 5.1.2.6. Paneth cells 5.1.2.7. Peyer's patch	15
5.1.2.8. M cell 5.1.2.9. Tuft cell	17 17
5.1.3. Intestinal epithelium and mucosal barriers	17
5.1.4. Immune cells	19
5.1.5. The intestinal immune system	19
5.1.6. Physiology and microbiota along the GI tract	20
5.2. Inflammatory bowel disease	23
5.2.1. Aetiology, pathogenesis and epidemiology	23
5.2.2. Ulcerative colitis	23
5.2.3. Crohn's disease	24
5.2.4. Diagnosis	25
5.2.5. Genetics 5.2.5.1. NOD2/CARD15 5.2.5.2. ATG16L1	26 27 28
5.2.5.3. IRGM	29
5.2.5.4. TLK4	29 29
5.3. Microbiota	

	5.3.1. Terms and definitions	.30
	5.3.2. Microbial taxonomy and nomenclature	.31
	5.3.3. Microbial diversity	.32
	5.3.4. Healthy gut microbiota	.36
	5.3.5. The role of microbiota in IBD	.37
	5.3.6. Microbiota alterations in IBD	.38
	5.3.7. Mucosal microbiota in UC	.39
	5.3.8. Mucosal microbiota in CD	.40
	5.4. IBD treatment	.42
	5.4.1. 5-ASA	.42
	5.4.2. Budesonide	.46
	5.4.3. Systemic corticosteroids	.47
	5.4.4. Azathioprine	.47
	5.4.5. Methotrexate	.47
	5.4.6. Anti-TNF	.48
	5.4.7. Vedolizumab	.48
	5.4.8. Antibiotics	.49
	5.4.9. Surgery	.49
	5.4.10. Other medical treatments for IBD	.50
	5.5. Factors impacting the gut microbiota	.50
	5.5.1. Age	.50
	5.5.2. Diet and obesity	.52
	5.5.3. Smoking	.53
	5.5.4. Antibiotics	.54
	5.5.5. Proton pump inhibitors (PPI)	.55
	5.5.6. Other drugs affecting gut microbiota	.55
	5.5.7. Probiotics	.55
	5.5.8. Faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT)	.57
6.	Aims of the studies	. 59
7.	Summary of papers	. 62
	7.1. Paper I: Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration, drug formulation and mucosal microbiome in patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis.	62

	7.2. Paper II: Bacterial mucosa-associated microbiome in inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum of patients with Crohn's disease	63
	7.3. Paper III: Fungal microbiota in the ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disea	ise 64
8.	Methodological considerations	. 66
	8.1. Patient material	66
	8.2. Effect of bowel cleansing on mucosal 5-ASA concentration	67
	8.3. Effect of bowel cleansing on gut microbiota	67
	8.4. Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS)	68
	8.5. NAT genotyping	69
	8.6. Sanger sequencing	69
	8.7. DNA isolation of mucosal biopsies and faecal samples	70
	8.8. High throughput sequencing	73
	8.9. 16s rRNA and ITS primers	73
	8.10. Amplicon sequencing	74
	8.11. Bioinformatic analysis	77
	8.12. Challenges with amplicon sequencing	78
	8.13. H&E staining and histological classification	80
	 8.14. Statistical analysis	81 81 81 82 83
9.	Results and discussion	. 84
	9.1. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration in patients with UC	84
	9.2. Effect of 5-ASA formulation on mucosal 5-ASA concentration	84
	9.3. Effect of 5-ASA concentration on the mucosa-associated microbiota	85
	9.4. Alterations in mucosa-associated ileal microbiota of patients with CD	87
	9.5. The mucosa-associated microbiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflame ileum of patients with CD	d 89
	9.6. Impact of ileal sub-location and inflammation on the mucosa-associated microbiota	90
	9.7. Bacterial microbiota alterations associated with CD phenotype and ICR	92

10. Conclusions	94
11. Future perspectives	96
12. References	

1. Acknowledgement

The present studies were carried out during the years 2015-2020 in the Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway and at the Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway.

I would like to sincerely thank my main supervisor Professor Reidar Fossmark for his excellent guidance and patience during these years. Reidar is a brilliant gastroenterologist with enormous work-capacity who quickly gives constructive feedback making the research process run smoothly. I am thankful for his compassion, support and knowledge throughout these years. Without him, there would not have been any papers and certainly no thesis.

I wish to thank my co-supervisors Professor Tom Christian Martinsen and Professor Arne Kristian Sandvik for their thoroughness, accuracy and useful advices. They have both always been available to give feedback, support, and they are rapid responders all for which I am very grateful.

All my co-authors are owed gratitude for their commitment and contributions. A special thanks to Atle van Beelen Granlund for constructive discussions and guidance through my lab-work, study design process and help during technical difficulties. I want to thank the Genomics Core Facility at NTNU for all assistance with the sequencing process, bioinformatic assistance and many advices throughout my PhD. I am sincerely grateful for the efficiency and excellent contribution Mathias Richard and Harry Sokol provided during the last months of my PhD. I also want to thank all nurses and doctors at the Gastroenterology lab for their patience, help and sparkling spirit, making the collection of data a delight. Thanks to Bjørn Munkvold for technical assistance. I am grateful for the IBD research group, for their encouragement, valuable discussions and advises. I also

want to thank all co-workers at the 3rd floor in Gastrosenteret north for intellectual and memorable lunch discussions and their good mood.

I would sincerely like to thank all patients for participating and giving of their time in a hectic daily life to support our research.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends. My friends for their encouragement, support and healthy distractions. A warm thanks to my parents, Erna and Ragnar, for always being supportive and uplifting. To my husband and best friend Jørund for all technical assistance, always being helpful, for productive discussions and invaluable support and love. Finally, to my son Ferdinand, I love you with my whole heart, you have been my primary motivator throughout the very end of this work.

2. Abbreviations

5-ASA	5-aminosalicylic acid
Ac-5-ASA	N-acetyl-5-aminosalisylic acid
ACE	Abundance Coverage Estimator
AMPs	Antimicrobial peptides
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
anti-TNF	Anti-tumour necrosis factor
ASV	Amplicon sequence variant
ATG16L1	Autophagy-related protein 16-1
BSG	British Society of Gastroenterology
CARD9	Caspase recruitment domain-containing protein 9
CBC	Crypt-base-columnar
ССК	Cholecystokinin
CD	Crohn's disease
CFU	Colony forming units
СТ	Computer tomography
dATP	Deoxyadenosine triphosphate
DCs	Dendritic cells
dCTP	Deoxycytosine triphosphate
ddNTP	Dideoxynucleotide triphosphate
dGTP	Deoxyguanosine triphosphate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dTTP	Deoxythymidine triphosphate
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide triphosphate
ECL	Enterochromaffin-like
FAE	Follicle-associated epithelium
FMT	Faecal microbiota transplantation
GI	Gastrointestinal
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin
HC	Healthy control
HCI	Hydrochloric acid
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HTS	High throughput sequencing
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease
ICR	Ileocecal resection
IEL	Intraepithelial lymphocytes
IRGM	Immunity-related GTPase M
JAK	Janus kinase
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography- tandem mass spectrometry

LGR5	Leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 5
MMX	Multi Matrix System
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
NAT	N-acetyltransferase
NF-κB	Nuclear factor κB
NGS	Next-generation sequencing
NMDS	Non-metric multidimensional scaling
NOD2	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PAMPs	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PCoA	Principal coordinates analysis
PD	Phylogenetic diversity
PPAR-γ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ
PPI	Proton pump inhibitor
РРК	Polyphosphate kinase
PRRs	Pattern recognition receptors
QIIME	Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology
RCTs	Randomized controlled trials
REG	Regenerating islet- derived protein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
SCFA	Short chain fatty acids
sIgA	Secretory immunoglobulin A
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
sPLA ₂	Secretory phospholipase A ₂
ssDNA	Single stranded DNA
TFF3	Trefoil factor 3
TLR4	Toll-like receptor 4
TLRs	Toll-like receptors
τνγα	Tumour necrosis factor- $lpha$
UC	Ulcerative colitis
UCDAI	Ulcerative Colitis Disease Activity Index
UHPLC	Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography
UHPLC-MS/MS	Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography- tandem mass
	spectrometry

3. List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers and will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I, II, III).

- Olaisen M, Spigset O, Flatberg A, Granlund AVB, Brede WR, Albrektsen G, Røyset ES, Gilde B, Sandvik AK, Martinsen TC, Fossmark R. Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration, drug formulation and mucosal microbiome in patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2019 May;49(10):1301-1313.*
- II. Olaisen M, Flatberg A, Granlund AVB, Røyset ES, Martinsen TC, Sandvik AK, Fossmark R.
 Bacterial Mucosa-associated Microbiome in Inflamed and Proximal Noninflamed Ileum of Patients With Crohn's Disease.
 Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020 May 25:izaa107. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa107. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 32448900.
- III. Olaisen M*, Richard ML*, Beisvåg V, Granlund AVB, Røyset ES, Martinsen TC, Sandvik AK, Sokol H, Fossmark R.
 Fungal microbiota in the ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease Manuscript. *Shared first authorship

4. Summary

Microbiota is the microorganisms residing in a specific environment, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, archaea and phages. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is chronic inflammatory diseases encompassing Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). The pathogenesis of IBD is still not understood, but disease occurs in genetically predisposed individuals exposed to environmental factors including microbiota, causing an aberrant immune reaction towards the gut epithelium. The last decade increasing amounts of IBD microbiome studies have been published. However, most studies have analysed the faecal microbiota which is different from the mucosa-associated microbiota and suggested to be less relevant in terms of understanding IBD pathogenesis as the majority of faecal microbes bypasses the gastrointestinal tract and are not adjacent to the epithelium or the enteral immune system. The mucosa-associated microbiota in patients with IBD is different from healthy controls, however causality between microbiota alterations and IBD development has not been established. Additionally, it is uncertain to what extent medical therapies influence gut microbiota composition.

In paper I, we measured the mucosal concentration of 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) in 42 patients with quiescent UC using three different 5-ASA preparations (Mezavant, Asacol and Pentasa) and we correlated mucosal 5-ASA concentration to the mucosaassociated bacterial diversity and composition. We found large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration. Patients using Mezavant had higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than patients using Pentasa. Further, the mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated with mucosa-associated bacterial diversity and presumed beneficial alterations in mucosa-associated bacterial composition.

In paper II, we assessed the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota in the ileum 51 CD patients and 40 healthy controls (HC). Paired samples were taken 5 cm and 15 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or anastomosis. CD patients displayed lower α -diversity

10

and altered microbiota composition compared to HC. The species *Tyzzerella 4* was strongly overrepresented in CD patients. In CD patients with terminal ileitis and no history of upper CD involvement, the bacterial diversity and composition in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum were similar. Endoscopic inflammation and ileal sub-location did not influence bacterial microbiota biodiversity or composition in the whole CD cohort.

In paper III, we examined the mucosa-associated mycobiota in 44 CD patients and 40 HC (same patient cohort as paper II). We found that CD patients had an altered mycobiota composition compared to HC, characterised by reduced fungal evenness, increased Basidiomycota-to-Ascomycota ratio, enrichment of *Malassezia* and *Candida albicans* and depletion of Chytridiomycota and *Saccharomyces*. The fungal composition in the inflamed ileal mucosa was compared to the proximal non-inflamed mucosa within CD patients without a history of upper CD involvement. We found similar fungal α -diversity, but a more dysbiotic fungal composition in inflamed mucosa with an expansion of *Candida sake* and depletion of *Exophiala equina* and *Debaryomyces hansenii* spp. Inflammation and location did not impact overall fungal microbiota biodiversity or composition in the total CD cohort.

In summary, the studies describe the mucosa-associated microbiota in patients with established IBD.

5. Introduction

5.1. The gastrointestinal (GI) tract

5.1.1. Anatomy

The GI tract consists of the oesophagus, stomach, small intestine, colon and rectum. The small intestine is subdivided into the duodenum, jejunum and ileum, whereas the colon is subdivided into the caecum, ascending colon, transverse colon, descending colon and sigmoid colon (in oral to rectal direction). The small intestine is approximately 5 meters in length and the luminal surface heavily folded, while the colon is wider and approximately 1.5 meters in length and luminal surface relatively flat (1, 2). The intestinal wall is divided into different layers, the mucosa being closest to the lumen, muscularis mucosae, submucosa, muscle layer (muscularis propria) and the serosa (Figure 1). The mucosa is further subdivided into the epithelium and lamina propria. The epithelium consists mainly of tightly connected columnar epithelial cells, the different cell types in the epithelium are described in detail in section 5.1.2. The lamina propria consists of connective tissue, blood vessels, lymph vessels, nerves and immune cells. The submucosa contains a plexus of parasympathetic nerves. The muscularis propria of the intestine is covered by an outermost fibrous layer called the serosa.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 1. Illustration of endoscopic appearance, histologic appearance and organization of cells in the small intestine and colon. Figure from Mowat et al. (1). Reprinted with permission from Nature Springer. IEL; intraepithelial lymphocytes, SIgA; secretory immunoglobulin A, AMP; antimicrobial peptides, IECs; intestinal epithelial cells.

5.1.2. Cell types in small intestine and colon

As this thesis focuses on the microbiota in the small intestine and colon, the cell types in the small intestine and colon will be described in the following section.



Nature Reviews | Immunology

Figure 2. Overview of epithelial cells and immune cells in the small intestine (left) and colon (right). In the middle, a Peyer's patch with follicle-associated epithelium. Figure from Peterson and Artis 2014 (3). Reprinted with permission from Nature Springer. IEC; Intestinal epithelial cell, IESC; intestinal epithelial stem cell niche incl crypt-base-columnar (CBC) stem cells and transit amplifying cells. AMPs; antimicrobial peptides, slgA; secretory Immunoglobulin A, TFF3; trefoil factor 3, DC; dendritic cell.

5.1.2.1. CBC stem cell

Crypt-base-columnar (CBC) stem cells are pluripotent intestinal epithelial stem cells, which can self-renew and differentiate into any specialised intestinal epithelial cell (4). The marker for CBC cells is Leucine-rich repeat-containing G protein-coupled receptor 5 (LGR5), and sometimes these cells are referred to as LGR5+ stem cells (5). CBC stem cells

are located in the base of the crypts and divide every 24 hours into transit amplifying cells which further divides and differentiate or provide new CBC stem cells (5).

5.1.2.2. Transit amplifying cell

Transit amplifying cells are daughter cells of the CBC stem cells and are localised further up in the crypts towards the villi (3). Transit amplifying cells divide every 12 hours (4). The cells then differentiate into specialised cells such as enterocytes and migrate up along the villi as the surface cell-layer of the intestine shred off (3). The life span of a cell from birth, differentiation, migration and until it is shred of is five days (4).

5.1.2.3. Enterocyte

Absorptive enterocytes are the most abundant cell-type in the intestine (Figure 2). Enterocytes are columnar cells, in the small intestine, they have a characteristic brush border consisting of microvilli protruding into the lumen (1). Enterocytes are specialised cells absorbing and digesting luminal contents, but can also secrete some AMPs such as C-type lectin regenerating islet derived protein (REG) 3γ which stimulate segregation between gut microbiota and epithelium (3, 6).

5.1.2.4. Enteroendocrine cell

Enteroendocrine cells are secretory intestinal epithelial cells producing hormones that regulate digestive functions, and they act as a mediator between the central and enteric neuroendocrine system (Figure 2) (3). Numerous subtypes exist, producing hormones such as gastrin, somatostatin, ghrelin, serotonin, cholecystokinin (CCK), glucose-dependent insulinotropic peptide, glucagon-like peptides and peptide YY (7).

5.1.2.5. Goblet cell

Goblet cells are secretory intestinal epithelial cells which produce and secrete glycoproteins, including mucin2 (MUC2) into the intestinal lumen forming mucus layers which act as the first line defence against luminal contents including microbiota (3, 6).

Goblet cells also produce trefoil factor 3 (TFF3), which contributes to mucin organization by mucin crosslinking and epithelial repair stimulation (Figure 2). Additionally, goblet cells allow passage of antigens from the lumen to specialised dendritic immune cells (8). The number of goblet cells increases throughout the GI-tract and is much more prevalent in the colon than in the small intestine (1).

5.1.2.6. Paneth cells

Paneth cells are localised in the crypt base and are long-lived differentiated intestinal epithelial cells which produce and secrete antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) (8). The Paneth cell is the only cell type that differentiates and migrates down towards the crypt base, where the oldest Paneth cells are localized (5). Paneth cells are renewed every 3-6 weeks (5). Paneth cells are primarily localised in the small intestine and not in the colon, however during inflammatory processes, metaplastic Paneth cells occur in the colon. The AMPs are located in the granules of Paneth cells. Secretion of AMPs might occur continuously, with increased secretion after various stimulation, such as bacteria, bacterial products or cholinergic agonists (9). AMPs produced in Paneth cells include α -defensins, lysozyme, secretory group IIA phospholipase A2 (sPLA2), REG3 α (9). AMPs act bactericidal and many kill targeted microorganisms, some also act towards fungi, viruses and protozoa (9).

5.1.2.7. Peyer's patch

Peyer's patches consist of aggregated lymphoid follicles encircled by follicle-associated epithelium (FAE) that contains M cells (Figure 2) (10). Peyer's patches are dominantly located in the distal ileum and increase in size and density from the jejunum to ileum (1). The number of Peyer's patches declines after youth. The Peyer's patches communicate with mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) through lymphocytes that enter the Peyer's patch as naïve lymphocytes and leave as either naïve or active lymphocytes (10). The FAE also harbour an extensive abundance of immune cells; infiltrated B-cells, T-cells, macrophages and dendritic cells.

5.1.2.8. M cell

Microfold cells, or M cells, are specialized intestinal epithelial cells are primarily located in FAE in close proximity to the Peyer's patches (Figure 2). M cells transport live bacteria, fungi, viruses, parasites as well as non-infectious particles and antigens from the lumen through the apical membrane to the basolateral surface for presentation to the underlying immune system, both through non-specific transcytosis and by specific receptor-mediated microbial uptake (3, 11). Additionally, M cells transport secretory IgA (sIgA) produced in plasma cells from the basolateral membrane to the intestinal lumen. Interestingly, M cells also have IgA receptors enabling them to capture IgA coated bacteria and present them to the immune system (10). On the contrary, M cells can also be a gateway exploited by intestinal pathogens. In fact, many typical enteric pathogen bacteria have been found to adhere to M cells during invasion, among these are *Escherichia coli* and *Yersinia* (10).

5.1.2.9. Tuft cell

Tuft cells, or brush cells, are chemosensory cells. They were initially identified by electron microscopy due to their characteristic morphology consisting of a tubulovesicular system connected to a tuft of long microvilli protruding into the lumen (8). The number of tuft cells increases significantly during parasite infections, where tuft cells produce IL-25 initiating a type 2 immune response (8).

5.1.3. Intestinal epithelium and mucosal barriers

The gut lumen is the largest microbial reservoir within the human body (12). The intestinal epithelium, mucosal immune system and gut microbiota interact closely. The mucosal immune system is continuously presented to residual microorganisms in the gut, however it should only assemble an immune reaction towards invading microorganisms (6). Intestinal homeostasis is organised by limiting the contact between gut microbiota and epithelial cells by three mucosal barriers consisting of the mucus

layer, AMPs and sIgA (Figure 3) (6, 13). Goblet cells produce the mucus layers, which in the small intestine consists of a single layer. In contrast, the mucus layer of the colon consists of a dense inner layer attached to the epithelial surface containing few microorganisms and a loosely organised outer layer which is more densely populated with bacteria (13) (Figure 3).



Nature Reviews | Microbiology

Figure 3. Illustration of the mucosal barriers consisting of the mucus layer, secretory immunoglobulin A (slgA) and antimicrobial peptides (AMPs). Organization of mucus layers in the small intestine (a) and the colon (b) and the bacteria inhabiting the mucus layers. slgA produced in plasma cells in lymphoid tissues. AMPs are produced in Paneth cells. Figure from Donaldson et al. (13). Reprinted with permission from Nature Springer.

Plasma cells produce sIgA, which is secreted into the lumen where it coats bacteria and binds to microbial antigens and toxins. AMPs are mainly produced in Paneth cells and act bactericidal (9). Additionally, intestinal epithelial cells are connected through tight junctions forming an evident barrier. Intestinal epithelial cells express different pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) which can identify microorganisms' trough pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) found on bacteria, fungi and viruses. Activation of PRRs enables the production of mediators which activate immune cells (1). Toll-like receptors (TLRs), NOD-like receptors, C-type lectin receptors, scavenger receptors and Galectin-3 are different types of PRRs (14, 15).

5.1.4. Immune cells

The enteric immune system consists of immune cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, innate lymphoid cells, eosinophils, neutrophils, mast cells, plasma cells (IgA+ B cells being dominating) and T-cells. The immune cells are localised in the epithelium, in Peyer's patches and the lamina propria (Figure 1 and 2). Primarily T-cells are located in the epithelium (1). The number of intraepithelial lymphocytes (IEL) is highest in the proximal GI tract, declining towards the colon (1).

5.1.5. The intestinal immune system

The intestinal immune system is complex and will only be described in brief. DCs are antigen-presenting cells localised in Peyer's patches and lamina propria where they sense, sample and presents microorganism antigens to B- and T- cells (16). DCs have projections called dendrites which can sample the antigens; transepithelial dendrites can extend between intestinal epithelial cells to sample antigens in the gut lumen (1, 16). DCs also engulf live microorganisms, which reside inside the DC as it migrates towards draining lymph nodes, where the microorganism is presented to B- and T-cells (1, 16). Macrophages degrade microorganisms and dead tissue cells through phagocytosis in addition to stimulating epithelium proliferation (1, 16). There are numerous macrophages in the lamina propria, which kills microorganisms which have penetrated the mucosal barrier (6). T-cells comprises of two major types, CD4+ helper cells and CD8+ cytotoxic cells, both found in the lamina propria (16). CD4+ cells can be further sub-divided into T_{H1} cells, T_{H2} cells, T_{H17} cells, T_{R1} cell and T_{Reg} cell depending on cytokine production profile (16). B-cells are most prevalent in the lamina propria in the proximal and distal GI tract. The majority of B-cells produce IgA while the rest mainly produce IgM (1). However, during inflammation large amounts of IgG is produced (6).

5.1.6. Physiology and microbiota along the GI tract

The physiological processes in the intestine include transport and uptake of nutrition, barrier function against microorganisms and toxins as well as immune, paracrine and endocrine functions. The human GI tract is the largest reservoir of microorganisms in the human body, and it is estimated that 3.9×10^{13} bacteria reside in the GI tract, with the majority residing in the colon (12). The digestion starts in the mouth by mechanical and enzymatic degradation by chewing and secretion of salvia containing amylase, which catalyses the degradation of starch into glucose. When food is swallowed, it passes through the oesophagus into the stomach. In the stomach, amino acids and increased pH cause increased gastrin release. Gastrin subsequently stimulates histamine release from enterochromaffin-like (ECL) cells which finally stimulates hydrochloric acid (HCl) secretion from parietal cells. The massive production of HCl causes an acidic environment with a pH below 2 (17) that kills most of the ingested microbiota. The other constituents of gastric juice seem to have only little effect on the destruction of infective agents (18, 19).

The processed food is then passed to the duodenum. In the duodenum fat and proteins stimulate cholecystokinin (CCK) release from enteroendocrine I-cells, which stimulates secretion of pancreatic fluid and bile acids from the hepatopancreatic duct into the duodenum. The pancreatic fluid contains amylase, lipase and trypsin. Amylase catalyses the degradation of starch, lipase breaks down lipids into glycerol and fatty acids, and trypsin acts to degrade proteins. The bile acids act to emulsify fat, enabling digestion and absorption of lipids in the small intestine (20). Bile acids also have a great impact on gut microbiota, by both direct antimicrobial effects and by stimulating the production of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) (20). The majority (95%) of bile acids are reabsorbed in the ileum (20). When acidic content from the stomach enters the duodenum, secretin is released from duodenal S-cells. Secretin regulates pH by direct inhibition of gastric acid secretion and by stimulating bicarbonate release from the pancreas (21). Mean pH in the proximal small intestine has been reported to be around 6 (22, 23). The surface of the small intestine is constructed of millions of villi, 0.5-1.6 mm finger-like protrusions

of the intestinal epithelium making the surface immense. The nutritional uptake occurs along the villi, in the absorptive enterocyte by diffusion or active transportation. The absorptive enterocytes also possess microvilli expanding the surface additionally. Nutritional uptake and absorption of water continue throughout the small intestine.

The bacterial density increases along the GI tract (24), a recent study found that the ieiunum harboured 10³-10⁶ colony forming units (CFU) per mL content (CFU/mL) (25). Both luminal and mucosa-associated jejunal flora, investigated by culture-dependent technique and 454-pyrosequencing respectively, are dominated by Streptococcus, Veillonella, Prevotella, Rothia, Escherichia, Fusobacterium, Haemophilus and Fusobacterium genera (25, 26). Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria and Fusobacteria phyla are more abundant in the jejunum vs in the colon, while Ruminococcus and Faecalibacterium and other anaerobes frequently found in the colon were nearly absent in the jejunum (25). Kashiwagi et al. (27) investigated the mucosa-associated microbiota in the upper and lower GI tractus of 17 healthy individuals by luminal brush cytology and found lower α -diversity (observed species and Chao1 index) in the upper GI tract compared to the lower GI tract as well as differences in β -diversity (weighted UniFrac) between the upper and lower GI tract. In addition, they found no intra-individual differences in microbiota composition between different locations within the upper (incl. intraoral, mid-oesophagus, gastric corpus, gastric antrum, and duodenum) nor lower GI tract (27). In contrast, differences in the relative abundance of genera at different locations within the ileum and colon have been reported by others (28).

Parallel to the increase in pH from the duodenum to the ileum, the abundance of bacteria increases towards the distal ileum (Figure 4). This can be explained by several factors additional to the pH, including reduced level of AMPs along the small intestine, lower oxygen levels, reduced effect and concentration of bile acids which has antimicrobial effects and due to shorter transit time compared to the colon transit time, despite longer length of the small intestine (13, 20) (Figure 4).

The intestinal content passes the ileocecal valve into the colon. In the colon water, electrolytes and 5-10% of energy requirements are absorbed (29). Intestinal bacteria in the colon participate in digestion by degrading fibre or polysaccharides and protein into the small chain fatty acids (SCFA) acetate, propionate and butyrate which are absorbed in the colon and constitute the colonic energy uptake (20, 29). Colonic bacteria also synthesise vitamin K2 from K1, and Clostridial species convert primary bile acids to secondary bile acids (20). Secondary bile acids are presumed to be protective in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (20), but have found to be reduced in IBD dysbiosis (30). Also, the gut microbiome participates in xenobiotic metabolism, and the microbiota composition may affect energy utilisation (31).



Nature Reviews | Microbiology

Figure 4. Illustrating bacterial gut microbiota abundance and composition from small intestine to rectum in relation to pH, antimicrobials and oxygen. Figure from Donaldson et al. (13). Reprinted with permission from Springer Nature.

5.2. Inflammatory bowel disease

5.2.1. Aetiology, pathogenesis and epidemiology

IBD are chronic inflammatory diseases of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and include ulcerative colitis (UC), Crohn's disease (CD) and a smaller proportion of IBD named indeterminate colitis. The exact pathogenesis of IBD is not known, but the leading consensus is that a complex interaction between genetic factors and the environment causes an inappropriate chronic activation of the mucosal immune system. The last decade, it has been suggested that the activation of the immune system is caused by a microbial shift, commonly termed dysbiosis. IBD are chronic diseases evolving in a relapsing and remitting pattern (32, 33). The highest reported incidence and prevalence for CD and UC are 29.3 and 322 per 100.000 for CD in Australia and Europe respectively and 24.3 and 505 per 100.000 for UC in northern Europe and Europe respectively (32, 33). Worldwide there has been an increased incidence of IBD, which substantiates environmental factors' contribution to the pathogenesis (32, 33). IBD affect both genders equally, and peak disease onset is between 20-40 years for CD and 30-40 for UC (32, 33).

5.2.2. Ulcerative colitis

UC is characterized by inflammation limited to the mucosal layer in the colon presenting as continuous inflammation extending from the rectum and proximally, with various extensions (32, 34). From the Norwegian IBSEN-study, it was reported that 33 % had rectosigmoid disease involvement, 35 % left-sided disease involvement and 32 % had pancolitis at diagnosis respectively (35). Typical symptoms of UC include increased frequency of defecations, rectal bleeding, increased mucus discharge, incontinence, urgency, nocturnal defecations and fatigue. Abdominal pain is not primarily a symptom of UC, however some patients experience abdominal discomfort. Progression of disease is common, 10 years after diagnosis 21.2 % of patients with rectosigmoid or left-sided involvement progressed to pancolitis (35). UC can develop into fulminant colitis with a risk of bowel perforation or toxic megacolon. The cumulative rate of colectomy after 10 years was reported to be 9.8 % in Norway in 2009 (35). Dysplasia development may complicate long-standing UC, and the risk correlates with disease extension with pancolitis having the highest risk of colorectal cancer, left-sided colitis intermediate risk and proctitis having no increased risk (36). Currently, surveillance colonoscopies are recommended to start 8 years after onset of symptoms and surveillance interval determined based on the severity of inflammation, disease extension, presence of dysplasia, polyps or strictures, primary sclerosing cholangitis and family history of colorectal cancer (36, 37).

5.2.3. Crohn's disease

CD is characterized by transmural inflammation with a skip lesion pattern, or discontinuous involvement, that can manifest anywhere in the GI tract (34). Approximately 1/3 of all patients have isolated involvement of the terminal ileum, 1/3 have ileocolonic involvement, and 1/3 have colonic involvement only (38). Additionally, a small subset (<5 %) of CD patients has upper GI tract involvement, and 30 % has perianal involvement, which may include fistulas and abscess formation (33). Typical symptoms of CD depend greatly on affected GI segment, but abdominal pain, diarrhoea, fatigue and weight loss are typical. If the distal colon or rectum is involved, the patient can present with bloody diarrhoea or rectal bleeding. Up to 80 % of CD patients require surgical intervention for their disease (39). The majority of CD patients undergoing ileocecal resection experience recurrence of the disease within a year (75-80 %), and the most frequent location for recurrence is immediately proximal to the surgical anastomosis (33, 39-41). Similarly to UC, CD patients have increased risk for development of colonic dysplasia and surveillance ileocolonoscopy is recommended 8

years after onset of symptoms with surveillance intervals determined by the same criteria as for UC (36, 37).

5.2.4. Diagnosis

Diagnosis of IBD is based on a combination of symptoms, endoscopic, radiologic and histologic findings (32, 33). A blood test can reveal anaemia, iron deficiency, increased CRP and leucocytosis. Also, faecal calprotectin can be used as a diagnostic tool. Faecal calprotectin correlates with the release of neutrophilic granulocytes in faeces and can be used for diagnostic purposes, low calprotectin values make IBD unlikely, whereas high levels indicate an inflammatory condition in the GI tract (32). However, an airway infection may also result in elevated faecal concentrations of calprotectin.

Endoscopic evaluation by ileo-colonoscopy is the most useful examination to diagnose IBD. Ileo-colonoscopy provides information regarding degree of inflammation, localization of inflammation and possibility to take mucosal pinch biopsies which can be used for histologic evaluation. Endoscopic findings in UC include erythema, decreased or loss of vascular patters, varying degrees of friability, erosions, ulcerations and spontaneous bleeding (36). Endoscopic findings in CD include segmental inflammation with normal mucosa in between inflamed segments, aphthous ulcers, serpiginous and longitudinal ulcerations, cobblestone pattern inflammation and strictures (33, 36).

Common histologic findings in IBD are epithelial damage, destruction of crypts, infiltration of immune cells such as neutrophils, eosinophils and lymphocytes in the lamina propria and epithelium, erosions and ulcerations (42-44). Histologic hallmarks can if found, help to differentiate between UC and CD (Figure 5). In UC crypt abscess formation is common (34), whereas in CD granulomas are typical, granulomas are found in 25-37 % of CD patients, in 14-56 % of endoscopic biopsies and 37-87 % of surgical specimens (45).

Cross-sectional imaging such as computer tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can also help diagnose and establish disease extension in CD (36). CT and MRI can reveal thickened and ahaustral colon in UC, but sensitivity and specificity are insufficient to be used alone as diagnostic tools for UC (32).



Granuloma

Crypt abscess

Figure 5. Histologic hallmarks of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Figure from Xavier et al. (34). Reprinted with permission from Nature Springer. To the left a granuloma (arrow), to the right crypt abscess (arrow).

5.2.5. Genetics

Genome-wide association studies have as of 2020 identified around 240 IBD loci, most of them associated with both CD and UC, whereas 49 were CD specific and 32 UC specific (46-50). Mutations in for instance NOD2, ATG16L1, IRGM, TLR4 and CARD9 support the idea that microbiota is important in IBD pathogenesis, as genetic variants cause impaired sensing and handling of intestinal bacteria (51), these will be discussed in more detail below. An overview of IBD genetic susceptibility genes associated with impaired handling of gut microbiota is provided in Figure 6.

In European IBD twin studies the concordance rate for CD have been reported to be 20-50% and <10% for monozygotic and dizygotic twins respectively, whereas for UC the concordance rates was 16% for monozygotic twins and 4% for dizygotic twins (reviewed by (52)). Higher concordance rates for monozygotic twins versus dizygotic twins demonstrate the degree of genetic contribution. Higher concordance rates for CD vs UC suggests that genetic predisposition plays a more prominent role in the pathogenesis of CD.



Figure 6. Illustration of IBD genetic susceptibility genes associated with impaired handling of gut microbiota. Figure from Caruso et al. (6). Reprinted with permission from Nature Springer. MUC2; mucin 2, SIgA; secretory immunoglobulin A, AMPs; antimicrobial peptides, FUT2; fructosyltransferase 2.

5.2.5.1. NOD2/CARD15

Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2) is an intracellular receptor that recognizes bacterial peptidoglycans which belong to the class of PRRs. Simplified NOD2 acts as a detector for intestinal bacteria. Activation of NOD2 receptor causes a cascade of downstream signalling, including activation of nuclear factor κB (NF- κB) (53) that causes an appropriate immune reaction. Mutations in the

NOD2/CARD15 gene may cause altered microbial recognition, sensing and handling of intestinal bacteria. NOD2 mutations are the genetic variant most strongly associated with CD, and it has been estimated that NOD2 accounts for approximately 20% of the heritability in CD (54). The three most common NOD2 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP)'s are SNP8 (SNP: rs2066844, protein coding variant: R702W), SNP12 (SNP: rs2066845, protein coding variant: G908R) and SNP13 (SNP: rs2066847, protein coding variant 1007fs), these variants account for 81% of NOD2 mutations, whereas the remaining 19% is due to rare variants (55).

NOD2 is expressed in Paneth cells and crypt epithelial cells (56). It has been suggested that NOD2 mutations are associated with a reduced α -defensin expression in CD patients (57). NOD2 activation is linked to activation of ATG16L1 and IRGM, and thereof involved in the regulation of autophagy of intestinal bacteria (54, 58). Autophagy is a cellular degradation process where cytoplasmatic material is wrapped into autophagosomes and degraded by lysosomal degradation. Mutations in NOD2 inhibits autophagy activation, thereby compromising autophagy of possible pathogen intestinal or intracellular bacteria.

5.2.5.2. ATG16L1

Autophagy-related protein 16-1 (ATG16L1) is a protein that is involved in the initiation of the autophagy process by formation of autophagic vacuoles in dendritic and epithelial cells. ATG16L1 mutations are similar to NOD2 associated with increased risk for CD, but not UC. The most common SNP associated with CD is (SNP: rs2241880, protein coding variant T300A). ATG161L mutation cause impaired bacterial clearance and antigen presentation (59). CD patients homozygous for T300A in ATG16L1 show abnormal Tolllike receptor signalling and Paneth cell dysfunction (59).

5.2.5.3. IRGM

Immunity-related GTPase M (IRGM) is also involved in autophagy of intestinal bacteria and polymorphisms associated with CD (46, 60). It has been shown that IRGM interacts with NOD2 and ATG16L1 to form a complex which regulates the autophagic machinery activation in response to PAMPs (58). IRGM both acts an activator of the autophagy through phosphorylation and activation of autophagy mediators, but also as an inhibitory effect by reducing NOD2 levels, thereby stabilizing the autophagic circuit (58). Knockout of IRGM in human macrophages infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is associated with increased bacterial survival (60).

5.2.5.4. TLR4

Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) belongs to the family of PRRs. TLR-4 recognizes lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in bacteria and several fungal PAMPs (15, 61). TLR-4 is expressed in the intestinal epithelium and mononuclear cells in the lamina propria, and increased expression of TLR-4 are found in IBD (61). TLRs activation is essential for the initiation of immune responses to infections, however prolonged activation can be deleterious and associated with inflammatory disease (61). TLR4 Asp299gly polymorphism is associated with IBD (62). TLR4 polymorphisms are associated with a predisposition for systemic *Candida* infections in humans (63).

5.2.5.5. CARD9

Polymorphisms in Caspase recruitment domain-containing protein 9 (CARD9) is associated with both UC and CD (46, 64). The standard CD disease risk allele is rs4077515 (65). The C-type lectin receptors belonging to the family of PRRs are essential in detecting fungi, for instance, Dectin-1 detects β -glucan in the fungal cell wall, after ligation to Dectin-1 a signalling cascade begins which normally activates CARD9 which enables an appropriate immune response (66, 67). Similarly, the C-type lectin receptor Dectin-2 and macrophage-inducible C-type lectin also detect fungi, and both depend on the CARD9 pathway (66, 67). Genetic defects in CARD9 in humans is associated with susceptibility to fungal infections and a reduced number of Th17-cells (66).

5.3. Microbiota

5.3.1. Terms and definitions

The terms microbiome and microbiota are often used interchangeably. In an early publication from The Human Microbiome Project, the microbiome was defined as the genomes of microbial symbionts and microbiota is defined as microorganisms living inside or on humans (68). As the field of microbiome research has evolved, inaccurate definitions have been clarified, and definitions drafted more precisely (14). The term microbiome comprehends a wider set of information than microbiota; it includes all microorganisms (bacteria, fungi, viruses, archaea and bacteriophages), their genome sequences and metabolomics of a defined habitat (14). Bacteriophages or phages are viruses which infect bacteria, these are the most abundant viruses in the GI tract (69). Microbiota is confined to the microorganisms in a specific environment, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, archaea and bacteriophages (14). The terms microbiome and microbiota have often been used inaccurately referring only to the bacterial population. However, both terms can be used with sub-specification such as bacterial microbiome or bacterial microbiota. Other designations such as bacteriome, fungal microbiome or mycobiome, viral microbiome or virome can be used to describe the microbiome. Finally, the fungal microbiota is also referred to as mycobiota.

The designation symbionts are used for organisms that live in close interaction with other organisms (13). The relationship between symbionts can be divided into three categories; mutualism, commensalism and competition (14). Mutualism describes a relationship where both organisms benefit from each other. In commensalism (organisms designated commensals) one organism benefit while the other is not affected by the relationship. The designation commensals have also been used as a term for the resident gut microbiota (13). Competition involves negative effects for both
organisms. Further, the term pathobionts are used about microorganisms that generally live as symbionts, but during certain circumstances can induce pathology (6).

5.3.2. Microbial taxonomy and nomenclature

In biology, different organisms are grouped based on their similarities, both morphological, molecular, genetic, metagenomic and metabolomic, this is called taxonomic ranking (70). A taxon (plural; taxa) is a group of organisms that forms a unit or a named group (71). Many different ranking systems have been suggested throughout the centuries. In this thesis, organisms are classified based on the Catalogue of Life ranking system (70) and the International Code of Nomenclature of Prokaryotes (71). Table 1 gives an overview of the different taxonomic levels from phylum to strain.

Taxonomic rank	Suffix	Example
Phylum		Proteobacteria
Class	-ia	Gammaproteobacteria
Order	-ales	Enterobacteriales
Family	-aceae	Enterobacteriaceae
Genus		Escherichia
Species		Escherichia coli (E.coli)
Strain		NCTC 90001 / ATCC 11775

Table 1. Overview of suffixes and bacterial taxa names within the different taxonomic orders. NCTC;National Collection of Type Cultures, ATCC; American Type Culture Collection.

Above the rank of phylum is kingdom. The different kingdoms include Archaea, Bacteria, Protozoa, Chromista, Fungi, Plantae and Animala. Above the rank kingdom is superkingdom, which includes Prokaryota (including Archaea and Bacteria) and Eukaryota (including Protozoa, Chromista, Fungi, Plantae and Animala). (70). Viruses are currently not a part of the tree of life as they are not able to live or replicate without a host.

The nomenclature of microorganisms follows specific rules. The name of a taxon within the ranks of phylum, class, order, family and genus should be capitalised. Both genus and species name should be used, whereas only the genus name is capitalised and the species name is not (71). According to recommendations from International Code of Nomenclature of Prokaryotes scientific names of taxa (any rank) should preferably be written in a different font, for example, italic (71). However, The Chicago Manual of Style recommends that ranks higher than genus (phylum, class, order, family) should be capitalised, but not italicised (72). This thesis follows the recommendations from The Chicago Manual of Style. After the first use, the genus name can be abbreviated to its initial capital letter, for example, *E.coli* instead of *Escherichia coli* (71).

5.3.3. Microbial diversity

The microbiome diversity is a measure of the number of different taxa and the abundance of them (73). A distinction is made between α -diversity and β -diversity; α -diversity is a measure of diversity within a sample or environment, also called biodiversity. Whereas β -diversity is a measure of diversity between different samples or different environments (73, 74).

Several different α -diversity indices or measures exist, however a consensus regarding which method or measure that should be used in various settings has not been reached (74). Some standard α -diversity measures are presented below.

- Richness is a quantitative measure of the number of different taxa or organisms within a particular sample or environment, for example, the number of species detected within a biopsy sample is called species richness (73). The richness is simply a count and does not take into account the abundances of the different taxa (Figure 7).
- Evenness describes the abundances of taxa in a sample and gives information regarding the distribution of taxa; are the taxa equally distributed or are some

taxa dominating? Low evenness describes an environment where some taxa are dominating, illustrated in the lower left box in Figure 7.

- Chao1 index is a non-parametric method which estimates species richness but also intends to correct for underestimation of species richness due to loss of species during sampling or sequencing (75). Chao1 index uses the number of species with one or two counts to correct the observed number of species in order to estimate a more realistic number of species within a sample (74).
- Shannon diversity is a complex index which takes both the species richness and relative abundance of each species into account, the index is calculated on a logarithmic scale and can therefore not be directly interpreted by its number (74).



Figure 7. Illustrating the richness and evenness as measures of α -diversity. Increasing richness from left to right (upper three boxes). Increasing evenness (lower three boxes) from left to right. Each symbol illustrates one taxon, similar symbol equals similar taxon.

 Simpson index also takes the species richness and relative abundance of each species into account, but whereas Shannon index emphasises species richness, the Simpson index emphasises species evenness (76). • Phylogenetic diversity (PD) is a measure that reflects the molecular or evolutionary diversity of taxa within a sample; it estimates diversity by summing the branch lengths along the tree of life covered by one sample (77). PD provides information about the relatedness of the species or taxa within a sample based on evolutionary similarity, as opposed to the other α -diversity measures which only give information regarding the count and distribution of taxa within a sample. Higher PD numbers reflect a more diverse sample covering a larger part of the tree of life (77).

β-diversity measures the diversity between different samples or environments and gives an estimate of how different two communities are (74). A high β-diversity indicates that the two samples or environments have a low number of shared few taxa or species, whereas a low β-diversity indicates that the samples are similar and share most of their taxa (74). The β-diversity is often graphically visualised in Principal Coordinates Analysis (PCoA) plots or Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plots. PCoA is based on eigenvalue equations to calculate distance matrix between variables or observations and visualise the distances in a low-dimensional Euclidian space (78). As opposed to Principal Component Analysis (PCA), PCoA can use different measures of association to calculate distance matrix, while PCA is based on covariance/correlation coefficient and requires a linear relationship between the observations/variables (79). The difference between PCoA and NMDS is the distance matrix calculation, PCoA is based on eigenvalue, while in NMDS uses order or rank between observations (78).

The most common β -diversity measures of association are unweighted UniFrac, weighted UniFrac, Jaccard index and Bray-Curtis dissimilarity.

 UniFrac or unique fraction metric measures the phylogenetic distance between taxa on the phylogenetic tree by measuring the percentage of branch lengths of the tree that is unique to one sample or environment (80). If two samples or environments have no unique branches, they are considered phylogenetic similar, contrary if two samples share no branches and each sample only contains unique branches they are considered phylogenetic maximum different (80).

- Weighted UniFrac emphasises the abundance of taxa in the calculation so that the most abundant taxa are considered more important (81).
- Unweighted UniFrac only accounts for the presence or absence of different taxa and does not use abundance information in the calculation. Therefore abundant and rare taxa are similarly emphasised. Unweighted UniFrac is therefore efficient in terms of accounting for changes in abundance of rare taxa (81).
- Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is a metric which quantifies the compositional dissimilarity between two samples based on the taxa counts in each sample. Bray-Curtis is considered an abundance-based β-diversity index (82). The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is calculated by the formula:

$$BC = \frac{2C_{ij}}{(S_i + S_j)}$$

where j and i are the two samples, C_{ij} is the sum of the minimum value of each species found in both samples, S_i and S_j are the total number of taxa present in sample i and j respectively (Figure 8) (83). The Bray-Curtis dissimilarity is bound to be between 0 and 1, where 0 implies the two samples have the same composition (share all taxa), and 1 implies that the two samples do not share any taxa.



Bray Curtis:
$$BC = \frac{2C_{ij}}{(S_i + S_j)}$$

S_i= 6+7+4= 17 species

20

 $\underline{S}_{j} {=} \ 10{+}6{=} \ 16 \ \text{species}$ $\underline{C}_{ij} {=} \ \text{sum of the minimum value of species}$ in common

<u>Calculation:</u> $\underline{C}_{ij} = 6+4= 10$ BC= (2*10)/ (17+16) = 0.61

BC= 0 => share all taxa=same composition BC=1 => share no taxa

Figure 8. Illustrating calculation of Bray Curtis measure of association. The circles (i and j) represent two different samples (S_i and S_j). Each of the symbols within each circle represent one species, similar symbols equal similar species. Sample i consist of 17 species in total and three different species. Sample j consist of 16 species and two different species. C_{ij} is the sum of the minimum value of each species found in both samples, S_i and S_j are the total number of taxa present in sample i and j respectively.

Jaccard index is a so-called presence-absence index which focuses on more on rare species in comparison to abundance-based indices such as Bray-Curtis (82). Jaccard index is calculated by the formula:

$$dJ = \left[1 - \frac{a}{a+b+c}\right]$$

where *a* is the number of shared species between samples, *b* is the number of species occurring exclusively in sample i, *c* is the number of species occurring exclusively in sample j (84).

5.3.4. Healthy gut microbiota

Gut microbiota is a common designation for all microorganisms harbouring the GI tract including bacteria, fungi, protozoa and viruses including bacteriophages. The core gut microbiota, is the microbiota shared between individuals. The bacterial component is stable and is estimated to consists of approximately 40 bacterial species which constitute 75% of the bacterial abundance (13). The gut bacterial microbiota is dominated by Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla (13). One gram of stool from healthy

individuals contains 10¹¹ and 10²-10⁶ cells of bacteria and fungi, respectively (12, 85). However, the fungal cell is approximately 10-fold longer and have a 100-fold larger volume than most bacteria making the fungal biomass substantial (14). The most common fungal phyla are Ascomycota and Basidiomycota, the normal allocation is 70% and 30%, respectively (14). Fungal diversity is lower than bacterial diversity, less than 20 fungal species are generally identified with high inter-individual variability (14, 86).

5.3.5. The role of microbiota in IBD

Several findings support the importance of the microbiota in IBD pathogenesis. First, the increasing incidence of IBD worldwide after World War II and increasing incidences in developing countries substantiates the importance of environmental factors (87). From twin studies, we know that the concordance rate for CD and UC in monozygotic twins are 20-50% and 14-19% respectively (52), advocating the significance of environmental factors. The hygiene hypothesis postulates that the increasing incidence of allergic and autoimmune diseases, including IBD, can be explained by decreased exposure to microorganisms in childhood due to better sanitary conditions (87, 88). The gut microbiota is vital for the development and regulation of the immune system and maintenance of intestinal epithelial barrier homeostasis (6). Several of the genetic polymorphisms associated with IBD are involved in recognition and eradication of bacteria in the intestine, supporting that IBD patients have genetic variants that lead to impaired defence against gut microbiota (6). The genetic defects in IBD in combination with triggering alterations in the gut microbiome composition can cause increased invasion of pathobionts into the epithelium and lamina propria causing a cascade reaction with inflammation and additional gut microbiome perturbations (6).

Even though colitis in mice does not exhibit human IBD characteristics, research from several germfree mouse models has found that mice genetically susceptible for colitis do not develop colitis until they are exposed to an IBD-like dysbiotic microflora (89). After ileocecal resection in patients with CD, diversion of the faecal fluid to bypass the neoterminal ileum prevents recurrence of disease and restoration of the gastrointestinal tract or infusion of intestinal content lead to recurrence of the

37

inflammation (43, 90). In UC, faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) has proved to be significantly better than placebo for inducing remission (91). A recent Swedish national case-control study found an association between the cumulative antibiotic exposure and development of IBD, arguing that microbiota disruptions can be detrimental (92). On the contrary, selected antibiotics and probiotics in patients with established IBD can induce remission or reduce disease activity. A correlation between IBD risk and use of antibiotics is not equivalent to causation, but these data supports that the microbiota composition is of relevance in the pathogenesis (93-96). The microbiota in IBD patients differs from healthy controls, however if these differences occur before the inflammation or is a consequence of inflammation is not yet fully understood.

5.3.6. Microbiota alterations in IBD

Microbiota alterations in IBD are commonly called dysbiosis. Dysbiosis is defined as a shift or imbalance in the microbial composition or community (97). IBD dysbiosis is characterised by reduced microbial diversity, an increase of potentially harmful bacteria and a decrease of bacteria characterised as beneficial (94, 98-100). The majority of studies within the field of IBD gut microbiota have analysed faecal samples. However, the faecal and mucosa-associated microbiota are very different (24, 101-105). The accessibility of faeces compared to mucosa samples is indisputably the most important reason why most microbiota studies are based on faecal samples. Nevertheless, as the epithelium is central in IBD, knowledge about the microbial contribution to the disease pathogenesis (106). Therefore, this thesis has focused on the mucosa-associated microbiota in IBD.

Reduced mucosal bacterial diversity has been reported as the main feature of IBD dysbiosis (99, 107, 108). It has been debated whether reduced diversity is due to the disease, inflammation or a combination. Both Liguori et al. and Kansal et al. found mucosal diversity in CD to be the same in inflamed and non-inflamed regions, suggesting that loss of diversity cannot be driven by inflammation alone (107, 109). Mucosal IBD

microbiota (including both UC and CD) has further been described by increases in Proteobacteria phylum and *Clostridium* genera as well as decreases in *Roseburia* genus and the species *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (99, 101, 110, 111). The Proteobacteria phylum includes the majority of well-known enteropathogens and increased abundances are associated with increased IBD disease activity (110, 112). The Firmicutes phylum includes the majority of short chain fatty acid (SCFA) producing bacteria. SCFA are beneficial metabolites, especially butyrate, as it supplies colonocytes with nutrition and strengthens epithelial integrity (113). The depletion of *F. prausnitzii* is particularly thought to be of importance due to its anti-inflammatory effects, inverse correlation with IBD disease activity and that increased faecal abundances are associated with long-term remission (111, 114, 115).

5.3.7. Mucosal microbiota in UC

At phylum level, the abundance of Proteobacteria is increased in UC patients compared to HC (110, 116, 117), whereas conflicting results regarding abundances of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes have been reported (108, 116-119). Further, reductions in *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* species and the genera *Roseburia*, *Akkermansia* and *Odoribacter* have been described, the latter being depleted in UC pancolitis patients (99, 101, 120). Several papers have found the microbial alterations in UC to be less pronounced than in CD (28, 99, 101). A recent Nature publication reported a greater loss of potentially beneficial taxa in CD in comparison to UC. When comparing the microbial communities of UC and CD they found increased abundances of Ruminococcaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Faecalibacterium families as well as *Coprococcus, Lachnospira*, *Roseburia, Bifidobacterium* and *Prevotella* genera in UC vs CD in two separate cohorts (99). They also found UC patients to be more similar to HC in terms of β -diversity (Bray-Curtis) vs CD patients (99). Only a minority of papers describing the mucosal microbiota analysed by high-throughput sequencing have exclusively included UC patients (120, 121). Fungal diversity in the colonic mucosa of UC patients has been reported to be similar to HC (122), while the fungal genus *Aspergillus* was significantly increased in UC patients compared to HC (122). However, the mucosa-associated mycobiota in UC, has only to a small extent, been investigated. The viral mucosa-associated microbiota in UC patients is characterised by a higher abundance of Hepadnaviridae family and a correlated decreased abundance of Polydnaviridae and Tymoviridae families in comparison to HC (123). Additionally, increased abundances of Caudovirales bacteriophages, *Escherichia phage* and *Enterobacteria phage* have been found and decreased viral diversity in the inflamed UC mucosa has been described (124).

5.3.8. Mucosal microbiota in CD

Increased abundances of Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria are found in the mucosa of CD patients (100, 109, 110, 125), whereas reported abundances of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes have been conflicting (109, 118, 126). In addition to reduced bacterial α diversity significant differences in β -diversity between CD patients and HC have been found (99, 100). Many specific alterations in the mucosal bacterial microbiota on family and genus level have been reported, but most frequently an expansion of Enterobacteriaceae, Fusobacteriaceae and reductions in Lachnospiraceae, Ruminococcaceae, Bifidobacteriaceae and Erysipelotrichaceae families are found (28, 102, 110, 125, 127). On genus level expansion of Fusobacterium, Escherichia, Enterococcus, Haemophilus and reductions in Roseburia and Faecalibacterium are reported (99, 100, 102, 107, 109, 125, 127). Yilmaz et al. (99) have described a cluster of bacteria occurring together, which they call CD_A cluster, consisting of Lachnospira, Blautia, Dorea, Coprococcus, Ruminococcus, Faecalibacterium, Roseburia, Oscillospira and Bilophila. They report that reductions in this cluster are associated with worse outcome, poor treatment response, less healthy lifestyle and increased risk of relapse after surgery in two separate cohorts. In treatment-naïve paediatric patients increased of Enterobacteriaceae, Pasteurellaceae, Veillonellaceae abundance and Fusobacteriaceae and decreased abundance of Erysipelotrichales, Bacteroidales and Clostridiales are strongly correlated to disease severity (102). In CD patients undergoing ileocecal resection endoscopic recurrence has been associated with increased abundance of *Proteus* and reduced abundance of *Faecalibacterium* genera (100). recent study found increases in Proteobacteria. Similarly. а especially Alphaproteobacteria, Coribacteriaceae family and Enterococcus genus and decreases in Firmicutes phylum, especially Ruminococcaceae and Lachnospiraceae family and Eubacterium, Ruminococcus, Butyricoccus, Dorea and Blautia genera in samples from patients with postoperative recurrence vs patients without recurrence (128). The same study identified increased abundances of Gammaproteobacteria and Ruminococcus qnavus and decreased abundance of Ruminiclostridium 6 at the time of ileocecal resection to be predictive of postoperative disease recurrence (128). Decreased abundance of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii at ileocecal resection has also been found to be predictive of disease recurrence six months postoperatively (114).

The fungal diversity in CD mucosa has been reported to be similar to HCs (109, 129). A characteristic of CD mycobiota is a reduced Ascomycota/Basidiomycota ratio compared to HC (67, 129). CD mycobiota alterations also include increased abundances of Psathyrellaceae, Cortinariaceae and Cystofilobasidiaceae families and *Psathyrella*, *Gymnopilus, Malassezia, Cladosporium, Aureobasidium* and *Dioszegia* genera together with decreased abundances of *Fusarium, Leptosphaeria* and *Trichosporon* genera (67, 109, 129). On species level, increased abundances of *Malassezia globosa, Malassezia restricta* and *Candida glabrata* have been reported (67, 109). The mucosa-associated viral microbiota in patients with CD is characterised by increased abundance of Hepeviridae family together with a significantly negatively correlated reduced abundance of Virgaviridae family in comparison to HC (123).

5.4. IBD treatment

5.4.1. 5-ASA

5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) or mesalazine acts locally in the intestinal mucosa, where it is metabolised to its inactive compound N-acetyl-5-aminosalicylic acid (Ac-5-ASA) (130, 131) by N-acetyltransferase 1 (NAT1) and to a small degree by N-acetyltransferase 2 (NAT2) (132, 133). 5-ASA has been suggested to act through numerous mechanisms inhibiting pro-inflammatory mediators such as leukotrienes (134, 135), prostaglandin (134), interleukin 1 (136), NF-κB (137, 138) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α) (137). Additionally, 5-ASA acts as a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR- γ) agonist, and expression of PPAR- γ is reduced in UC patients (139, 140). Recent studies also suggest that 5-ASA has effects on various bacteria as a polyphosphate kinase (PPK) inhibitor that decreases some bacteria's ability to colonise and increase their susceptibility to oxidative stress (141, 142).

Oral administration of unbound 5-ASA leads to quick absorption of 5-ASA from the upper GI-tract followed by rapid acetylation and inactivation in the intestinal epithelium and liver by NAT1 (130, 131), thus will 5-ASA not reach the inflamed intestinal segments and exert an effect. Similarly, only small fractions of intravenously administered 5-ASA reach the intestine (131, 143). Therefore, several pharmaceutical delivery systems have been developed to transport orally administered 5-ASA to the colon. Following oral administration of various 5-ASA formulations, the highest mucosal concentrations are found in the proximal colon segments and the lowest in the rectum (144-146). Mucosal 5-ASA concentrations reflect the amount of therapeutically active drug at the site of action, and mucosal 5-ASA concentrations are inversely correlated to UC disease activity (144, 147-150). The principle is illustrated by studies of combination therapy with both oral and rectal 5-ASA, which significantly increase mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the rectum and sigmoid colon and improve the clinical course of UC compared to oral administration alone (146, 151).

The different oral 5-ASA formulations lead to absorption of 5-ASA in the stomach, small intestine or the colon depending on the pharmaceutical drug release mechanism (152). Absorption of released 5-ASA occurs more rapidly in the small intestine than in the colon (143, 153). Metabolism of 5-ASA to Ac-5-ASA occurs in the intestinal epithelium, however some 5-ASA reach the portal circulation and is later metabolised in the liver (Figure 9). 5-ASA is also to a small extent (<4 % compared to mucosal acetylation) metabolised by bacteria in the faeces (154). Ac-5-ASA is either secreted into the gut lumen and excreted in faeces, or absorbed into the portal circulation and excreted in the urine (130).





Some 5-ASA will pass through the GI-tract without being absorbed or metabolised and is excreted in the faeces unmetabolised. Pharmaceutical drug formulations that release 5-ASA more distally in the GI tract results in reduced urinary excretion and increased faecal excretion of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA (130). Systemic absorption of 5-ASA should be kept as low as possible, as serum concentrations are not associated with therapeutic effect, but rather a risk of systemic side effects such as nephrotoxicity, hepatitis, pancreatitis, and blood dyscrasias even though rarely occurring (153, 156).

Large inter-individual differences in 5-ASA mucosal concentrations have been reported in patients using the same 5-ASA formulation and dosage (144, 147-149). The underlying mechanism is not understood, but GI transit time, pH alterations and genetic variation in N-acetylation have been suggested. NAT1 is reported to be 19.000 fold more active than NAT2 in N-acetylation/metabolisation of 5-ASA (132). Theoretically, patients with different genotypes leading to different NAT-acetylator velocity could affect the 5-ASA concentration levels, with rapid acetylators being exposed to lower mucosal 5-ASA concentrations. However, NAT1 and NAT2 genotypes have previously not been found to influence 5-ASA treatment efficacy (157).

Based on previous studies of mucosal 5-ASA concentration there seems to be an association between oral 5-ASA dose and mucosal 5-ASA concentration;

- Hussain et al. (158) found an increase in mucosal 5-ASA concentration when the dose was increased from 1-2 g/day to 2.4 g/day of Asacol but found no further increase in mucosal 5-ASA concentration with dose escalation to 4.8 g/day
- D'Haens et al. (148) found that mucosal 5-ASA concentration was greater in patients using 4.8 g/day (48.8 ng/mg) of Mezavant in comparison to 1.2 g/day (11.2 ng/mg) and 2.4 g/day (6.9 ng/mg).
- Frieri et al. (151) found the rectal mucosal 5-ASA concentration to increase after 5-ASA dose escalation from oral 2.4-3.2 g/day (3.065 ng/mg) to oral 3.2-4.8 g/day in addition to topical 5-ASA 4 g/day (259.81 ng/mL).

5-ASA can be administered orally or rectally, and several different 5-ASA formulations exist on the marked (oral mesalazine formulations in Norway as of 2020; Pentasa, Asacol, Mezavant, Salofalk). Pentasa is classified as a time-dependent formulation, consisting of 5-ASA coated with a semipermeable membrane of ethyl cellulose. 5-ASA discharge distribution has been estimated to be 35% in the small intestine, 25% in the colon and 40% in faeces (159), however a more recent study found that Pentasa also released a significant proportion of 5-ASA in the stomach (152). Asacol and Mezavant both have a pH-dependent capsule dissolving around pH 7, usually occurring in the terminal ileum (130, 153). Furthermore, Mezavant has a Multi Matrix System (MMX), which in addition to the pH-dependent coating includes hydrophilic and lipophilic excipients causing slow discharge throughout the colon (153, 160). The small intestinal 5-ASA absorption of Asacol and Mezavant is estimated to be 20% in pharmacokinetic and scintigraphy studies (153, 161, 162).

5-ASA is the first-line therapy for UC (163), but there are conflicting results regarding effect in CD (164, 165) and the ECCO guidelines do not recommend 5-ASA treatment in CD (165). Current guidelines recommend \geq 2.4 g/day to induce remission of UC (163, 166). The ECCO guidelines recommend combination therapy with oral 5-ASA \geq 2.4 g/day and rectal 5-ASA \geq 1.0 g/day for induction of remission, however, rectal administration may be inconvenient, and adherence to treatment with rectal 5-ASA is low (163). The guidelines also state that doses of 4.8 g/day may be beneficial to induce remission in patients with moderately active UC (163, 167). For maintenance of remission 2 g/day is the recommended dose, but doses ≥ 2.4 g/day might benefit patients with extensive disease, prior glucocorticoid therapy and age <40 years (163, 168-171). The latest Cochrane report found a trend towards increased effect with higher dosages (169). Also, the British Society of Gastroenterology (BSG) recommend high-dose 5-ASA to UC patients who have required ≥ 2 courses of corticosteroids the last year, to corticosteroid dependent or refractory UC patients, and UC patients requiring a thiopurine, antitumour necrosis factor (anti-TNF) alpha antibodies, vedolizumab or tofacitinib (36). High-dose 5-ASA is not associated with more adverse effects than low dose 5-ASA (168).

A recent ECCO review recommend considering dose reduction down to 2.0 g/ day in patients with endoscopic Mayo score of 0 and avoiding dose reduction in patients with increased faecal calprotectin or patients with either endoscopic or histologic

inflammation, or both (172). Besides, the reviewers discourage 5-ASA withdrawal in patients with a history of repeated relapses or in patients with extensive disease (172). Another recent review found 5-ASA withdrawal to be safer in patients >40 years, no history of frequent relapses, UC patients without extensive disease and patients in remission for 2 years or more (173). Additionally, 5-ASA has a protective effect against colorectal cancer in IBD patients, which is dose-dependent and more pronounced in UC patients than CD patients (36, 163, 174). Consequently 5-ASA is recommended for long-term use in UC patients.

5.4.2. Budesonide

Budesonide is a corticosteroid drug with reduced systemic bioavailability due to extensive first-pass metabolism in the liver (175). Different pharmaceutical delivery systems for budesonide have been developed, time-dependent release and pHdependent release, causing the release of budesonide to start in the ileum (175) as well as an MMX formula designed to release budesonide throughout the colon (176). Orally administered budesonide 9mg/day is the first-line treatment to induce remission in localised ileocecal CD, which is less effective than conventional steroids, but has less severe side effects (165). Budesonide is not recommended for treatment of colonic CD unless primarily the proximal colon is affected (165). In severe CD, systemic corticosteroid treatment is preferred rather than budesonide (165). Both ECCO guidelines and a Cochrane review concluded that budesonide is not effective for maintenance of remission in CD, despite being associated with longer time to relapse and lower CDAI scores, it should not be used to maintain remission due to its adverse effects (165, 175). In patients with mild to moderate left-sided UC budesonide MMX 9 mg/day can be considered in patients intolerant or refractory to 5-ASA therapy for induction of remission, whereas budesonide is not recommended in UC patients with pancolitis (163, 176).

5.4.3. Systemic corticosteroids

Corticosteroid drugs act through binding to the glucocorticoid receptor and thereby producing widespread anti-inflammatory effects and suppressing the immune system (177). Systemic corticosteroid therapy is also associated with a wide range of adverse effects, including Cushing's syndrome with abdominal obesity, hypertension, acne, moon face, skin striae and muscular atrophy, among others. Corticosteroid therapy is also associated with sleep and mood disturbance, glucose intolerance, osteoporosis and increased susceptibility to infections (165). In CD, systemic corticosteroids are recommended for induction of remission in moderately and severely active ileocecal CD, active colonic CD, CD with extensive small bowel involvement and in CD patients with oesophageal or gastroduodenal involvement and severe disease (165). In UC, systemic corticosteroids are not considered effective for maintenance of remission in CD (165). In UC, systemic corticosteroids are used for induction of remission in moderate to severe UC and intravenous corticosteroids is the mainstay of treatment of severe UC (163).

5.4.4. Azathioprine

Azathioprine is classified as a thiopurine together with mercaptopurine, which is the first metabolite in azathioprine degradation. Azathioprine is an immunosuppressive agent which inhibits ribonucleotide synthesis and induce T-cell apoptosis (165). Azathioprine has a slow onset of action, and it is therefore recommended primarily for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC, however it is also used as a steroid-sparing agent or adjunctive therapy in combination with anti-TNF for induction of remission (163, 165). Azathioprine is superior to placebo for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC placebo for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC placebo for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC placebo for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC placebo for maintenance of remission in both CD and UC (163, 165).

5.4.5. Methotrexate

Methotrexate is a chemotherapeutic agent and an immunomodulator which acts by inhibiting dihydrofolate reductase, essential for the synthesis of purines and pyrimidines, thereby inhibiting both ribonucleic acid (RNA) and deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) synthesis. In contrast, the immunomodulatory effect most likely comes from increased adenosine levels and agonistic effect on adenosine A_{2A} and A_3 receptors (178). Methotrexate is proven effective for both induction of remission and maintenance of remission in CD (165) with parenteral administration proven more effective than peroral administration. Methotrexate is not recommended for maintenance of remission in UC but can be considered in patients with steroid-dependent UC for induction of remission (163).

5.4.6. Anti-TNF

Anti-TNFs have potent anti-inflammatory effects through inhibition of TNFα. Anti-TNFs approved for IBD treatment in Norway include infliximab, adalimumab and golimumab. The use of anti-TNF has increased in Norway during the past decade (179). In CD, anti-TNF therapy is considered particularly in patients with moderately active localised CD who are steroid-refractory or steroid–intolerant, in patients with severely active localised or colonic CD who have relapsed after initial corticosteroid treatment or are intolerant to corticosteroids (165). Furthermore, it is recommended that early anti-TNF therapy should be evaluated in patients with extensive small bowel disease and CD patients with high disease activity and poor clinical prognostic factors and in CD patients relapsing while treated with azathioprine (165).

In UC, anti-TNF therapy is recommended in steroid-dependent patients, patients refractory to systemic corticosteroids and in moderate UC refractory to azathioprine (163). For both CD and UC patients, anti-TNF therapy has proven effective for both induction of remission and maintenance of remission (163, 165).

5.4.7. Vedolizumab

Vedolizumab is an antibody specifically targeting $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin, also called anti-integrin therapy (165) and is proven effective both for induction of remission and maintenance of remission in both CD and UC (163, 165). Vedolizumab is generally recommended to CD and UC patients as an alternative to anti-TNF therapy and to patients refractory to anti-TNF therapy (163, 165).

5.4.8. Antibiotics

Some antibiotics have shown to be effective for induction of remission in CD and UC (94, 163, 165), however the ECCO guidelines do not recommend antibiotic therapy for maintenance of remission in either disease and are also reluctant to recommend it for induction of remission due to side effects and questionable efficiency (163, 165). The ECCO consensus recommends evaluating antibiotics in severe UC only if an infection is likely additionally, two-week antibiotic therapy with amoxicillin, tetracycline and metronidazole can be considered in steroid-refractory UC (163). For steroid refractory CD, data from some clinical trials find metronidazole, ciprofloxacin or the combination of these to have some effect (165). In a randomised controlled trial including patients with moderately active CD, 800 mg of rifaximin twice daily for 12 weeks was significantly better than placebo for inducing remission, however remission rates for doses of 400 mg and 1200 mg were not better than placebo (93). The ECCO consensus recommends antibiotics to be used for septic complications, bacterial overgrowth and treatment of perianal disease in CD (165).

5.4.9. Surgery

In CD patients with extensive disease, surgery is generally avoided due to the risk of short bowel syndrome. ECCO guidelines recommend surgery in CD patients with limited ileocecal disease as well as considering surgery in patients with disease refractory to medical treatment. (165). In cohorts with long-term follow up 75-80% of CD patients have required surgical treatment during the observation period, the most common surgical procedure has been ileocecal resection (ICR) (33, 39, 180). In CD patients with stricturing disease the surgical treatment options are strictureplasty (surgical treatment without losing bowel length) and intestinal resection, however in short strictures (length <4 cm) endoscopic balloon dilatation may be performed, however the number of

strictures, length of involved intestine and total small bowel length also need to be considered before choosing treatment approach (36).

UC can be cured by removing the colon surgically, however due to the implications of total colectomy, medical treatment is preferred when it is effective and tolerated. In patients with disease resistant to medical therapy, colectomy should be considered (163). From the Norwegian IBSEN study, it was reported that 9.8 % of UC patients underwent colectomy during the first 10 years after diagnosis and that the 10-year colectomy rate for UC patients with pancolitis was 19% (35). In UC patients with acute severe colitis, surgery is indicated if the disease is resistant to medical therapy, i.e. insufficient response to rescue therapy, or if the adverse effects of medication are not tolerable or in cases with life-threatening haemorrhage, toxic megacolon or perforation (36). In acute severe UC delayed surgery associated with increased risk of surgical complications (36).

5.4.10. Other medical treatments for IBD

Ustekinumab, an anti IL12/23 p40 antibody, has shown efficacy in inducing remission in active CD (165). Tofacitinib is a Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitor, which is administered orally and has proven effect over placebo in UC patients, but no comparisons have been made with other biologic treatment (36). Indication for treatment with Tofacitinib is moderate to severe UC with intolerance or failure on medical treatment or biological treatment (36). Treatment with anti-Madcam antibodies, anti-IL-6 antibodies and SMAD7 antisense oligonucleotides are currently tested in CD (165).

5.5. Factors impacting the gut microbiota

5.5.1. Age

The scientific studies of microbiota concerning ageing are primarily based on analyses of faecal samples. Studies investigating the mucosa-associated microbiota in children are lacking, due to the ethical aspects preventing invasive sampling. The gut microbiota undertakes great reorganisation throughout the first year of life. During delivery, the infant is exposed to vaginal and faecal microflora or skin flora depending on delivery method, vaginal or caesarean section, respectively. Delivery method affects the microbiome development at least the first year of life, and vaginal delivery is associated with increased abundances of *Bacteroides* spp and *Candida albicans* (14, 181). Breastmilk contains 8.9 x 10^5 bacterial and 3.5 x 10^5 fungal cells/mL and is rich in Bifidobacterium spp. and Lactobacillus spp. as well as the fungal genera Malassezia, Candida and Saccharomyces (181, 182). Fungal α -diversity has been reported to be higher in infants and children compared to adults (14) whereas the bacterial α -diversity is lower (183). Especially breastfeeding is associated with lower bacterial diversity due to Bifidobacterium dominance (181). During breastfeeding high abundances of the fungi, Debaryomyces hansenii has been described (184). Breastfeeding cessation greatly impacts the gut microbiota, interestingly to a more considerable extent than introduction of solid foods and is associated with increased levels of Firmicutes (181, 185). Introduction of solid foods increases the total number of bacteria, bacterial α diversity and is associated with dominance of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes phyla and increased abundances of SCFA and the fungi Saccharomyces cerevisiae (184, 185). It has been suggested that maturation of gut microbiota occurs in phases, a developmental phase (3-14 months), a transitional phase (15-30 months) and a stable phase (31-46 months) (181). High abundances of Bifidobacterium characterised the developmental phase, whereas Firmicutes and increased bacterial α -diversity dominated the stable phase (181). A recent review described persistently reduced bacterial α -diversity in 5year-olds and increased abundances of Bifidobacterium and Faecalibacterium spp. in children 7-12 years of age in comparison to adults (185).

It is generally accepted that the microbiota composition is altered in the elderly. In 2018 An et al. (186) reviewed the findings from faecal microbiota studies in elderly, they concluded that inter-individual variations in microbiota composition were large and harboured many confounding factors such as physical condition, medical treatment, lifestyle including smoking and diet and living situation (health care facility or private

51

home). Bacterial α -diversity have both been reported to be increased and decreased in elderly, increased abundances of Enterobacteriaceae and decreased abundances of *Bifidobacterium* are generally found, but with a few exceptions. Altogether the authors found it hard to define characteristic microbiota alterations for elderly (186).

5.5.2. Diet and obesity

Diet is one of the factors with the strongest influence on gut microbiota composition (14, 187, 188). Dietary habits are associated with IBD risk in epidemiological studies, for instance, are consumption of soft drinks and red meat associated with an increased risk of UC, sucrose intake associated with both UC and CD while fibre and fruit associated with reduced CD risk and consumption of tea, fruit and vegetables associated with reduced risk of UC (reviewed by (189)). Exclusive enteral nutrition is an effective therapy for induction of remission in paediatric CD patients and is associated with alterations in the mucosa-associated microbiota (190, 191). Liu et al. have recently assessed the bacterial microbiota in colonic biopsies from 34 healthy participants, whom self-reported dietary consumption using a validated food frequency questionnaire (192). Poor dietary quality was associated with lower bacterial α -diversity, reduced abundance of *Fusobacterium, Escherichia, Bilophila* and *Tyzzerella* (192). Summarised, the authors found that dietary quality and intake of fruit, soy and milk products, added sugar, alcohol and saturated fat had the highest impact on the bacterial colonic microbiota (192).

Similar to most other fields, most papers investigating the effect of diet on microbiota have assessed faecal samples (193, 194). The faecal gut microbiome is reported to be rapidly altered depending on diet, an animal-based diet is associated with increased abundance of the bacterial genera *Alistipes*, *Bilophila* and *Bacteroides* and *Bilophila wadsworthia* species as well as the concentration of viable fungi, whereas a plant-based diet associated with increased the concentration of the SCFAs acetate and butyrate and fibre intake positively associated with *Prevotella* (187). Of these taxa, *Bilophila*

wadsworthia is associated with development of colitis in mice models (195). While SCFAs are favourable metabolites in the gut, of which butyrate is the crucial energy source for colonic epithelial cells (20). These findings support that reduced intake of milk and meat and increased plant-based foods can be beneficial for IBD. Interestingly, a low fibre diet in mice is associated with increased abundance of mucus degrading bacterial strains and decreased mucus thickness (196).

Obese individuals have a shifted composition of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla compared to healthy individuals with decreased abundances of Bacteroidetes (197). Ley et al. (197) showed that two different calorie restriction diets in 12 obese individuals caused increased abundances of Bacteroidetes in faecal samples, which correlated with weight loss and not with changes in calorie content in diet over time. Mice studies have found that colonisation with microbiota from obese individuals to lean individuals causes the lean mice to gain weight due to increased energy harvest, not increased consumption or reduced activity patterns (31, 198). Interestingly, Kootte et al. found that FMT from lean donors to 38 male metabolic syndrome recipients caused improved insulin sensitivity and altered microbiota composition in duodenal and faecal samples six weeks after FMT (199).

5.5.3. Smoking

Tobacco smoking is associated with reduced α -diversity, increased abundances of *Streptococcus*, *Veillonella* and *Rothia* and decreased abundances of *Prevotella* and *Neisseria* in the duodenal microbiota in comparison to never smoking (200). Smoking has also been associated with reductions in the butyrate-producing genus *Anaerostipes* (101). Smokers have increased risk of developing CD and increased risk of complicated disease (33). Smoking is also the most substantial risk factor for disease recurrence in CD, and the microbiota alterations caused by smoking may be instrumental (201, 202).

5.5.4. Antibiotics

A substantial number of studies have found antibiotics to alter the gut microbiota significantly by reducing the bacterial α -diversity (richness and abundance) and altering bacterial composition according to β -diversity (reviewed by (203)). However, the majority have studied the faecal microbiota. In a Cell paper from 2018 (204), 21 healthy participants were given oral antibiotic treatment with ciprofloxacin and metronidazole for seven days. After treatment, biopsy samples from the upper and lower GI tract and faecal samples were collected. Antibiotic therapy caused a disrupted microbial community composition in the faeces and mucosa. Interestingly, the antibiotic treatment caused more profound effects on the microbial composition in the lower GI than in the upper GI (204).

Swidsinski et al. (205) also evaluated changes in the mucosa-associated microbiota after combined treatment with ciprofloxacin and metronidazole by evaluating the number and type of mucosa-adherent bacteria with fluorescent in situ hybridisation and DAPI stain. They found antibiotic therapy to cause a substantial reduction of mucosaladherent bacteria. Additionally, cessation of antibiotics caused a rebound effect, increasing the number of mucosa-adherent bacteria significantly up to 4.5 months after cessation, especially the abundance of Enterobacteriaceae family (205). Morgan et al. (101) analysed both faecal and biopsy samples from patients with IBD and found that antibiotic treatment was associated with significant reductions in bacterial diversity and abundance of Dorea, Butyricicoccus, Collinsella, Subdoligranulum and Acetivibrio genera. Antibiotic therapy has also been found to exacerbate mucosal dysbiosis in paediatric CD patients (102). Microbial alterations in the faeces after oral antibiotic treatment have been reported to last up to 4 weeks after ciprofloxacin and amoxicillin treatment, up to 4 years after clindamycin or clarithromycin treatment, whereas microbial alterations after metronidazole monotherapy seem to be minor (reviewed by (206)).

Antibiotic treatment also leads to a shift in the fungal-bacterial ratio in the GI tract with increased fungal load after antibiotic treatment, especially increased *Candida* spp. in faecal samples are associated with various antibiotic treatments (14).

5.5.5. Proton pump inhibitors (PPI)

Most studies reporting microbial alterations after PPI use have studied the faecal microbiota (207, 208), few have investigated mucosa-associated microbiota alterations after PPI therapy. PPI use has in meta-analysis of epidemiological studies been associated with increased risk of GI infections, likely due to increased gastric pH, especially *Clostridium difficile* infections have been associated with PPI use (207). In a study comparing 109 PPI users with 75 controls, using culture techniques on gastric juice and staining techniques on stomach biopsy specimens, PPI use was found to be associated with increased abundances of bacteria (CFU/mL) in gastric juice as well as increased prevalence of non- H. pylori bacteria in the mucosa (209). Another study compared the mucosa-associated microbiota in 12 PPI users and 12 controls with 454 pyrosequencing and found PPI use to be associated with increased abundance of Firmicutes phylum and the *Streptococcus* genus in particular (210).

5.5.6. Other drugs affecting gut microbiota

It seems likely that oral administration of most drugs influences the gut microbiota to various extents. Drugs such as NSAIDs, metformin, statins, antipsychotics and opioids have been associated with alterations in the faecal microbiota (207, 211).

5.5.7. Probiotics

Probiotics are microorganisms prepared for consumption in order to "normalise" the gut microbiota (95). Probiotics have been reported to change the microbial composition in both faecal and mucosal samples (204). Many different probiotic formulas exist, containing single or multiple strains of bacteria or fungi in different concentrations (94, 212). The probiotic fungi *Saccharomyces boulardii* is used to reduce diarrhoea in cholera

patients and has in some pilot studies showed an effect in inducing and maintaining remission in UC patients and maintaining remission in CD patients (14, 94, 213). The probiotic VSL#3 contains a combination of eight bacterial strains; Bifidobacterium breve, Bifidobacterium infantis, Bifidobacterium longum, Lactobacillus acidophilus, Lactobacillus plantarum, Lactobacillus paracasei, Lactobacillus bulgaricus, and Streptococcus thermophilus, and is considered the probiotic formula with most evidence of effect in UC treatment (94-96). In a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial, 147 UC patients received either VSL#3 or placebo for 12 weeks, 42.9% in the VSL#3 group and 15.7% in the placebo group achieved remission after 12 weeks (p< 0.001) (96). Patients were allowed to continue 5-ASA and thiopurine therapy, but administration of rectal corticosteroids was not allowed.

Accordingly, most probiotic studies are challenging to interpret as probiotics have been used alongside 5-ASA or thiopurine therapy, which could potentially influence the efficiency of the probiotics (212). The most recent Cochrane review did not find evidence to support the use of probiotics as UC maintenance therapy, however the study from Sood et al. (96) was not included (212). The BSG consensus guidelines state that probiotics possibly give modest benefits in UC patients, but is not recommended for routinely use (36). The latest Cochrane report on probiotics for induction of remission in CD emphasises lack of scientific reports regarding efficacy and safety, but based on the two studies meeting criteria for inclusion there was no difference between probiotics and placebo (214).

However, use of probiotics does not necessarily improve outcome, as probiotic treatment after a seven days course of antibiotic therapy was found to cause prolonged antibiotic-associated dysbiosis, lower bacterial α -diversity and delayed reconstruction of the pre-antibiotic mucosa-associated microbiota (204). The complexity of microbiota targeted treatment was also illustrated in a study investigating the effect of probiotics on healthy participants in stool, luminal and mucosal samples by both 16sRNA sequencing, quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) and shotgun metagenome

sequencing (24). Main findings were that detection of probiotic strains in faecal samples or faecal microbiota composition did not resemble mucosal colonisation, but rather a washout of non-adhering strains. Furthermore, there were significant intra-individual variations in mucosal colonisation patterns of probiotic strains which correlated with host genetics and baseline gut microbiota composition (24).

5.5.8. Faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT)

FMT involves transplantation of faeces into the GI tract. FMT can either be autologous (own faeces, usually sampled and stored at an earlier time) or allogeneic (from a donor). Administration can be through installation into the duodenum via either upper endoscopy or a nasoduodenal tube, into the ileum or colon during ileo-colonoscopy, by rectal enema or enteric-coated capsules (94). The rationale behind FMT is to reorganise the gut microbiota to a healthier composition.

Preparation of the faeces is another methodological aspect, as some studies have prepared the faeces in an aerobic environment, whereas others claim that anaerobic preparation is beneficial to preserve anaerobic bacteria (91). The faeces can also be derived from one or multiple donors. FMT is an effective treatment of recurrent clostridium difficile infection (reviewed by (94)).

Four randomised controlled trials (RCTs) have assessed FMT for induction of remission in UC patients, of which three found FMT to be superior to placebo (91, 215, 216), whereas one found no significant difference (217). In the most recent RCT, comparing donor and autologous FMT, the FMT was prepared anaerobically and installed in the right colon via colonoscopy followed by two enemas within seven days after colonoscopy (91). The primary endpoint was steroid free remission (total Mayo score ≤ 2 of and endoscopic Mayo score ≤ 1) 8 weeks after transplantation, this was reached in 12 of 38 patients receiving donor FMT and 3 of 35 receiving autologous FMT p=0.03 (91). The first published randomised controlled pilot study assessing the effect of FMT in CD patients included 17 CD patients in remission after corticosteroid therapy (218). Eight patients received donor FMT and nine physiological serum administered into the caecum by colonoscopy, a higher rate of steroid-free clinical remission as well as a significant reduction in Crohn's Disease Endoscopic Index of Severity was found in the FMT group.

The major concern regarding FMT is the potential of serious adverse effects caused by transplantation of unknown microbes or microbiome associated metabolites which could harm the recipient on both short- and long-term basis and the possible transfer of diseases linked to gut bacteria. The BSG consensus guidelines characterise FMT as an experimental treatment for use in clinical IBD trials and emphasise that the effect of FMT does not last after one year (36). ECCO guidelines describe FMT as promising for use in UC but call for more studies to define the best FMT protocol, including administration site, donor characteristics and number of transplantations (163).

6. Aims of the studies

UC is a disease that affects the colonic mucosa, and 5-ASA is the first-line therapy for patients with UC. 5-ASA acts through mechanisms in the colonic mucosa, and it is the mucosal 5-ASA concentration that reflects the therapeutic potential. Previous studies have found large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentrations and significant differences in rectal 5-ASA concentrations between Asacol and Pentasa, with Asacol providing higher concentrations (145, 147). After Mezavant was marketed, mucosal 5-ASA concentrations studies comparing Mezavant and other 5-ASA formulations have not been conducted. 5-ASA is metabolized in the intestinal mucosa, the majority of 5-ASA is metabolized by NAT1 and a small proportion by NAT2. Different NAT genotypes lay the foundation for different metabolizing rates, which could explain the large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA.

Several papers suggest that 5-ASA have an effect on bacteria; by inhibiting growth invitro (219, 220), affecting gene expression (221), decreasing concentrations of mucosal adherent bacteria (222) and by altering faecal bacterial profiles (223).

In paper I, we aimed to:

- Measure and compare mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the left hemicolon and rectum in patients with quiescent UC using monotherapy with different oral 5-ASA formulations (Mezavant, Asacol, Pentasa).
- 2. Explore if NAT1 and NAT2 genotypes could explain variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration.
- 3. Explore the interrelation between mucosal 5-ASA concentration and the bacterial composition in mucosa and faeces.

The terminal ileum is the most common site of inflammation in patients with CD. After ICR in patients with ileocecal CD, the majority of patients experience disease recurrence in the neo-terminal ileum, at and immediately proximal to the surgical anastomosis (39, 40). Diversion of the faecal stream by stoma prevents CD recurrence, while stoma reversal or infusion of faecal contents triggers CD recurrence (43, 90). It is thought that

the microbiota in the faecal contents contributes to recurrence of disease, as disease recurrence has been associated with the mucosa-associated microbiota composition at the time of ICR and postoperatively (99, 114, 128). To investigate the role of microbiota in ileal CD, we aimed to investigate the microbiota in the inflamed terminal ileum and the proximal non-inflamed ileum.

In paper II, we aimed to:

- 1. Describe the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota in the ileum of CD patients in comparison to HC.
- 2. Compare the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileal mucosa within the same patients.
- 3. Assess the effect of inflammation on the ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota.
- 4. Assess the effect of ileal biopsy sampling location on the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota.

Mycobiota has for long thought to be involved in gut inflammation in IBD. CD patients harbour genetic polymorphisms, causing aberrant recognition and immune responses to fungi and detection of antibodies specific for fungi (ASCA) can help discriminate IBD subtypes and diagnose patients with CD. Few studies have investigated the mucosaassociated mycobiota in CD patients, and none the adult ileal mucosa. To investigate the role of mycobiota in ileal CD, we aimed to investigate the mycobiota in the inflamed terminal ileum and the proximal non-inflamed ileum in the same patient cohort as in paper II.

In paper III, we aimed to:

- 1. Describe mucosa-associated fungal microbiota in the ileum of CD patients in comparison to HC.
- Compare the mucosa-associated fungal microbiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileal mucosa within the same patients.

- 3. Assess the effect of inflammation on the ileal mucosa-associated fungal microbiota.
- 4. Assess the effect of ileal biopsy sampling location on the mucosa-associated fungal microbiota.

7. Summary of papers

7.1. Paper I: Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration, drug formulation and mucosal microbiome in patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis

We measured the mucosal 5-ASA concentration at three different locations (10, 25 and 40 cm proximal of the anal verge) in the distal colon of 42 patients with UC in remission using three different oral 5-ASA formulations; Mezavant, Asacol and Pentasa, in dosages 4.0-4.8g once daily. Disease activity was assessed by Mayo score and histologically by Geboes score. All patients were genotyped for NAT1 and NAT2, which encode the enzymes metabolising 5-ASA in the intestinal mucosa and liver. Faecal and mucosaassociated bacterial microbiota were assessed by 16S rRNA sequencing. We found large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentrations. Patients using Mezavant had significantly higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the distal colon and rectum than patients using Pentasa, while there was no difference in mucosal 5-ASA concentration between patients using Mezavant and Asacol. We found no correlation between NAT genotypes and mucosal 5-ASA concentration, and different NAT genotypes could not explain the large inter-individual variations in 5-ASA concentration. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was associated with alterations in the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota. High 5-ASA concentration was associated with high bacterial diversity, decreased abundances of Proteobacteria and increased abundances of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla in addition to increased abundance of 10 bacterial families and 18 bacterial genera and decreased abundance of six bacterial families and one bacterial genus. High mucosal 5-ASA was associated with a presumed favourable bacterial microbiota composition. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not associated with alterations in the faecal bacterial microbiota.

7.2. Paper II: Bacterial mucosa-associated microbiome in inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum of patients with Crohn's disease

CD patients (n=51) and HC (n=40) scheduled for endoscopic examination were recruited. Paired mucosal pinch biopsies were sampled approximately 5 cm and 15 cm orally of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis. CD patients where the 5-cm location was endoscopically inflamed, and the 15-cm location was normal were termed terminal ileitis. CD patients with endoscopic inflammation at both 5-cm and 15-cm location were termed active disease. In CD patients in remission and HC, both 5-cm and 15-cm location were endoscopically normal. In CD patients with ileal stenosis, biopsies were only sampled on 5-cm location as the stenosis prevented further intubation into the ileum. The mucosa-associated microbiota in CD patients was characterised by reduced α diversity and clear separation from HC on β -diversity plots. CD patients displayed increased abundances of Proteobacteria, Tyzzerella 4, Escherichia shigella and decreased abundances of Ruminiclostridium 5, Ruminiclostridium 6, Eisenbergiella and Faecalibacterium. The abundance of Tyzzerella 4 was profoundly increased. Comparison of the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa in 20 CD patients with terminal ileitis and no history of upper CD involvement revealed no difference in α -diversity and no separation according to β -diversity. Also, differential expression analyses did not identify any taxa to be differentially expressed between inflamed and proximal noninflamed mucosa in these patients. α -diversity and microbiota composition did not differ between 5-cm and 15-cm location within all CD patients. α - and β -diversities were also similar regardless of endoscopic inflammation. Biopsies characterised as histologically inflamed had lower α -diversity, but β -diversity did not differ according to histological inflammation. Patients with ileal stenosis clustered further away from HC than CD patients with terminal ileitis and CD patients in remission on β -diversity plots. In addition, the presumed favourable species Bacteroides massiliensis B84634 and unidentified species of Sutterella and Akkermansia were underrepresented in stricturing CD. Patients who had undergone ICR had lower α -diversity, but the bacterial composition in ICR patients did not differ from non-ICR CD patients. Summarised, our findings suggested that the altered ileal mucosa-associated microbiota in CD patients is present across different locations in the ileum and is independent of inflammation status at biopsy location.

7.3. Paper III: Fungal microbiota in the ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease

CD patients and HC scheduled for endoscopic examination were recruited (same patient cohort as paper II). Paired mucosal pinch biopsies from approximately 5 cm and 15 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis were collected. The study comprised of 44 CD patients of which 22 had terminal ileitis with endoscopic inflammation at 5-cm location and normal endoscopic appearance at 15-cm location, 10 with endoscopic inflammation at both 5- and 15-cm location and 12 with normal endoscopic appearance at both 5- and 15-cm location. Forty HC were also included. CD associated mycobiota were characterised by reduced fungal evenness, increased Basidiomycota-to-Ascomycota ratio and altered β -diversity and fungal composition compared to HC. Also, an expansion of *Malassezia* and a depletion of *Saccharomyces*, as well as increased abundances of Candida albicans and Malassezia restricta were found in CD patients compared to HC. We separately analysed the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa of 20 CD patients with terminal ileitis without a history of upper CD involvement. There was no difference in α -diversity, but the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa separated on β -diversity plots, with the inflamed mucosa harbouring a more dysbiotic mycobiota composition compared to HC and noninflamed mucosa. Several fungal taxa were found to be differentially abundant between inflamed and the proximal non-inflamed mucosa. Candida sake was increased in the inflamed mucosa, whereas *Exophiala equina* and *Debaryomyces* hansenii were increased in the proximal non-inflamed mucosa. In the whole CD cohort, neither inflammation (endoscopic and histologic) nor sub-location (5- or 15 cm) influenced fungal α - or β -diversity. Summarised, this study confirmed CD specific alterations in the mucosa-associated mycobiota and described structural alterations in

the mycobiota composition between the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileal mucosa within the same CD patients.

8. Methodological considerations

8.1. Patient material

All papers (I-III) are cross-sectional studies based on human samples. For paper I, nine mucosal pinch biopsies from the left colon (formalin-fixated or snap-frozen), faecal samples, serum and plasma samples were collected. For paper II and III (same patient cohort) a total of six mucosal pinch biopsies from the terminal ileum (formalin fixated or snap frozen), serum and plasma samples were collected. For all papers, informed and written consents were given from all patients, and the studies were approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway. Patients were recruited at the outpatient clinic, Department of Gastroenterology, St. Olav's Hospital.

In paper I, patients with established UC, confirmed by endoscopic, histologic and radiological findings using monotherapy with oral 5-ASA and in clinical remission were invited to participate. Exclusion criteria were use of rectal 5-ASA formulations, prednisolone, azathioprine, methotrexate, TNF- α medication and antibiotic or antifungal therapy within the last 3 months.

For paper II and III, patients with established CD or patients referred to ileocolonoscopy due to symptoms which could represent CD and controls referred to colonoscopy due to rectal bleeding or screening for disease were invited to participate. Exclusion criteria were use of antibacterial or antifungal treatment for the past 2 months, diabetes mellitus, primary sclerosing cholangitis, primary biliary cholangitis or celiac disease. Additional exclusion criteria for the controls were gastrointestinal polyps, cancer, diverticulitis, irritable bowel disease fulfilling ROME IV criteria (224) or previous gastrointestinal surgery. Patients with CD confirmed by endoscopic, histologic and radiological findings and controls with completely normal ileocolonoscopy (rectal bleeding permitted) were included.
8.2. Effect of bowel cleansing on mucosal 5-ASA concentration

De Vos et al. (145) studied the effect of bowel cleansing on serum 5-ASA concentrations and found that the serum concentrations during bowel cleansing were reduced to approximately 1/10 of the concentration found in steady-state before bowel cleansing was initiated. They concluded that bowel cleansing induced diarrhoea which evoked mechanical removal of intraluminal 5-ASA. Therefore, we chose to use a sorbitol enema 30-45 minutes before sigmoidoscopy in paper I. Sorbitol enema is considered to be a milder bowel emptying method and additionally, less bothersome and time consuming for the patients. However, enema-induced bowel emptying most likely removes some mucosal 5-ASA, but it is unlikely that the enema had a different effect on the different 5-ASA formulations. Additionally, all mucosal biopsies were cleansed briefly in 0.9% NaCI and dried for a few seconds on paper before being snap frozen on liquid N₂, this was done to reduce contamination from luminal 5-ASA in faecal remnants.

8.3. Effect of bowel cleansing on gut microbiota

Bowel cleansing is necessary to empty the bowel from faecal contents before an endoscopy procedure and allows safe scope intubation and visualisation of the mucosa. Bowel cleansing induces watery diarrhoea which has been reported to affect the mucosa-adherent gut microbiota (24, 225, 226). Shobar et al. (225) investigated the effect of bowel cleansing on both faecal and mucosa-associated microbiota in HC and IBD patients and found that α -diversity was reduced in biopsy samples after bowel cleansing. Additionally, bowel cleansing was associated with reductions in Actinobacteria and Tenericutes and an increase of Bacteroidetes in HC, whereas in IBD patients bowel cleansing were associated increases in Bacteroidetes and reductions in Lactobacillales order and unclassified *Streptococcaceae* and unclassified *Clostridiaceae* genera. Harrell et al. (226) investigated the effect of bowel cleansing on microbiota by comparing biopsies from HC sampled during an un-prepped sigmoidoscopy with biopsies sampled post bowel cleansing. They also included two control groups which underwent two un-prepped sigmoidoscopies with biopsy collection (either on clear

liquid diet or regular diet). In accordance with Shobar et al. (225), the authors found bowel cleansing to be associated with reduced α -diversity (richness), decreased diversity was neither found in the control groups nor in controls on liquid diet (226). The majority of papers which have studied the effect of bowel cleansing have done this in faecal samples, however based on the findings from Shobar et al. and Harrell et al. bowel cleansing appear to affect the mucosa-associated microbiota. Patients included in paper I received a 240mL sorbitol enema, which is considered to be a very mild form of bowel cleansing resulting in one or two defecations within less than 30 minutes in comparison to 10-20 after full bowel cleansing that may take hours (225). All study participants in paper II and III, both CD patients and controls underwent full bowel cleansing as it was a necessity in order to reach the terminal ileum and perform the ileocolonoscopy with good clinical quality. We and the majority of microbiota studies cannot exclude confounding effects of bowel cleansing.

8.4. Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS)

To analyse the 5-ASA concentration in the mucosa and serum in paper I ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (UHPLC-MS/MS) was applied. UHPLC-MS/MS is a method enabling quantification of drugs at high speed with high sensitivity, specificity and reproducibility (227-229). UHPLC-MS/MS combines ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) and two mass spectrometry steps (tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS)) (230). High-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) separates different compounds on a stationary phase column filled with absorbent particles, UHPLC offers enhanced separation and column capacity compared to HPLC by using columns with smaller particle diameters and higher pressure, thereby increasing the sensitivity (228, 229). Mass spectrometry separates ions according to their mass to charge ratio (m/z) (230).

8.5. NAT genotyping

NAT is the enzyme which metabolises 5-ASA to its inactive metabolite Ac-5-ASA in the intestinal mucosa. 5-ASA is mainly metabolised by NAT1, and to a small degree by NAT2 (132, 133). Different genotypes for NAT1 and NAT2 give rice to phenotypes with different enzyme activity or acetylator status. A total of 28 sequence variants or NAT1 alleles have been described to date (231). Patients, both heterozygous and homozygous of NAT1 *14A, *14B, *15, *17, *19A, *19B and *22 alleles have a reduced enzyme activity and were considered slow acetylators, while patients with other allele combinations were considered rapid acetylators (232). NAT2 genotypes are classified into rapid, intermediate and slow acetylators (232). Patients homozygous for NAT2*4 are considered rapid acetylators, patients heterozygous for NAT2*4 or NAT2*12 are considered intermediate acetylators, other allele combinations are considered slow acetylators (157, 232, 233). Rapid acetylators could potentially have lower mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than patients with a slow acetylator phenotype. Ricart et al. (157) genotyped patients using 5-ASA or sulfasalazine and found that NAT1 and NAT2 genotypes were not associated with clinical response to 5-ASA or sulfasalazine treatment. In paper I, all patients underwent both NAT1 and NAT2 genotyping. NAT genotypes were determined using Sanger sequencing on DNA isolated from EDTA preserved whole blood.

8.6. Sanger sequencing

DNA sequencing was first made available by the invention of Sanger sequencing in 1977 (234, 235). In Sanger sequencing the single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) strand is amplified by adding a primer, DNA polymerase, the four deoxynucleotide triphosphate(s) (dNTP) including deoxyadenosine triphosphate (dATP), deoxycytidine triphosphate (dCTP), deoxythymidine triphosphate (dTTP) and deoxyguanosine triphosphate (dGTP) as well as one of the four chain-terminating dideoxynucleotide triphosphate (ddNTP); ddATP, ddCTP, ddTTP or ddGTP together with the ssDNA in a mixture (236, 237). When the ddNTP is incorporated into the growing strand, it inhibits the DNA polymerase, causing

DNA elongation to stop. Four mixtures, each containing one ddNTP, are prepared. In each mixture, DNA strands of different lengths are made depending on when the ddNTP is incorporated. All four mixtures are then fractioned by electrophoresis; the shortest DNA fragments will move further down the gel. By comparing the bands on gel electrophoresis from all four mixtures, the DNA sequence can be read (235). Automated Sanger sequencing platforms were later made available, providing up to 96kb of data per run (236). Sanger sequencing was performed to NAT genotype patients in paper I.

8.7. DNA isolation of mucosal biopsies and faecal samples

In order to analyse the microbiota composition in biopsy samples or faeces, DNA needs to be extracted from the sample and purified. Mucosal pinch biopsies collected for paper I were snap frozen on liquid N₂ and stored on -80°C until DNA isolation analysis. Biopsies collected in paper II and III were directly snap-frozen on liquid N₂ and stored on liquid N₂ until DNA isolation analysis. Patients in paper I were also instructed to bring a fresh faecal sample, which were stored directly on -80°C until DNA isolation analysis.

Before DNA isolation of samples for paper I the literature was reviewed before choosing a DNA isolation kit. Previous studies investigating the mucosal microbiota in CD patients using high throughput sequencing techniques had been using a variety of different kits. For example, the paediatric studies by Gevers et al. 2014 (102) and Haberman et al. 2014 (110) used Qiagen Allprep RNA/DNA kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Morgan et al. 2012 (101) analysed both faecal and biopsy samples using QIAamp DNA stool mini kit (Qiagen), Chiodini et al. 2015, 2016 and 2018 analysed surgical resection samples from CD patients using DNeasy Powersoil Max (Qiagen) (126, 238, 239). El Mouzan et al. analysed fungal microbiota in stool and biopsies from paediatric patients using MO BIO Powersoil (MO BIO, San Diego, CA) now sold as DNeasy Powersoil (Qiagen) (129).

Only a few studies had compared relevant DNA isolation kits, and no study had compared the efficiency of the kits on mucosal biopsy samples from the GI tract. Vesty

et al. 2017 compared four DNA extraction methods including MO BIO Powersoil (now sold as DNeasy Powersoil (Qiagen)) and QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) on dental plaque and saliva samples from the oral cavity (240). They evaluated DNA quality and yield as well as bacterial and fungal microbiota structures after 16S ribosomal RNA (rRNA) sequencing of the V3-V4 region. The main findings were that the QIAamp DNA Mini kit produced greater DNA yield compared to the three other methods, but that the kits were similar in terms of bacterial diversity and abundance yield (240).

Since commercial kits used in previous mucosal microbiota papers were all owned by Qiagen, we requested Qiagen support for advice. According to recommendations by the manufacturer, the QIAamp DNA Mini Kit would isolate genomic DNA from patients and gram-negative bacteria, however the lysis procedure was not compatible with isolating gram-positive bacteria. Whereas, DNeasy Powersoil and QIAamp DNA PowerSoil both have a lysis strategy based on bead beating, which would allow isolation of both gramnegative and gram-positive bacteria, including genomic DNA from humans (personal communication). Inclusion of a Proteinase K digestion step after homogenisation with bead beating was also recommended (personal communication).

We chose to use QIAamp PowerFecal (Qiagen) and DNeasy PowerSoil (Qiagen) to isolate DNA from faecal samples and biopsy samples, respectively, in paper I and II. Manufacturer's protocol was followed except from the following adjustments; step 3 and 4 in the protocol (vortexing) was replaced by bead-beating using Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France) at 5000 rpm x 3 rounds of 40 seconds. After bead beating and before centrifuging (Step 5) 20 μ L of Proteinase K 20mg/mL were added and samples incubated at 65°C for 30 minutes (paper I and II).

After DNA isolation was performed for paper I, a study comparing DNA isolation kits in faecal samples was published (241), this study compared QIAamp Stool Mini kit and QIAamp PowerFecal. The main findings were that all methods generated adequate DNA

concentrations and DNA quality for sequencing. However, the inclusion of a beadbeating step generated higher microbial diversity and caused increased abundances of gram-positive bacteria (241), further supporting that bead-beating was of importance to regenerate the true microbial composition in the sample. Bead-beating was performed in all studies (I-III).

DNA isolation performed in previous mucosa-associated mycobiota papers varied, but two papers reported to use MO BIO Powersoil (67, 129). A co-author had performed ITS-1 sequencing of faeces from IBD patients (242) using a DNA isolation protocol provided from David Underhill (243) which was designed to destroy the fungal cell wall which is well-known to be challenging to lyse. Therefore, we performed a pilot-study were paired samples from the ileum of IBD patients and HC were isolated with DNeasy PowerSoil (Qiagen) including bead-beating step and proteinase K digestion step and the Underhill protocol including a lyticase treatment step, a bead-beating step and QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen). PCR products from 18S rRNA PCR amplification were run on a Bioanalyzer (DNA 1000) chip (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA). Based on the result's samples isolated with the Underhill protocol harboured more fungal DNA and less contamination and the Underhill DNA isolation protocol was chosen to isolate samples for paper III.

After DNA isolation, the samples for paper I and II were quality tested using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Nanodrop uses UV-light to give an estimate of the total DNA concentration (ng/µL) (including all DNA, both human, bacterial, fungal) and the purity of the DNA (260/280 and 260/230 nm ratio). Since DNA absorb light at around 260 nm, and contaminants at around 280 and 230, a low 260/280 or 260/230 ratio indicate contamination. A DNA concentration above 30 ng/µL together with 260/280 ratio \geq 1.8 and 260/230 ratio \geq 2.0 was considered adequate. For paper I-III, DNA in samples were quantified using Qubit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Qubit is more specific than UV absorbance measurements as the Qubit assay kits only fluorescence when bound to the selected molecule in this case DNA. Qubit can

detect low DNA concentrations. The isolated samples for paper I-III were stored on - 80°C until library preparation and amplicon sequencing.

8.8. High throughput sequencing

High throughput sequencing (HTS) or so-called next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies have been available from 2005, enabling massive DNA sequencing in a short time, the first NGS platforms provided up to 1 GB of data per run. However, NGS also enabled massive parallel sequencing (sequencing millions of fragments instead of one DNA fragment simultaneously) and simultaneously sequencing of multiple genes in the same run with high data output (236). By 2014 sequencing platforms generated up to 1.8 Tb of data per run (244, 245).

HTS/NGS include different sequencing strategies, for example, whole metagenomic shotgun sequencing targets to sequence all available DNA, while amplicon sequencing only targets to sequence the DNA of interest captured by the sequencing primer. The most widely used sequencing method in microbiota research is amplicon sequencing.

8.9. 16s rRNA and ITS primers

The 16S rRNA gene is highly conserved between Bacteria and Archaea, meaning that the DNA sequence is identical within different taxa of Bacteria. The 16S rRNA gene consists of nine hypervariable regions, within these regions, the DNA sequence (order of nucleotides) varies, enabling characterisation of different taxa (73). 16S rRNA sequencing is based on identification and capturing of the 16S gene in a sample by binding a primer in the conserved region upstream to the hypervariable region of interest, following amplifying the 16S rRNA DNA strands by PCR and subsequent sequencing. Choice of 16S primers significantly affect the sequencing result, for example, the V5 region enables identification of bacteria on phylum level whereas the Shannon diversity index is higher in the V3/V4 region (244). A recent review paper

recommended to sequence the V3/V4 region or the V4 region (244). In paper I and II primers targeting the V3 and V4 region were chosen.

In fungi, the nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) is the standard DNA barcode (246). The preferred ITS region for fungi amplicon sequencing is not established (14), both ITS1 and ITS2 can be used for identification of fungi. Figure 10 provide a visualisation of the fungal rRNA locus and localisation of the ITS regions. A challenge with the ITS regions is that they vary in length between fungi from 200 to 800 base pairs (14), in comparison to the 16S rRNA in bacteria. Primers against both ITS regions have been used in previous publications, alone (109, 247, 248) or in combination (249). There is no evidence to support that one ITS region should be preferred over the other (14). In paper III, we performed ITS2 sequencing.



Figure 10. Fungal rRNA locus with location of ITS1 and ITS2 sequences. Figure from Richard and Sokol (14). Reprinted/modified with permission from Springer Nature.

8.10. Amplicon sequencing

Amplicon sequencing is a targeted approach to analyse a specific genomic region by ultra-deep sequencing of PCR amplicons. The first step of amplicon sequencing is library preparation (250). Library preparation includes fragmentation of the DNA, binding of primers, amplification by PCR and ligation of adapters to the flanks of the DNA (Figure 11) (250). Illumina 16s metagenomics sequencing library preparation was used for paper I and paper II, while Illumina fungal metagenomic sequencing protocol (251) was used in paper III. In these protocols, indices and the adapters are ligated to the DNA fragments. The indices are tags which are unique for each sample enabling identification after pooling. The adapters are complementary to the surface-bound oligonucleotides of the flow cell (245).



Figure 11. Figure modified from Illumina 2014, 16s Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation (252). Used under license from Illumina, Inc. All rights Reserved. Illustrating library preparation with binding of forward and reverse 16S rRNA primer (green and purple respectively) capturing the DNA sequence of interest (grey). Then index tags (orange and blue) and sequencing adapters (P5 and P7) are ligated to the flanking DNA. Libraries are then normalized and pooled.

After library preparation, the samples are ready to be sequenced. There exist several sequencing platforms, for all papers we have used Illumina MiSeq platform (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) which has been recommended as a standardised protocol by the Earth Microbiome Project (244). However, several papers investigating the mucosal

microbiota in IBD with HTS have used 454 pyrosequencing or Ion Torrent sequencing (99, 111, 117, 253).

For Illumina sequencing platforms, the first sequencing step is cluster amplification; the sequencing library is loaded into a flow cell where the ligated adapters attach to the complementary oligonucleotides on the flow cell surface (245). Each DNA fragment is then amplified into separate clusters by a process called bridge amplification (Figure 12B). After bridge amplification, fluorescently labelled dNTPs are added together with sequencing reagents. All four dNTPs are present and compete for binding to the elongating DNA strand, every time a dNTP is incorporated to a cluster colour is emitted and recorded by imaging, identifying the newly incorporated base by its colour (Figure 12C) (254). The cycle is repeated multiple times.



Figure 12. Figure modified from Illumina 2017, An introduction to Next-Generation Sequencing Technology (245). Used under license from Illumina, Inc. All rights Reserved. The figure illustrates Illumina next generation sequencing workflow with the four steps: A: Library preparation, B: Cluster amplification, C: sequencing, D: data analysis.

8.11. Bioinformatic analysis

The bioinformatic pipeline contains detailed information regarding all steps in the bioinformatic analysis of the sequencing data. Many different pipelines and software packages are used (255). The bioinformatic pipeline typically includes quality filtering, taxonomic classification of sequences and statistical analysis of data (73). Quality filtering involves removal of low-quality sequences and chimeric sequences, the latter being a PCR artefact forming hybrid sequences which originates from two unrelated parent sequences. Further, raw sequences are trimmed, which implies removal of the sequenced primer adapters (which enabled binding to the flow cell) (255). The taxonomic classification involves amplicon sequence identification by using a reference database of previously classified sequences, such as Ribosomal Database Project (RDP), Greengenes or SILVA (255, 256). It exists two main approaches for sequence identification, either via direct assignment of amplicon sequences to phylotypes or indirectly by comparing the operational taxonomic unit (OTU) reference sequence (73) to the reference database. An OTU is a cluster of similar sequences grouped together based on sequence similarity, 97% similarity is normally required to form an OTU (73, 255).

In paper I, Quantitative Insights into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) pipeline was applied to cluster sequences into OTUs, and taxonomic classification was performed using RDP trained on Greengenes database. OTU tables were generated and subsequently quality filtered to include only OTUs from Bacteria kingdom. Core microbiome was estimated by requiring 10% prevalence of detected OTUs (>1 sequence). DESeq2 R package was applied for statistical analysis (257). α -diversity was assessed by Shannon entropy.

Count tables of the core microbiota at different taxonomic ranks were imported into DESeq2 R package to estimate the correlation between OTUs and the log-transformed mucosal 5-ASA concentrations. DESeq2 regression model was used for identifying significant OTUs.

In paper II, QIIME II pipeline was applied, and sequence data were filtered using DADA2, which is a software package that acts as a denoiser and corrects Illumina amplicon errors without constructing OTUs (258). Direct taxonomic classification was performed matching the sequences to phylotypes using the SILVA database. DESeq2 was applied for statistical analysis (257) and count tables at a given taxonomic rank were imported into DESeq2 R package to estimate differential expression. α -diversity was assessed by Shannon entropy and β -diversity by Bray- Curtis dissimilarity index.

For all bioinformatic analyses performed in paper I-II, p-values were estimated using a Wald test and adjusted for multiple testing by Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate correction, p-values of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

In paper III, the FROGS pipeline established in Toulouse, France (259) was applied for sequence quality control, filtering and affiliation of taxa. Sequences were taxonomically identified using the UNITE database, which has undergone quality improvements (260). DESeq2 was applied for statistical analysis of OTUs according to phenotype (257). The linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) algorithm (261) was used to identify taxa that were specific to phenotype or inflamed vs proximal non-inflamed mucosa. α -diversity was assessed by observed OTUs and Simpson index and β -diversity by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index and Jaccard index. P-values of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

8.12. Challenges with amplicon sequencing

All steps, from sampling (mucosal tissue or faeces, mucosal pinch biopsy location), sampling storage (liquid N₂ or freezing, preservatives), DNA extraction, 16S rRNA or ITS

primer choice, library preparation, sequencing platform and bioinformatic pipeline will influence the result of microbiota composition (73), illustrated in Figure 13. DNA isolation method determines what DNA is isolated as well as DNA quality. The primer will influence what part of the DNA is "captured" and subsequently sequenced. Library preparation and sequencing method will influence sequencing quality and amplification of the sequences. Finally, the quality filtering, reference database for taxonomic classification and statistical analysis will impact the final results. Even small differences in the methodological steps can affect the reported microbial composition (73). Due to large methodological differences, it can be challenging to compare results from different microbiota studies. Another challenge with amplicon sequencing is that sequencing is performed on PCR products (amplicons) and the abundance of different amplicons does not necessarily reflect the natural abundances at the sample origin.



Figure 13. Methodological steps influencing results of high-throughput sequencing. Figure modified from Tyler et al. (73). Modified with permission from Wolters Kluwer.

There is also uncertainty regarding whether one or a few sample(s) contain the complete or a representative microbiota composition compared to the actual biological diversity of the environment they were sampled from.

Furthermore, each sample gains different numbers of sequences (library size) which reflects the sequencing process rather than the true biological variation between samples (262). The taxonomic classification reference databases are accurate down to genus level, however species level classification is associated with less accuracy and specificity (255). Another challenge is that OTU/amplicon sequence variant (ASV) files do not follow normal distribution. Values are often bound by 0 or 1, and many microbial organisms are detected only in a few samples resulting in a sparse OTU file meaning that it contains many zeros, altogether making the bioinformatic statistical analysis complicated (73, 262).

8.13. H&E staining and histological classification

For paper I, three biopsy samples (one from each location; 10 cm, 25 cm and 40 cm proximal of the anal verge) were formalin-fixed and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). For paper II and III, two biopsy samples (one from each location: 5 cm and 15 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve or anastomosis) were formalin-fixed and stained with H&E. The pathology assessment was for all papers (I-III) blinded and performed by an experienced pathologist. For paper I, biopsies were assessed by Geboes histological score (42), histological remission was defined as Geboes score <2.1 in accordance with deep remission defined by Magro et al. (263). For paper II and III, biopsies were evaluated by Global Histologic Disease Activity Score (GHAS) and Robarts score (43, 44, 264). However, a validated histological scoring index for evaluation of CD disease activity does not exist. Histological evaluation of all mucosal pinch biopsies in paper II and III guaranteed normal histological classification of HCs.

8.14. Statistical analysis

For all statistical analyses, a p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

8.14.1. Descriptive statistics

Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients in papers I-III were presented using mean value (standard deviation (SD)) for normally distributed variables, median (interquartile range (IQR)) for variables with skewed distribution and n (%) for categorical variables. The mean value is the average value of all measurements. SD is a measure for variation between sample measurements and is calculated by the square root of the sample variance. The median value is the middle value of all measurements. IQR is also a measure of variation between sample measurements, it is calculated by the difference between the 75th percentile and 25th percentile. The 25th percentile or first quartile is defined as the value where one forth or 25% of all measurements are below the value similarly, the 75th percentile or third quartile is the value where 25% of the measurements are above the value.

Concentrations are often presented as log concentrations which implies that each concentration value differs by a constant, making the values equally spaced from each other and thus the distribution less skewed. In paper I, mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the different 5-ASA formulation groups were presented as geometric mean (95% confidence interval (CI)). The geometric mean is applied to find the mean value on a logarithmic scale and calculating the value back to the original scale. The geometric mean is calculated by the antilogarithm of log x. The 95% CI is defined as a calculated interval which will contain the true parameter in 95% of all random samples obtained from a reference population.

8.14.2. Parametric tests

Parametric tests depend on normal distribution of variables.

The Independent Samples t Test or two-sample independent t Test tests if there is a statistical difference between the means of two groups. The test requires samples and

groups to be independent of each other. Independent Samples *t* Test was applied in paper II and III.

One-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) is applied to determine if the means of two or more groups are different, the test requires variables to follow normal distribution and have the same variance. The ANOVA *F* test tests if the overall mean between for example three groups are different, it is important to notice that if the test shows a statistical difference, we still do not know which mean is different. ANOVA was applied in paper I.

8.14.3. Non-parametric tests

Non-parametric tests are applied when the sample size is small, or the variable is not normally distributed, or a combination of the two. The advantage of non-parametric tests are that they do not depend on normal distribution, however if the data is truly normally distributed, some statistical power will be lost by using a non-parametric test. The Mann Whitney *U* test is the non-parametric analogue to the two-sample independent *t* test, and it is used to compare the means of two groups. The test is based on ranks of observation, meaning that each observational value from the two groups is replaced by a rank and the test calculated based on the rank sum. The Kruskal-Wallis test is analogous to the Mann Whitney *U* test and allows comparisons between more than two groups. We applied the Mann Whitney *U* test in paper I-III and Kruskal Wallis test in paper I.

The Chi-square test or X² test is a non-parametric test which is applied to test for associations between two categorical variables. Chi-square test is based on the arrangement of a contingency table and computation of the observed and expected count in each cell. The null hypothesis is that the expected and observed values are not significantly different. The Chi-square test require that the expected values are not too low; not more than 1/5 of cells can have an expected value <5 and no cell can have an expected value of <1. If the expected values of some cells are low, a Fisher-Exact test should be performed. The Chi-square test was performed in paper I-III, and Fisher-Exact test was performed in paper II and III.

82

8.14.4. Multilevel linear mixed model

Multilevel linear mixed model or linear mixed-effect models are suitable for datasets with repeated measurements, missing data and datasets with an unbalanced data structure. The multilevel linear mixed model is an extension of standard linear regression where hierarchical data structure (repeated measurements, for instance) are taken into account.

In paper I, we had repeated 5-ASA concentration measurements at different locations in the distal colon within each patient, also the number of measurements at the different locations were not the same (two samples at 10 cm, one at 25 cm and two at 40 cm proximal of the anal verge), which made the multilevel mixed linear model suitable. 5-ASA formulation and biopsy location were included in the model as fixed factors, whereas subject was defined as a random factor to account for the dependency of the repeated measurements (10, 25 and 40 cm) and order of observation (two samples at 10 cm and 40 cm and one sample at 25 cm). An interaction term between 5-ASA formulation and location was included in the model to test whether the difference in mean 5-ASA concentration by location differed between 5-ASA formulations, and conversely, whether the difference in mean values between 5-ASA formulations differed by location.

9. Results and discussion

9.1. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration in patients with UC

5-ASA is the first-line therapy in patients with UC and acts locally in the intestinal mucosa. In paper I, we measured mucosal 5-ASA concentration in the distal colon and rectum (at the following locations: 10, 25 and 40 cm proximal of the anal verge) of patients with UC using high dose (4.0-4.8 g/day) oral 5-ASA. We found large interindividual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration in the distal colon and declining concentrations towards the rectum, in accordance with previous studies (144, 146-149). However, the intra-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration, i.e. variation in mucosa 5-ASA concentration between the different locations in the colon and rectum within the same patient were small, suggesting that individual factors contribute to the variations and not location-dependent factors. It has been proposed that intraluminal pH, NAT genotype, GI transit time and disease pattern can contribute to the variation (153, 157, 265). However, we ruled out differences in NAT genotype as influential on mucosal 5-ASA concentration (paper I).

9.2. Effect of 5-ASA formulation on mucosal 5-ASA concentration

Previous studies have found Asacol to yield higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than Pentasa (145, 147). Very few randomised controlled trials (RCTs) have compared pHdependent and time-dependent 5-ASA formulations in terms of clinical efficacy (169, 266), and to the best of our knowledge, none have compared these formulations in maximum dosages. A recent meta-analysis concluded that the different 5-ASA formulations are equally efficient, however this the conclusion was based on comparison of 6 RCTs, of which none included Mezavant formulation, altogether the evidence was considered low quality (169). We aimed to compare mucosal 5-ASA concentration in patients using three different 5-ASA formulations, Mezavant, Asacol and Pentasa (paper I). We included 18 patients using Mezavant, 14 using Asacol and 10 using Pentasa. We found no significant difference in overall mean 5-ASA formulations (Mezavant 2.39 ng/mg, Asacol 1.60 ng/mg and Pentasa 0.57 ng/mg, p=0.099). However, pairwise comparison showed a significant difference between Mezavant and Pentasa (p=0.033), but not between Mezavant and Asacol (p=0.50). Mezavant and Asacol both depend on a pH-dependent release of 5-ASA, while Pentasa utilises a time-dependent release. Yu et al. measured 5-ASA concentrations in intestinal fluids collected with a GI tube, the authors found Pentasa to start releasing 5-ASA in the stomach, while 5-ASA release from Mezavant was minimal in the upper GI tract (152). Our results suggest that the availability of 5-ASA in the colonic mucosa is significant for developing high mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the distal colon and rectum. However, a minimum therapeutic 5-ASA mucosal concentration equivalent to minimum inhibitory concentration in antibiotic therapy or trough level for biologic treatment has not been established (146, 267). Nevertheless, several studies have found mucosal 5-ASA concentration to be inversely correlated to UC disease activity (144, 148) and our findings support that pH-dependent 5-ASA formulations should be preferred when prescribing 5-ASA to UC patients with inflammation in the distal colon.

9.3. Effect of 5-ASA concentration on the mucosa-associated microbiota

In addition to measuring the mucosal 5-ASA concentration in 42 UC patients, we also sequenced the mucosa-associated and faecal bacterial microbiota (paper I). We found an association between mucosal 5-ASA concentration and mucosal bacterial diversity and abundance of bacterial taxa at all taxonomic levels. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated with bacterial diversity and presumed beneficial alterations the mucosa-associated microbiota such as decreased abundances of Proteobacteria phylum, increased abundances of Firmicutes phylum and Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae families. *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* was also found to be positively associated with mucosal 5-ASA concentration. *F. prausnitzii* is considered an anti-inflammatory bacterium as it produces butyrate which supplies colonocytes with nutrition, has immunomodulatory effects and anti-inflammatory attributes (20, 114, 268). *F. prausnitzii* also produces an anti-inflammatory protein itself (269). An inverse

relationship between F. prausnitzii levels and IBD disease activity has been described in several studies (115, 268, 270). Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not associated with faecal bacterial diversity, and the association between mucosal 5-ASA concentration and faecal bacterial composition was minor compared to the alterations in the mucosaassociated microbiota. The association between 5-ASA concentration and mucosaassociated microbiota alterations could be explained by a direct effect of 5-ASA on bacteria's ability to attach and live in close proximity to the mucosa, this could be supported by the following previous findings I) direct effect of 5-ASA on bacterial in vitro growth and growth in cell cultures (219, 220) II) 5-ASA effect on bacterial gene expression causing reduced bacterial invasiveness (221) III) 5-ASA acting as a polyPkinase (PPK) inhibitor and thereby decreasing some bacteria's ability to colonise and increase their susceptibility to oxidative stress (141) and IV) decreasing concentrations of mucosal adherent bacteria after 5-ASA use (222). Another explanation could be that 5-ASAs effect on inflammatory mediators possibly causes alterations in the intestinal permeability or defence against commensal bacteria in the gut lumen, for instance through altering the synthesis and secretion of AMPs. However, even though we found an association between mucosal 5-ASA concentration and mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota, we have not proven a causal relationship or a mechanistic explanation. We did not assess the mucosa-associated microbiota before 5-ASA treatment, however two other studies have assessed this and found that 5-ASA treatment indeed alters bacterial microbiota in the faeces and the mucosa (223, 271).

Altogether our results demonstrate that mucosal 5-ASA concentrations are correlated with postulated favourable alterations in the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota composition. Our findings accentuate 5-ASAs cornerstone role in UC treatment and are in support of high-dose 5-ASA treatment. The positive microbiota alterations can possibly be beneficial even though treatment with immunomodulators or biologic treatment is needed. However, a recent ECCO review stated that it is uncertain if continuation of 5-ASA therapy after initiation of immunomodulators or anti-TNF therapy gives additional benefit beyond the chemoprotective effects of 5-ASA (172). Interestingly, a recent study reported that 5-ASA also had an impact on the mucosaassociated mycobiota decreasing the fungal genera *Scytalidium, Fusarium, Sporobolomyces, Paecilomyces, Morchella* and *Mortierella* and increasing *Wickerhamomyces*, altogether suggesting that 5-ASA decreased pathogenic fungal colonisation in the mucosa of UC patients (272).

9.4. Alterations in mucosa-associated ileal microbiota of patients with CD

Many CD patients have genetic polymorphisms causing impaired recognition and defence against gut microbes. An altered microbiota composition, commonly called dysbiosis, is found in CD patients. In paper II and III, we assessed the bacterial and fungal mucosa-associated microbiota in the ileum of CD patients, respectively. We found that CD patients displayed lower bacterial α -diversity and an altered bacterial microbiota composition compared to HC (paper II). Proteobacteria,

Enterobacteriaceae, *Tyzzerella 4* and *Escherichia shigella* were overrepresented in our CD patient cohort, while *Ruminiclostridium 5*, *Ruminiclostridium 6*, *Eisenbergiella* and *Faecalibacterium* were reduced. Increased abundances of Proteobacteria, Enterobacteriaceae and *Escherichia shigella* and reduced abundances of *Ruminiclostridium* and *Faecalibacterium* are in accordance with previous literature (99, 101, 102, 110, 117, 125, 249). The remarkably increased abundance of *Tyzzerella 4* (27-fold (log2), p=4.1 x 10⁻⁶⁸) in CD patients was a novel finding. From the limited literature that exist on *Tyzzerella 4*, increased abundances have been found in the colonic mucosa of persons with low dietary quality according to the Healthy Eating Index as well as increased abundances in the stool of patients with high cardiovascular risk (192, 273). Recently, faecal abundances of *Tyzzerella 4* in CD remains to be resolved, and further research is warranted. The alterations in the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota of CD patients found in our study and previous literature points toward a dysbiotic state in CD characterised by increased abundances of potentially

87

pathogenic facultative anaerobe bacteria and reduced abundances of beneficial obligate anaerobes (30).

The ileal mucosa-associated mycobiota was also altered in CD patients compared to HC (paper III). CD patients displayed reduced fungal evenness, increased abundances of Basidiomycota along with decreased abundances of Ascomycota and Chytridiomycota and an altered fungal composition according to β -diversity. We also identified several differentially abundant fungal taxa between CD patients and HC. In CD patients, we found an enrichment of *Malassezia* and a depletion of *Saccharomyces* at genus level, while at species level Candida albicans and Malassezia restricta were enriched. Our findings are in consistence with previous findings in faeces, mucosa and water-lavage samples of CD patients (67, 109, 129, 248). Interestingly, our findings unify the different findings from previous fungal studies confirming an altered mycobiota profile in CD patients. There is evidence to suggest that the CD associated mycobiota alterations are, similar to alterations in the bacterial microbiota, unfavourable. In mice models, both Malassezia restricta and Candida albicans have been shown to deteriorate colitis (67, 275). Whereas, Saccharomyces has been shown to have antiinflammatory attributes (14, 213, 248). Genetic polymorphisms may influence the mycobiota alterations in CD, at least in part as a positive association between the abundance of Malassezia restricta and CARD9 polymorphism are found (67). Furthermore, as fungi and bacteria interact closely, the perturbations in mycobiota and bacterial microbiota composition are likely to have co-evolved (14, 276). We did not correlate the bacterial and fungal microbiota composition to each other, however this would be interesting to do in the future. Also, CD patients have an altered composition of viruses, and we have not assessed the viral microbiota in CD patients (123).

9.5. The mucosa-associated microbiota in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileum of patients with CD

To investigate the role of ileal microbiota composition on CD pathogenesis we compared the mucosa-associated microbiota in the inflamed terminal ileum (5-cm location) and the proximal non-inflamed ileum (15-cm location) in CD patients with no history of upper GI CD (paper II and III). In paper II, we assessed the mucosaassociated bacterial microbiota. We found no difference in bacterial α -diversity, β diversity or differential expression of any bacterial taxa between the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa. This suggests that the bacterial microbiota is similar within CD patients across ileal sub-locations and regardless of endoscopic inflammation.

In paper III, we assessed the mucosa-associated mycobiota. We found no difference in fungal α -diversity between the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa. However, on β -diversity plots, there was a clear separation with inflamed samples clustering furthest away from HC and non-inflamed samples clustering in between, suggesting a more profoundly altered fungal composition, possibly dysbiotic, within the inflamed mucosa compared to the proximal non-inflamed mucosa. The fungal composition between inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa differed. We identified six fungal taxa which were increased in inflamed samples and four taxa which were increased in non-inflamed samples. Within the inflamed mucosa Cordycipitaceae and Sporidiobolaceae families, Lecanicillium genus and Candida sake were increased, while Exophiala and Debaryomyces genera, identified as Exophiala equina and Debaryomyces hansenii at species level were increased in the proximal non-inflamed mucosa. We are, to the best of our knowledge the first to assess differences in the mycobiota between the inflamed terminal or neoterminal ileum and the proximal non-inflamed ileum of the same CD patients.

In comparison, Liguori and colleagues assessed the bacterial and fungal microbiota in inflamed and non-inflamed colon samples from CD patients during relapse (109). They found similar fungal OTU number, but increased abundances of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Filobasidium uniguttulatum* in non-inflamed mucosa and increased Xylariales order in inflamed mucosa. Interestingly, they also found changes in the mycobiota but not in bacterial microbiota between inflamed vs non-inflamed samples from the same patients.

Summarised, our findings suggest that the fungal microbiota, but not the bacterial microbiota is altered in the inflamed ileum compared to the proximal non-inflamed ileum within the same CD patients. It is difficult to interpret the implications these mycobiota alterations have without mechanistic studies. It can be speculated that fungi overrepresented in the inflamed mucosa trigger inflammation. However, the altered fungal composition could also be a result of altered immunological activity or mucosal barrier between inflamed and non-inflamed mucosa. Future studies are needed to conclude which impact the differentially abundant taxa have on the mucosa and mucosal immune system, this could also possibly elucidate fungi's role in CD pathogenesis. Nevertheless, we have not assessed the viral microbiota and cannot exclude viral factors to contribute to why the terminal ileum and neoterminal ileum is the predilection site for CD inflammation.

9.6. Impact of ileal sub-location and inflammation on the mucosa-

associated microbiota

We specifically assessed the impact of ileal sub-location, endoscopic and histologic inflammation in CD patients with respect to bacterial and fungal microbiota in paper II and III, respectively. In paper II, we found that CD patients with histological inflammation had a lower α -diversity than CD patients without histological inflammation. However, β -diversity did not differ according to histological inflammation. Due to the focality of CD, histology can often be normal despite endoscopic inflammation. In our cohort,

histologic inflammation concurred in the majority of cases with endoscopic inflammation, possibly suggesting that patients with histologic inflammation had a higher degree of inflammation. Previously, Sokol and co-authors (128) have found reduced bacterial α -diversity in mucosa with Rutgeerts score i2-i4, but not in mucosa with Rutgeerts score i0-i1. Altogether this may indicate that bacterial α -diversity is only reduced in severely inflamed mucosa. Endoscopic inflammation did not impact bacterial α -diversity or β -diversity in our cohort. Similarly, did not ileal sub-location influence bacterial diversity and no differentially abundant taxa between sample locations in the ileum were identified.

In paper III, the effect of inflammation and ileal sub-location on the mucosa-associated mycobiota was assessed. Mycobiota was similar both according to α -diversity and β -diversity regardless of endoscopic inflammation, histologic inflammation and ileal sub-location. Ileal sub-location influenced neither mycobiota in CD patients nor HC. Altogether, neither inflammation nor ileal sub-location seemed to alter the mycobiota biodiversity or composition alone.

There have been conflicting results regarding the effect of inflammation on mucosaassociated bacterial microbiota composition. Some studies have reported differences in microbiota composition between inflamed and non-inflamed ileal and colon segments (111, 277), while others have found the mucosal microbiota composition to be similar irrespective of inflammatory state (107, 116, 121). There are few studies that have assessed mycobiota in inflamed vs non-inflamed mucosa, Liguori found differences in fungal composition between inflamed and non-inflamed colonic mucosa in the same CD patients (109). Another study assessing the fungal microbiota between inflamed and non-inflamed mucosa by PCR and Denaturing Gel Gradient Electrophoresis found increased fungal richness and diversity in inflamed mucosa (278). However, these methods are less sensitive for detection of fungal taxa in comparison to ITS2 sequencing. The causal relationship between IBD and dysbiosis is unresolved, however our findings have delineated the role of mucosal inflammation on IBD dysbiosis. Based on our findings in paper II and III, we argue that sub-location in the ileum and inflammation does not influence bacterial or fungal α -diversity or composition in the ileal mucosa of CD patients.

9.7. Bacterial microbiota alterations associated with CD phenotype and ICR

The majority of CD patients in our cohort had undergone ICR. Previous analyses of the bacterial microbiota at ICR and postoperatively have found specific bacterial microbiota profiles associated with disease recurrence (99, 128). Therefore, we assessed if ICR was associated with a distinct bacterial microbiota profile in our cohort (paper II). We found ICR to be associated with decreased bacterial α -diversity, but not with β -diversity. Within our cohort of ICR CD patients, disease recurrence was associated with increased abundances of *Parasutterella*, which belongs to the class of Gammaproteobacteria, which previously has been associated with disease recurrence (100, 128). However, most of the patients in our cohort had undergone ICR a long time before the assessment of the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota and it is therefore difficult to draw further conclusions of our findings.

We also assessed the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota between different CD phenotypes in paper II. We found that patients with stricturing CD (n=7) clustered furthest away from HC compared to the other CD phenotypes (remission and terminal ileitis) on β -diversity plots. Additionally, we found a depletion of the presumed beneficial species *Bacteroides massiliensis B84634*, unidentified species of *Sutterella* and unidentified species of *Akkermansia* in CD patients with stricturing disease compared to CD patients with terminal ileitis. These findings were based on a very small subset of patients and must be interpreted with caution. However, several studies point towards specific microbiota alterations in CD phenotypes (279, 280). Increased abundances of *Ruminococcus* and decreased abundances of *Rothia* has been

found in ileal biopsies from patients with stricturing CD in comparison to CD patients without stricturing or penetrating disease behaviour (279). Based on the findings in paper II, we speculate that CD patients with stricturing disease have a more profoundly altered bacterial microbiota with increased depletion of beneficial bacteria.

10. Conclusions

- Large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration in the left hemicolon and rectum exist despite intake of equivalent oral 5-ASA dose, Mezavant yields higher 5-ASA concentrations than Pentasa, no significant differences between Mezavant and Asacol was found.
- NAT1 and NAT2 genotype could not explain inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration.
- Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated with bacterial diversity and a presumed beneficial bacterial composition the mucosa.
- 4. CD patients have an altered ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota in comparison to HC.
- The mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileal mucosa of the same patients did not differ according to bacterial α- or β-diversity or differential expression of bacterial taxa.
- Endoscopic inflammation does not influence mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota according to α- or β-diversity or differential expression of bacterial taxa. Histologic inflammation was associated with reduced bacterial αdiversity, but not associated with an altered β-diversity.
- 7. Ileal sub-location did not influence bacterial α or β -diversity or differential expression of bacterial taxa in CD patients.
- CD patients display an altered ileal mucosa-associated mycobiota profile compared to HC.

- 9. The mucosa-associated mycobiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum of the same CD patients are structurally different.
- 10. Inflammation, both endoscopic and histologic did not impact α or β -diversity of the mucosa-associated mycobiota of CD patients overall.
- 11. Ileal sub-location did not impact α or β -diversity of the mucosa-associated mycobiota, neither in CD patients nor HC.

11. Future perspectives

The large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentrations are not understood but may be important to optimize treatment with oral 5-ASA preparations. In future work, it would be valuable to measure the luminal pH in the ileum and colon of patients using pH-dependent 5-ASA preparations and correlate pH with measured mucosal 5-ASA concentrations. It would also be interesting to measure the effect of GI transit time on mucosal 5-ASA concentration in order to broaden our understanding of underlying mechanisms associated with variation in mucosal 5-ASA concentration.

In paper II and III, we assessed the bacterial and fungal microbiota in patients with established CD at one-time point. It is challenging to design studies that clearly delineate the cause-and-effect relationships between microbiota and IBD. However, measuring the mucosa-associated microbiota at diagnosis, before treatment initiation and during follow-up as well as assessing microbiota characteristics in different CD phenotypes in multivariate analyses accounting for medical therapy, diet and smoking would be interesting.

Alteration of gut microbiota has an important therapeutic potential in many diseases including IBD, obesity, Clostridium difficile colitis and colorectal cancer (69, 199, 218). Alteration of the microbiota can be achieved through FMT and possibly by bacteriophages and pharmaceutically produced microbiota- cocktails or capsules in the future. There are many drawbacks with FMT, as we are oblivious to which microorganisms and microbiota-linked diseases we may transfer. However, microbiota alteration is a promising therapeutic tool as many diseases seems to be linked to GI microbiota and modifications of the microbiota towards HC seem to improve the disease (215, 216, 218). Nevertheless, more research is warranted to characterize the complex interplay between microbial components such as bacteria, fungi, phages and viruses, including their metabolites in the gut. Increased knowledge about the complex interplay between the microbiota and host immune system is also needed. Large research groups

and networks aim to characterize the microbiota, the interplay between bacteria, fungi, viruses and their metabolites in IBD patients using multi-omics platforms with subsequent hypothesis testing in ex vivo models. Such studies could contribute to tailoring targeted microbiota alterations that could affect the course of IBD.

12. References

1. Mowat AM, Agace WW. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2014;14(10):667-85.

2. Teitelbaum EN, Vaziri K, Zettervall S, Amdur RL, Orkin BA. Intraoperative small bowel length measurements and analysis of demographic predictors of increased length. Clin Anat. 2013;26(7):827-32.

3. Peterson LW, Artis D. Intestinal epithelial cells: regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2014;14(3):141-53.

4. Clevers H. The intestinal crypt, a prototype stem cell compartment. Cell. 2013;154(2):274-84.

5. Barker N, van Es JH, Kuipers J, Kujala P, van den Born M, Cozijnsen M, et al. Identification of stem cells in small intestine and colon by marker gene Lgr5. Nature. 2007;449(7165):1003-7.

6. Caruso R, Lo BC, Núñez G. Host–microbiota interactions in inflammatory bowel disease. Nature Reviews Immunology. 2020;20(7):411-26.

7. Sternini C, Anselmi L, Rozengurt E. Enteroendocrine cells: a site of 'taste' in gastrointestinal chemosensing. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2008;15(1):73-8.

8. Gerbe F, Jay P. Intestinal tuft cells: epithelial sentinels linking luminal cues to the immune system. Mucosal Immunol. 2016;9(6):1353-9.

9. Bevins CL, Salzman NH. Paneth cells, antimicrobial peptides and maintenance of intestinal homeostasis. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011;9(5):356-68.

10. Jung C, Hugot JP, Barreau F. Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. Int J Inflam. 2010;2010:823710.

11. Wang M, Gao Z, Zhang Z, Pan L, Zhang Y. Roles of M cells in infection and mucosal vaccines. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2014;10(12):3544-51.

12. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Are We Really Vastly Outnumbered? Revisiting the Ratio of Bacterial to Host Cells in Humans. Cell. 2016;164(3):337-40.

13. Donaldson GP, Lee SM, Mazmanian SK. Gut biogeography of the bacterial microbiota. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2016;14(1):20-32.

14. Richard ML, Sokol H. The gut mycobiota: insights into analysis, environmental interactions and role in gastrointestinal diseases. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16(6):331-45.

15. Bourgeois C, Kuchler K. Fungal pathogens-a sweet and sour treat for toll-like receptors. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2012;2:142.

16. Hooper LV, Macpherson AJ. Immune adaptations that maintain homeostasis with the intestinal microbiota. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(3):159-69.

17. Fossmark R, Brenna E, Waldum HL. pH 4.0. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2007;42(3):297-8.

18. Giannella RA, Broitman SA, Zamcheck N. Gastric acid barrier to ingested microorganisms in man: studies in vivo and in vitro. Gut. 1972;13(4):251-6.

19. Wilder-Smith CH, Spirig C, Krech T, Merki HS. Bactericidal factors in gastric juice. European Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 1992;4(11):885-91.

20. Lavelle A, Sokol H. Gut microbiota-derived metabolites as key actors in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;17(4):223-37.

21. Sandvik AK, Kleveland PM, Waldum HL. The effect of secretin on acid and pepsin secretion and gastrin release in the totally isolated vascularly perfused rat stomach. Regul Pept. 1987;17(3):143-9.

22. Evans DF, Pye G, Bramley R, Clark AG, Dyson TJ, Hardcastle JD. Measurement of gastrointestinal pH profiles in normal ambulant human subjects. Gut. 1988;29(8):1035-41.

23. Koziolek M, Grimm M, Becker D, Iordanov V, Zou H, Shimizu J, et al. Investigation of pH and Temperature Profiles in the GI Tract of Fasted Human Subjects Using the Intellicap(*) System. J Pharm Sci. 2015;104(9):2855-63.

24. Zmora N, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Mor U, Dori-Bachash M, Bashiardes S, et al. Personalized Gut Mucosal Colonization Resistance to Empiric Probiotics Is Associated with Unique Host and Microbiome Features. Cell. 2018;174(6):1388-405.e21.

25. Sundin OH, Mendoza-Ladd A, Zeng M, Diaz-Arevalo D, Morales E, Fagan BM, et al. The human jejunum has an endogenous microbiota that differs from those in the oral cavity and colon. BMC Microbiol. 2017;17(1):160.

26. Dlugosz A, Winckler B, Lundin E, Zakikhany K, Sandstrom G, Ye W, et al. No difference in small bowel microbiota between patients with irritable bowel syndrome and healthy controls. Sci Rep. 2015;5:8508.

27. Kashiwagi S, Naito Y, Inoue R, Takagi T, Nakano T, Inada Y, et al. Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in the Gastrointestinal Tract of Healthy Japanese Subjects. Digestion. 2020;101(2):107-20.

28. Tyler AD, Kirsch R, Milgrom R, Stempak JM, Kabakchiev B, Silverberg MS. Microbiome Heterogeneity Characterizing Intestinal Tissue and Inflammatory Bowel Disease Phenotype. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016;22(4):807-16.

29. Nordgaard I, Hansen BS, Mortensen PB. Importance of colonic support for energy absorption as small-bowel failure proceeds. Am J Clin Nutr. 1996;64(2):222-31.

30. Lloyd-Price J, Arze C, Ananthakrishnan AN, Schirmer M, Avila-Pacheco J, Poon TW, et al. Multi-omics of the gut microbial ecosystem in inflammatory bowel diseases. Nature. 2019;569(7758):655-62.

31. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, Magrini V, Mardis ER, Gordon JI. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. Nature. 2006;444(7122):1027-31.

32. Ungaro R, Mehandru S, Allen PB, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Colombel JF. Ulcerative colitis. Lancet. 2017;389(10080):1756-70.

33. Torres J, Mehandru S, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Crohn's disease. Lancet. 2017;389(10080):1741-55.

34. Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2007;448(7152):427-34.

35. Solberg IC, Lygren I, Jahnsen J, Aadland E, Hoie O, Cvancarova M, et al. Clinical course during the first 10 years of ulcerative colitis: results from a population-based inception cohort (IBSEN Study). Scand J Gastroenterol. 2009;44(4):431-40.

36. Lamb CA, Kennedy NA, Raine T, Hendy PA, Smith PJ, Limdi JK, et al. British Society of Gastroenterology consensus guidelines on the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. Gut. 2019;68(Suppl 3):s1-s106.

37. Magro F, Gionchetti P, Eliakim R, Ardizzone S, Armuzzi A, Barreiro-de Acosta M, et al. Third European Evidence-based Consensus on Diagnosis and Management of Ulcerative Colitis. Part 1: Definitions, Diagnosis, Extra-intestinal Manifestations, Pregnancy, Cancer Surveillance, Surgery, and Ileo-anal Pouch Disorders. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(6):649-70.

38. Abraham C, Cho JH. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(21):2066-78.

39. Fornaro R, Caratto E, Caratto M, Fornaro F, Caristo G, Frascio M, et al. Postoperative recurrence in Crohn's disease. Critical analysis of potential risk factors. An update. Surgeon. 2015;13(6):330-47.

40. Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, Kerremans R, Coenegrachts JL, Coremans G. Natural history of recurrent Crohn's disease at the ileocolonic anastomosis after curative surgery. Gut. 1984;25(6):665-72.

41. Gajendran M, Loganathan P, Catinella AP, Hashash JG. A comprehensive review and update on Crohn's disease. Dis Mon. 2018;64(2):20-57.

42. Geboes K, Riddell R, Ost A, Jensfelt B, Persson T, Lofberg R. A reproducible grading scale for histological assessment of inflammation in ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2000;47(3):404-9.

43. D'Haens GR, Geboes K, Peeters M, Baert F, Penninckx F, Rutgeerts P. Early lesions of recurrent Crohn's disease caused by infusion of intestinal contents in excluded ileum. Gastroenterology. 1998;114(2):262-7.

44. Novak G, Parker CE, Pai RK, MacDonald JK, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, et al. Histologic scoring indices for evaluation of disease activity in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7:Cd012351.

45. Heresbach D, Alexandre JL, Branger B, Bretagne JF, Cruchant E, Dabadie A, et al. Frequency and significance of granulomas in a cohort of incident cases of Crohn's disease. Gut. 2005;54(2):215-22.

46. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Hostmicrobe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2012;491(7422):119-24.

47. Liu JZ, van Sommeren S, Huang H, Ng SC, Alberts R, Takahashi A, et al. Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations. Nat Genet. 2015;47(9):979-86.

48. de Lange KM, Moutsianas L, Lee JC, Lamb CA, Luo Y, Kennedy NA, et al. Genome-wide association study implicates immune activation of multiple integrin genes in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Genet. 2017;49(2):256-61.

49. Ellinghaus D, Jostins L, Spain SL, Cortes A, Bethune J, Han B, et al. Analysis of five chronic inflammatory diseases identifies 27 new associations and highlights disease-specific patterns at shared loci. Nat Genet. 2016;48(5):510-8.

50. Frenkel S, Bernstein CN, Sargent M, Kuang Q, Jiang W, Wei J, et al. Genomewide analysis identifies rare copy number variations associated with inflammatory bowel disease. PLoS One. 2019;14(6):e0217846.

51. Wang MH, Picco MF. Crohn's Disease: Genetics Update. Gastroenterol Clin North Am. 2017;46(3):449-61.

52. Halme L, Paavola-Sakki P, Turunen U, Lappalainen M, Farkkila M, Kontula K. Family and twin studies in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12(23):3668-72.

53. Sartor RB. Microbial influences in inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology. 2008;134(2):577-94.

54. Fritz T, Niederreiter L, Adolph T, Blumberg RS, Kaser A. Crohn's disease: NOD2, autophagy and ER stress converge. Gut. 2011;60(11):1580-8.

55. Lesage S, Zouali H, Cezard JP, Colombel JF, Belaiche J, Almer S, et al. CARD15/NOD2 mutational analysis and genotype-phenotype correlation in 612 patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Hum Genet. 2002;70(4):845-57.

56. Lala S, Ogura Y, Osborne C, Hor SY, Bromfield A, Davies S, et al. Crohn's disease and the NOD2 gene: a role for paneth cells. Gastroenterology. 2003;125(1):47-57.

57. Wehkamp J, Harder J, Weichenthal M, Schwab M, Schaffeler E, Schlee M, et al. NOD2 (CARD15) mutations in Crohn's disease are associated with diminished mucosal alpha-defensin expression. Gut. 2004;53(11):1658-64.

58. Chauhan S, Mandell MA, Deretic V. IRGM governs the core autophagy machinery to conduct antimicrobial defense. Mol Cell. 2015;58(3):507-21.

59. Cohen LJ, Cho JH, Gevers D, Chu H. Genetic Factors and the Intestinal Microbiome Guide Development of Microbe-Based Therapies for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Gastroenterology. 2019;156(8):2174-89.

60. Mathew CG. New links to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease provided by genome-wide association scans. Nat Rev Genet. 2008;9(1):9-14.

61. Fernandes P, MacSharry J, Darby T, Fanning A, Shanahan F, Houston A, et al. Differential expression of key regulators of Toll-like receptors in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a role for Tollip and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma? Clin Exp Immunol. 2016;183(3):358-68.

62. Franchimont D, Vermeire S, El Housni H, Pierik M, Van Steen K, Gustot T, et al. Deficient host-bacteria interactions in inflammatory bowel disease? The toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 Asp299gly polymorphism is associated with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2004;53(7):987-92.

63. Underhill D, Braun J. Current understanding of fungal microflora in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14(8):1147-53.

64. Zhernakova A, Festen EM, Franke L, Trynka G, van Diemen CC, Monsuur AJ, et al. Genetic analysis of innate immunity in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis identifies two susceptibility loci harboring CARD9 and IL18RAP. Am J Hum Genet. 2008;82(5):1202-10.

65. Rivas MA, Beaudoin M, Gardet A, Stevens C, Sharma Y, Zhang CK, et al. Deep resequencing of GWAS loci identifies independent rare variants associated with inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Genet. 2011;43(11):1066-73.

66. Glocker EO, Hennigs A, Nabavi M, Schäffer AA, Woellner C, Salzer U, et al. A homozygous CARD9 mutation in a family with susceptibility to fungal infections. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(18):1727-35.

67. Limon JJ, Tang J, Li D, Wolf AJ, Michelsen KS, Funari V, et al. Malassezia Is Associated with Crohn's Disease and Exacerbates Colitis in Mouse Models. Cell Host Microbe. 2019;25(3):377-88.e6.

68. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, Fraser-Liggett CM, Knight R, Gordon JI. The Human Microbiome Project. Nature. 2007;449(7164):804-10.

69. Sabino J, Hirten RP, Colombel JF. Review article: bacteriophages in gastroenterology-from biology to clinical applications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;51(1):53-63.

70. Ruggiero MA, Gordon DP, Orrell TM, Bailly N, Bourgoin T, Brusca RC, et al. A higher level classification of all living organisms. PLoS One. 2015;10(4):e0119248.

71. Parker CT, Tindall BJ, Garrity GM. International Code of Nomenclature of Prokaryotes. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2019;69(1a):S1-S111.

72. The Chicago Manual of Style. 16th edition ed: The University of Chicago Press; 2010.

73. Tyler AD, Smith MI, Silverberg MS. Analyzing the human microbiome: a "how to" guide for physicians. Am J Gastroenterol. 2014;109(7):983-93.

74. Finotello F, Mastrorilli E, Di Camillo B. Measuring the diversity of the human microbiota with targeted next-generation sequencing. Brief Bioinform. 2018;19(4):679-92.

75. Chao A. Nonparametric Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics. 1984;11(4):265-70.

76. Kim BR, Shin J, Guevarra R, Lee JH, Kim DW, Seol KH, et al. Deciphering Diversity Indices for a Better Understanding of Microbial Communities. J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2017;27(12):2089-93.

77. Faith DP, Baker AM. Phylogenetic diversity (PD) and biodiversity conservation: some bioinformatics challenges. Evol Bioinform Online. 2007;2:121-8.

78. Zuur AF, N.leno E, Smith GM. Principal coordinate analysis and non-metric multidimensional scaling. Analysing Ecological Data. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2007. p. 259-64.

79. Zuur AF, N.leno E, Smith GM. Principal component analysis and redundancy analysis. Analysing Ecological Data. New York, NY: Springer New York; 2007. p. 193-224.

80. Lozupone C, Knight R. UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005;71(12):8228-35.

81. Chen J, Bittinger K, Charlson ES, Hoffmann C, Lewis J, Wu GD, et al. Associating microbiome composition with environmental covariates using generalized UniFrac distances. Bioinformatics. 2012;28(16):2106-13.

82. Schroeder PJ, Jenkins DG. How robust are popular beta diversity indices to sampling error? Ecosphere. 2018;9(2):e02100.

83. Legendre P. Numerical Ecology. 3 ed: Elsevier Science; 2012.
84. Anderson MJ, Crist TO, Chase JM, Vellend M, Inouye BD, Freestone AL, et al. Navigating the multiple meanings of β diversity: a roadmap for the practicing ecologist. Ecol Lett. 2011;14(1):19-28.

85. Scanlan PD, Marchesi JR. Micro-eukaryotic diversity of the human distal gut microbiota: qualitative assessment using culture-dependent and -independent analysis of faeces. Isme j. 2008;2(12):1183-93.

86. Nash AK, Auchtung TA, Wong MC, Smith DP, Gesell JR, Ross MC, et al. The gut mycobiome of the Human Microbiome Project healthy cohort. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):153.

87. Koloski NA, Bret L, Radford-Smith G. Hygiene hypothesis in inflammatory bowel disease: a critical review of the literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14(2):165-73.
88. Okada H, Kuhn C, Feillet H, Bach JF. The 'hygiene hypothesis' for autoimmune and allergic diseases: an update. Clin Exp Immunol. 2010;160(1):1-9.

89. Schaubeck M, Clavel T, Calasan J, Lagkouvardos I, Haange SB, Jehmlich N, et al. Dysbiotic gut microbiota causes transmissible Crohn's disease-like ileitis independent of failure in antimicrobial defence. Gut. 2016;65(2):225-37.

90. Rutgeerts P, Goboes K, Peeters M, Hiele M, Penninckx F, Aerts R, et al. Effect of faecal stream diversion on recurrence of Crohn's disease in the neoterminal ileum. Lancet. 1991;338(8770):771-4.

91. Costello SP, Hughes PA, Waters O, Bryant RV, Vincent AD, Blatchford P, et al. Effect of Fecal Microbiota Transplantation on 8-Week Remission in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2019;321(2):156-64.

92. Nguyen LH, Örtqvist AK, Cao Y, Simon TG, Roelstraete B, Song M, et al. Antibiotic use and the development of inflammatory bowel disease: a national casecontrol study in Sweden. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(11):986-95.

93. Prantera C, Lochs H, Grimaldi M, Danese S, Scribano ML, Gionchetti P. Rifaximin-extended intestinal release induces remission in patients with moderately active Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 2012;142(3):473-81.e4.

94. McIlroy J, Ianiro G, Mukhopadhya I, Hansen R, Hold GL. Review article: the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease-avenues for microbial management. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018;47(1):26-42.

95. Ghouri YA, Richards DM, Rahimi EF, Krill JT, Jelinek KA, DuPont AW. Systematic review of randomized controlled trials of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Exp Gastroenterol. 2014;7:473-87.

96. Sood A, Midha V, Makharia GK, Ahuja V, Singal D, Goswami P, et al. The probiotic preparation, VSL#3 induces remission in patients with mild-to-moderately active ulcerative colitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;7(11):1202-9, 9.e1.

97. Messer JS, Chang EB. Chapter 36 - Microbial Physiology of the Digestive Tract and Its Role in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. In: Said HM, editor. Physiology of the Gastrointestinal Tract (Sixth Edition): Academic Press; 2018. p. 795-810.

98. Li J, Butcher J, Mack D, Stintzi A. Functional impacts of the intestinal microbiome in the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21(1):139-53.

99. Yilmaz B, Juillerat P, Oyas O, Ramon C, Bravo FD, Franc Y, et al. Microbial network disturbances in relapsing refractory Crohn's disease. Nat Med. 2019;25(2):323-36.

100. Wright EK, Kamm MA, Wagner J, Teo SM, Cruz P, Hamilton AL, et al. Microbial Factors Associated with Postoperative Crohn's Disease Recurrence. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(2):191-203.

101. Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, Gevers D, Devaney KL, Ward DV, et al. Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. Genome Biol. 2012;13(9):R79.

102. Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Vazquez-Baeza Y, Van Treuren W, Ren B, et al. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. Cell Host Microbe. 2014;15(3):382-92.

103. Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, et al. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science. 2005;308(5728):1635-8.

104. Zoetendal EG, Von Wright A, Vilpponen-Salmela T, Ben-Amor K, Akkermans ADL, De Vos WM. Mucosa-associated bacteria in the human gastrointestinal tract are uniformly distributed along the colon and differ from the community recovered from feces. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2002;68(7):3401-7.

105. Lepage P, Seksik P, Sutren M, de la Cochetière MF, Jian R, Marteau P, et al. Biodiversity of the mucosa-associated microbiota is stable along the distal digestive tract in healthy individuals and patients with IBD. Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. 2005;11(5):473-80.

106. Pittayanon R, Lau JT, Leontiadis GI, Tse F, Yuan Y, Surette M, et al. Differences in Gut Microbiota in Patients With vs Without Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Systematic Review. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(4):930-46.e1.

107. Kansal S, Catto-Smith AG, Boniface K, Thomas S, Cameron DJ, Oliver M, et al. The Microbiome in Paediatric Crohn's Disease-A Longitudinal, Prospective, Single-Centre Study. J Crohns Colitis. 2019.

108. Alipour M, Zaidi D, Valcheva R, Jovel J, Martinez I, Sergi C, et al. Mucosal Barrier Depletion and Loss of Bacterial Diversity are Primary Abnormalities in Paediatric Ulcerative Colitis. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(4):462-71.

109. Liguori G, Lamas B, Richard ML, Brandi G, da Costa G, Hoffmann TW, et al. Fungal Dysbiosis in Mucosa-associated Microbiota of Crohn's Disease Patients. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(3):296-305.

110. Haberman Y, Tickle TL, Dexheimer PJ, Kim MO, Tang D, Karns R, et al. Pediatric Crohn disease patients exhibit specific ileal transcriptome and microbiome signature. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2014;124(8):3617-33.

111. Kiely CJ, Pavli P, O'Brien CL. The role of inflammation in temporal shifts in the inflammatory bowel disease mucosal microbiome. Gut Microbes. 2018:1-9.

112. Mukhopadhya I, Hansen R, El-Omar EM, Hold GL. IBD-what role do

Proteobacteria play? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;9(4):219-30.

113. Hamer HM, Jonkers D, Venema K, Vanhoutvin S, Troost FJ, Brummer RJ. Review article: the role of butyrate on colonic function. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;27(2):104-19.

114. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermudez-Humaran LG, Gratadoux JJ, et al. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(43):16731-6.

115. Varela E, Manichanh C, Gallart M, Torrejon A, Borruel N, Casellas F, et al. Colonisation by Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and maintenance of clinical remission in patients with ulcerative colitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013;38(2):151-61.

116. Forbes JD, Van Domselaar G, Bernstein CN. Microbiome Survey of the Inflamed and Noninflamed Gut at Different Compartments Within the Gastrointestinal Tract of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Patients. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2016;22(4):817-25.

117. Rehman A, Rausch P, Wang J, Skieceviciene J, Kiudelis G, Bhagalia K, et al. Geographical patterns of the standing and active human gut microbiome in health and IBD. Gut. 2016;65(2):238-48.

118. Davenport M, Poles J, Leung JM, Wolff MJ, Abidi WM, Ullman T, et al. Metabolic alterations to the mucosal microbiota in inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2014;20(4):723-31.

119. Hansen R, Russell RK, Reiff C, Louis P, McIntosh F, Berry SH, et al. Microbiota of de-novo pediatric IBD: increased Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and reduced bacterial diversity in Crohn's but not in ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2012;107(12):1913-22.

120. Shah R, Cope JL, Nagy-Szakal D, Dowd S, Versalovic J, Hollister EB, et al. Composition and function of the pediatric colonic mucosal microbiome in untreated patients with ulcerative colitis. Gut Microbes. 2016;7(5):384-96.

121. Lavelle A, Lennon G, O'Sullivan O, Docherty N, Balfe A, Maguire A, et al. Spatial variation of the colonic microbiota in patients with ulcerative colitis and control volunteers. Gut. 2015;64(10):1553-61.

122. Qiu X, Ma J, Jiao C, Mao X, Zhao X, Lu M, et al. Alterations in the mucosaassociated fungal microbiota in patients with ulcerative colitis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(64):107577-88.

123. Ungaro F, Massimino L, Furfaro F, Rimoldi V, Peyrin-Biroulet L, D'Alessio S, et al. Metagenomic analysis of intestinal mucosa revealed a specific eukaryotic gut virome signature in early-diagnosed inflammatory bowel disease. Gut Microbes. 2019;10(2):149-58.

124. Zuo T, Lu XJ, Zhang Y, Cheung CP, Lam S, Zhang F, et al. Gut mucosal virome alterations in ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2019;68(7):1169-79.

125. Eun CS, Kwak MJ, Han DS, Lee AR, Park DI, Yang SK, et al. Does the intestinal microbial community of Korean Crohn's disease patients differ from that of western patients? BMC Gastroenterol. 2016;16:28.

126. Chiodini RJ, Dowd SE, Chamberlin WM, Galandiuk S, Davis B, Glassing A. Microbial Population Differentials between Mucosal and Submucosal Intestinal Tissues in Advanced Crohn's Disease of the Ileum. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0134382.

127. Willing BP, Dicksved J, Halfvarson J, Andersson AF, Lucio M, Zheng Z, et al. A pyrosequencing study in twins shows that gastrointestinal microbial profiles vary with inflammatory bowel disease phenotypes. Gastroenterology. 2010;139(6):1844-54.e1.

128. Sokol H, Brot L, Stefanescu C, Auzolle C, Barnich N, Buisson A, et al. Prominence of ileal mucosa-associated microbiota to predict postoperative endoscopic recurrence in Crohn's disease. Gut. 2019.

129. El Mouzan M, Wang F, Al Mofarreh M, Menon R, Al Barrag A, Korolev KS, et al. Fungal Microbiota Profile in Newly Diagnosed Treatment-naive Children with Crohn's Disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(5):586-92.

130. Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB. Systematic review: the pharmacokinetic profiles of oral mesalazine formulations and mesalazine pro-drugs used in the management of ulcerative colitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17(1):29-42.

131. Bondesen S, Hegnhoj J, Larsen F, Hansen SH, Hansen CP, Rasmussen SN. Pharmacokinetics of 5-aminosalicylic acid in man following administration of intravenous bolus and per os slow-release formulation. Dig Dis Sci. 1991;36(12):1735-40.

132. Hein DW, Doll MA, Rustan TD, Gray K, Feng Y, Ferguson RJ, et al. Metabolic activation and deactivation of arylamine carcinogens by recombinant human NAT1 and polymorphic NAT2 acetyltransferases. Carcinogenesis. 1993;14(8):1633-8.

133. Hickman D, Pope J, Patil SD, Fakis G, Smelt V, Stanley LA, et al. Expression of arylamine N-acetyltransferase in human intestine. Gut. 1998;42(3):402-9.

134. Lauritsen K, Laursen LS, Bukhave K, Rask-Madsen J. Effects of topical 5aminosalicylic acid and prednisolone on prostaglandin E2 and leukotriene B4 levels determined by equilibrium in vivo dialysis of rectum in relapsing ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 1986;91(4):837-44.

135. Nielsen OH, Verspaget HW, Elmgreen J. Inhibition of intestinal macrophage chemotaxis to leukotriene B4 by sulphasalazine, olsalazine, and 5-aminosalicylic acid. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1988;2(3):203-11.

136. Rachmilewitz D, Karmeli F, Schwartz LW, Simon PL. Effect of aminophenols (5-ASA and 4-ASA) on colonic interleukin-1 generation. Gut. 1992;33(7):929-32.

137. Kaiser GC, Yan F, Polk DB. Mesalamine blocks tumor necrosis factor growth inhibition and nuclear factor κB activation in mouse colonocytes. Gastroenterology. 1999;116(3):602-9.

138. Egan LJ, Mays DC, Huntoon CJ, Bell MP, Pike MG, Sandborn WJ, et al. Inhibition of interleukin-1-stimulated NF-κb RelA/p65 phosphorylation by mesalamine is accompanied by decreased transcriptional activity. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1999;274(37):26448-53.

139. Dubuquoy L, Å Jansson E, Deeb S, Rakotobe S, Karoui M, Colombel JF, et al. Impaired expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γin ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 2003;124(5):1265-76.

140. Rousseaux C, Lefebvre B, Dubuquoy L, Lefebvre P, Romano O, Auwerx J, et al. Intestinal antiinflammatory effect of 5-aminosalicylic acid is dependent on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 2005;201(8):1205-15.

141. Dahl JU, Gray MJ, Bazopoulou D, Beaufay F, Lempart J, Koenigsknecht MJ, et al. The anti-inflammatory drug mesalamine targets bacterial polyphosphate accumulation. Nat Microbiol. 2017;2:16267. 142. Gray MJ, Wholey WY, Wagner NO, Cremers CM, Mueller-Schickert A, Hock NT, et al. Polyphosphate is a primordial chaperone. Mol Cell. 2014;53(5):689-99.

143. Myers B, Evans DN, Rhodes J, Evans BK, Hughes BR, Lee MG, et al. Metabolism and urinary excretion of 5-amino salicylic acid in healthy volunteers when given intravenously or released for absorption at different sites in the gastrointestinal tract. Gut. 1987;28(2):196-200.

144. Naganuma M, Iwao Y, Ogata H, Inoue N, Funakoshi S, Yamamoto S, et al. Measurement of colonic mucosal concentrations of 5-aminosalicylic acid is useful for estimating its therapeutic efficacy in distal ulcerative colitis: comparison of orally administered mesalamine and sulfasalazine. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2001;7(3):221-5.

145. De Vos M, Verdievel H, Schoonjans R, Praet M, Bogaert M, Barbier F. Concentrations of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA in human ileocolonic biopsy homogenates after oral 5-ASA preparations. Gut. 1992;33(10):1338-42.

146. Frieri G, Pimpo MT, Palumbo GC, Onori L, Viscido A, Latella G, et al. Rectal and colonic mesalazine concentration in ulcerative colitis: oral vs. oral plus topical treatment. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 1999;13(11):1413-7.

147. D'Inca R, Paccagnella M, Cardin R, Pathak S, Baldo V, Giron MC, et al. 5-ASA colonic mucosal concentrations resulting from different pharmaceutical formulations in ulcerative colitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(34):5665-70.

148. D'Haens G, Hommes D, Engels L, Baert F, van der Waaij L, Connor P, et al. Once daily MMX mesalazine for the treatment of mild-to-moderate ulcerative colitis: a phase II, dose-ranging study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;24(7):1087-97.

149. Frieri G, Giacomelli R, Pimpo M, Palumbo G, Passacantando A, Pantaleoni G, et al. Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration inversely correlates with severity of colonic inflammation in patients with ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2000;47(3):410-4.

 Fukuda T, Naganuma M, Takabayashi K, Hagihara Y, Tanemoto S, Nomura E, et al. Mucosal concentrations of N-acetyl-5-aminosalicylic acid related to endoscopic activity in ulcerative colitis patients with mesalamine. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020.
 Frieri G, Pimpo M, Galletti B, Palumbo G, Corrao G, Latella G, et al. Long-term oral plus topical mesalazine in frequently relapsing ulcerative colitis. Dig Liver Dis. 2005;37(2):92-6.

152. Yu A, Baker JR, Fioritto AF, Wang Y, Luo R, Li S, et al. Measurement of in vivo Gastrointestinal Release and Dissolution of Three Locally Acting Mesalamine Formulations in Regions of the Human Gastrointestinal Tract. Mol Pharm. 2017;14(2):345-58.

153. Lichtenstein GR, Kamm MA. Review article: 5-aminosalicylate formulations for the treatment of ulcerative colitis--methods of comparing release rates and delivery of 5-aminosalicylate to the colonic mucosa. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2008;28(6):663-73.
154. Allgayer H, Ahnfelt NO, Kruis W, Klotz U, Frank-Holmberg K, Soderberg HN, et al. Colonic N-acetylation of 5-aminosalicylic acid in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 1989;97(1):38-41.

155. Bondesen S. Intestinal fate of 5-aminosalicylic acid: regional and systemic kinetic studies in relation to inflammatory bowel disease. Pharmacol Toxicol. 1997;81 Suppl 2:1-28.

156. Nielsen OH, Munck LK. Drug insight: aminosalicylates for the treatment of IBD. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;4(3):160-70.

157. Ricart E, Taylor WR, Loftus EV, O'Kane D, Weinshilboum RM, Tremaine WJ, et al. N-acetyltransferase 1 and 2 genotypes do not predict response or toxicity to treatment with mesalamine and sulfasalazine in patients with ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97(7):1763-8.

158. Hussain FN, Ajjan RA, Riley SA. Dose loading with delayed-release mesalazine: a study of tissue drug concentrations and standard pharmacokinetic parameters. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2000;49(4):323-30.

159. Rasmussen SN, Bondesen S, Hvidberg EF, Hansen SH, Binder V, Halskov S, et al. 5-aminosalicylic acid in a slow-release preparation: bioavailability, plasma level, and excretion in humans. Gastroenterology. 1982;83(5):1062-70.

160. Schreiber S, Kamm MA, Lichtenstein GR. Mesalamine with MMX technology for the treatment of ulcerative colitis. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008;2(3):299-314.

161. Brunner M, Assandri R, Kletter K, Tschurlovits M, Corrado ME, Villa R, et al. Gastrointestinal transit and 5-ASA release from a new mesalazine extended-release formulation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;17(3):395-402.

162. Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Buch A. Comparative pharmacokinetics of equimolar doses of 5-aminosalicylate administered as oral mesalamine (Asacol) and balsalazide: a randomized, single-dose, crossover study in healthy volunteers. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2004;19(10):1089-98.

163. Harbord M, Eliakim R, Bettenworth D, Karmiris K, Katsanos K, Kopylov U, et al. Third European Evidence-based Consensus on Diagnosis and Management of Ulcerative Colitis. Part 2: Current Management. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(7):769-84.
164. Lim WC, Wang Y, MacDonald JK, Hanauer S. Aminosalicylates for induction of remission or response in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev.

2016;7:Cd008870.

165. Gomollon F, Dignass A, Annese V, Tilg H, Van Assche G, Lindsay JO, et al. 3rd European Evidence-based Consensus on the Diagnosis and Management of Crohn's Disease 2016: Part 1: Diagnosis and Medical Management. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(1):3-25.

166. Wang Y, Parker CE, Bhanji T, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5-aminosalicylic acid for induction of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;4:Cd000543.

167. Murray A, Nguyen TM, Parker CE, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5aminosalicylic acid for induction of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;8:Cd000543.

168. Wang Y, Parker CE, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5-aminosalicylic acid for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016(5):Cd000544.

169. Murray A, Nguyen TM, Parker CE, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5aminosalicylic acid for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;8:Cd000544. 170. Pica R, Cassieri C, Cocco A, Zippi M, Marcheggiano A, De Nitto D, et al. A randomized trial comparing 4.8 vs. 2.4 g/day of oral mesalazine for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. Dig Liver Dis. 2015;47(11):933-7.

171. Sandborn WJ, Regula J, Feagan BG, Belousova E, Jojic N, Lukas M, et al. Delayed-release oral mesalamine 4.8 g/day (800-mg tablet) is effective for patients with moderately active ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 2009;137(6):1934-43.e1-3.

172. Doherty G, Katsanos KH, Burisch J, Allez M, Papamichael K, Stallmach A, et al. European Crohn's and Colitis Organisation Topical Review on Treatment Withdrawal ['Exit Strategies'] in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2018;12(1):17-31.

173. Chapman TP, Frias Gomes C, Louis E, Colombel JF, Satsangi J. Review article: withdrawal of 5-aminosalicylates in inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2020;52(1):73-84.

174. Qiu X, Ma J, Wang K, Zhang H. Chemopreventive effects of 5-aminosalicylic acid on inflammatory bowel disease-associated colorectal cancer and dysplasia: a systematic review with meta-analysis. Oncotarget. 2017;8(1):1031-45.

175. Kuenzig ME, Rezaie A, Seow CH, Otley AR, Steinhart AH, Griffiths AM, et al. Budesonide for maintenance of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014(8):Cd002913.

176. Sherlock ME, MacDonald JK, Griffiths AM, Steinhart AH, Seow CH. Oral budesonide for induction of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015(10):Cd007698.

177. Rhen T, Cidlowski JA. Antiinflammatory action of glucocorticoids--new mechanisms for old drugs. N Engl J Med. 2005;353(16):1711-23.

178. Chan ES, Cronstein BN. Mechanisms of action of methotrexate. Bull Hosp Jt Dis (2013). 2013;71 Suppl 1:S5-8.

179. Lirhus SS, Høivik ML, Moum B, Melberg HO. Regional differences in anti-TNF- α therapy and surgery in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease patients: a Norwegian nationwide cohort study. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2018;53(8):952-7.

180. Ma C, Moran GW, Benchimol EI, Targownik LE, Heitman SJ, Hubbard JN, et al. Surgical Rates for Crohn's Disease are Decreasing: A Population-Based Time Trend Analysis and Validation Study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112(12):1840-8.

181. Stewart CJ, Ajami NJ, O'Brien JL, Hutchinson DS, Smith DP, Wong MC, et al. Temporal development of the gut microbiome in early childhood from the TEDDY study. Nature. 2018;562(7728):583-8.

182. Boix-Amorós A, Martinez-Costa C, Querol A, Collado MC, Mira A. Multiple Approaches Detect the Presence of Fungi in Human Breastmilk Samples from Healthy Mothers. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):13016.

 Robertson RC, Manges AR, Finlay BB, Prendergast AJ. The Human Microbiome and Child Growth - First 1000 Days and Beyond. Trends Microbiol. 2019;27(2):131-47.
 Schei K, Avershina E, Øien T, Rudi K, Follestad T, Salamati S, et al. Early gut mycobiota and mother-offspring transfer. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):107.

185. Derrien M, Alvarez AS, de Vos WM. The Gut Microbiota in the First Decade of Life. Trends Microbiol. 2019;27(12):997-1010.

186. An R, Wilms E, Masclee AAM, Smidt H, Zoetendal EG, Jonkers D. Age-dependent changes in GI physiology and microbiota: time to reconsider? Gut. 2018;67(12):2213-22.

187. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2014;505(7484):559-63.

188. Zhang Z, Taylor L, Shommu N, Ghosh S, Reimer R, Panaccione R, et al. A diversified dietary pattern is associated with a balanced gut microbial composition of Faecalibacterium and Escherichia/Shigella in patients with Crohn's disease in remission. J Crohns Colitis. 2020.

189. Piovani D, Danese S, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Nikolopoulos GK, Lytras T, Bonovas S. Environmental Risk Factors for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: An Umbrella Review of Meta-analyses. Gastroenterology. 2019;157(3):647-59.e4.

190. D'Argenio V, Precone V, Casaburi G, Miele E, Martinelli M, Staiano A, et al. An altered gut microbiome profile in a child affected by Crohn's disease normalized after nutritional therapy. Am J Gastroenterol. 2013;108(5):851-2.

191. Sigall-Boneh R, Levine A, Lomer M, Wierdsma N, Allan P, Fiorino G, et al. Research Gaps in Diet and Nutrition in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. A Topical Review by D-ECCO Working Group [Dietitians of ECCO]. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(12):1407-19.

192. Liu Y, Ajami NJ, El-Serag HB, Hair C, Graham DY, White DL, et al. Dietary quality and the colonic mucosa–associated gut microbiome in humans. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2019;110(3):701-12.

193. Cox SR, Lindsay JO, Fromentin S, Stagg AJ, McCarthy NE, Galleron N, et al. Effects of Low FODMAP Diet on Symptoms, Fecal Microbiome, and Markers of Inflammation in Patients With Quiescent Inflammatory Bowel Disease in a Randomized Trial. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(1):176-88.e7.

194. Levine A, Wine E, Assa A, Sigall Boneh R, Shaoul R, Kori M, et al. Crohn's Disease Exclusion Diet Plus Partial Enteral Nutrition Induces Sustained Remission in a Randomized Controlled Trial. Gastroenterology. 2019;157(2):440-50.e8.

195. Devkota S, Wang Y, Musch MW, Leone V, Fehlner-Peach H, Nadimpalli A, et al. Dietary-fat-induced taurocholic acid promotes pathobiont expansion and colitis in II10-/- mice. Nature. 2012;487(7405):104-8.

196. Desai MS, Seekatz AM, Koropatkin NM, Kamada N, Hickey CA, Wolter M, et al. A Dietary Fiber-Deprived Gut Microbiota Degrades the Colonic Mucus Barrier and Enhances Pathogen Susceptibility. Cell. 2016;167(5):1339-53.e21.

197. Ley RE, Turnbaugh PJ, Klein S, Gordon JI. Human gut microbes associated with obesity. Nature. 2006;444(7122):1022-3.

198. Bäckhed F, Ding H, Wang T, Hooper LV, Koh GY, Nagy A, et al. The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004;101(44):15718-23.

199. Kootte RS, Levin E, Salojärvi J, Smits LP, Hartstra AV, Udayappan SD, et al. Improvement of Insulin Sensitivity after Lean Donor Feces in Metabolic Syndrome Is Driven by Baseline Intestinal Microbiota Composition. Cell Metab. 2017;26(4):611-9.e6. 200. Shanahan ER, Shah A, Koloski N, Walker MM, Talley NJ, Morrison M, et al. Influence of cigarette smoking on the human duodenal mucosa-associated microbiota. Microbiome. 2018;6(1):150.

201. Benjamin JL, Hedin CR, Koutsoumpas A, Ng SC, McCarthy NE, Prescott NJ, et al. Smokers with active Crohn's disease have a clinically relevant dysbiosis of the gastrointestinal microbiota. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2012;18(6):1092-100.

202. Auzolle C, Nancey S, Tran-Minh ML, Buisson A, Pariente B, Stefanescu C, et al. Male gender, active smoking and previous intestinal resection are risk factors for post-operative endoscopic recurrence in Crohn's disease: results from a prospective cohort study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018;48(9):924-32.

203. Ferrer M, Mendez-Garcia C, Rojo D, Barbas C, Moya A. Antibiotic use and microbiome function. Biochem Pharmacol. 2017;134:114-26.

204. Suez J, Zmora N, Zilberman-Schapira G, Mor U, Dori-Bachash M, Bashiardes S, et al. Post-Antibiotic Gut Mucosal Microbiome Reconstitution Is Impaired by Probiotics and Improved by Autologous FMT. Cell. 2018;174(6):1406-23.e16.

205. Swidsinski A, Loening-Baucke V, Bengmark S, Scholze J, Doerffel Y. Bacterial biofilm suppression with antibiotics for ulcerative and indeterminate colitis: consequences of aggressive treatment. Arch Med Res. 2008;39(2):198-204.

206. Lange K, Buerger M, Stallmach A, Bruns T. Effects of Antibiotics on Gut Microbiota. Dig Dis. 2016;34(3):260-8.

207. Le Bastard Q, Al-Ghalith GA, Gregoire M, Chapelet G, Javaudin F, Dailly E, et al. Systematic review: human gut dysbiosis induced by non-antibiotic prescription medications. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018;47(3):332-45.

208. Minalyan A, Gabrielyan L, Scott D, Jacobs J, Pisegna JR. The Gastric and Intestinal Microbiome: Role of Proton Pump Inhibitors. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2017;19(8):42.

209. Sanduleanu S, Jonkers D, De Bruine A, Hameeteman W, Stockbrugger RW. Non-Helicobacter pylori bacterial flora during acid-suppressive therapy: differential findings in gastric juice and gastric mucosa. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2001;15(3):379-88.

210. Paroni Sterbini F, Palladini A, Masucci L, Cannistraci CV, Pastorino R, Ianiro G, et al. Effects of Proton Pump Inhibitors on the Gastric Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in Dyspeptic Patients. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2016;82(22):6633-44.

211. Schmidt TSB, Raes J, Bork P. The Human Gut Microbiome: From Association to Modulation. Cell. 2018;172(6):1198-215.

212. Naidoo K, Gordon M, Fagbemi AO, Thomas AG, Akobeng AK. Probiotics for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011(12):Cd007443.

213. Guslandi M, Mezzi G, Sorghi M, Testoni PA. Saccharomyces boulardii in maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease. Dig Dis Sci. 2000;45(7):1462-4.

214. Limketkai BN, Akobeng AK, Gordon M, Adepoju AA. Probiotics for induction of remission in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2020;7(7):Cd006634.

215. Moayyedi P, Surette MG, Kim PT, Libertucci J, Wolfe M, Onischi C, et al. Fecal Microbiota Transplantation Induces Remission in Patients With Active Ulcerative Colitis in a Randomized Controlled Trial. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(1):102-9.e6.

216. Paramsothy S, Kamm MA, Kaakoush NO, Walsh AJ, van den Bogaerde J, Samuel D, et al. Multidonor intensive faecal microbiota transplantation for active ulcerative colitis: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;389(10075):1218-28.

217. Rossen NG, Fuentes S, van der Spek MJ, Tijssen JG, Hartman JH, Duflou A, et al. Findings From a Randomized Controlled Trial of Fecal Transplantation for Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. Gastroenterology. 2015;149(1):110-8.e4.

218. Sokol H, Landman C, Seksik P, Berard L, Montil M, Nion-Larmurier I, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation to maintain remission in Crohn's disease: a pilot randomized controlled study. Microbiome. 2020;8(1):12.

219. Sandberg-Gertzen H, Kjellander J, Sundberg-Gilla B, Jarnerot G. In vitro effects of sulphasalazine, azodisal sodium, and their metabolites on Clostridium difficile and some other faecal bacteria. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1985;20(5):607-12.

220. Greenstein RJ, Su L, Shahidi A, Brown ST. On the action of 5-amino-salicylic acid and sulfapyridine on M. avium including subspecies paratuberculosis. PLoS One. 2007;2(6):e516.

221. Kaufman J, Griffiths TA, Surette MG, Ness S, Rioux KP. Effects of mesalamine (5aminosalicylic acid) on bacterial gene expression. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(7):985-96.

222. Swidsinski A, Loening-Baucke V, Bengmark S, Lochs H, Dorffel Y. Azathioprine and mesalazine-induced effects on the mucosal flora in patients with IBD colitis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007;13(1):51-6.

223. Andrews CN, Griffiths TA, Kaufman J, Vergnolle N, Surette MG, Rioux KP. Mesalazine (5-aminosalicylic acid) alters faecal bacterial profiles, but not mucosal proteolytic activity in diarrhoea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2011;34(3):374-83.

224. Mearin F, Lacy BE, Chang L, Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Simren M, et al. Bowel Disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016.

225. Shobar RM, Velineni S, Keshavarzian A, Swanson G, DeMeo MT, Melson JE, et al. The Effects of Bowel Preparation on Microbiota-Related Metrics Differ in Health and in Inflammatory Bowel Disease and for the Mucosal and Luminal Microbiota Compartments. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2016;7:e143.

226. Harrell L, Wang Y, Antonopoulos D, Young V, Lichtenstein L, Huang Y, et al. Standard colonic lavage alters the natural state of mucosal-associated microbiota in the human colon. PLoS One. 2012;7(2):e32545.

227. Barco S, Castagnola E, Gennai I, Barbagallo L, Loy A, Tripodi G, et al. Ultra high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry vs. commercial immunoassay for determination of vancomycin plasma concentration in children.

Possible implications for everyday clinical practice. J Chemother. 2016;28(5):395-402. 228. Gosetti F, Mazzucco E, Gennaro MC, Marengo E. Ultra high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry determination and profiling of prohibited steroids in human biological matrices. A review. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. 2013;927:22-36. 229. Wang X, Sun H, Zhang A, Wang P, Han Y. Ultra-performance liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry as a sensitive and powerful technology for metabolomic studies. J Sep Sci. 2011;34(24):3451-9.

230. Vogeser M. Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry--application in the clinical laboratory. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2003;41(2):117-26.

231. Boukouvala S. [Human NAT1 Alleles (Haplotypes)]. Available from: http://nat.mbg.duth.gr/Human%20NAT1%20alleles_2013.htm.

232. Hein DW. N-acetyltransferase SNPs: emerging concepts serve as a paradigm for understanding complexities of personalized medicine. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2009;5(4):353-66.

233. Cascorbi I, Drakoulis N, Brockmoller J, Maurer A, Sperling K, Roots I. Arylamine N-acetyltransferase (NAT2) mutations and their allelic linkage in unrelated Caucasian individuals: correlation with phenotypic activity. Am J Hum Genet. 1995;57(3):581-92.

234. Sanger F, Coulson AR. A rapid method for determining sequences in DNA by primed synthesis with DNA polymerase. J Mol Biol. 1975;94(3):441-8.

235. Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1977;74(12):5463-7.

236. Morozova O, Marra MA. Applications of next-generation sequencing technologies in functional genomics. Genomics. 2008;92(5):255-64.

237. van Pelt-Verkuil E, van Belkum A, Hays JP. Deoxynucleotide Triphosphates and Buffer Components. In: Principles and Technical Aspects of PCR Amplification. : Springer, Dordrecht; 2008.

238. Chiodini RJ, Dowd SE, Galandiuk S, Davis B, Glassing A. The predominant site of bacterial translocation across the intestinal mucosal barrier occurs at the advancing disease margin in Crohn's disease. Microbiology. 2016;162(9):1608-19.

239. Chiodini RJ, Dowd SE, Barron JN, Galandiuk S, Davis B, Glassing A. Transitional and temporal changes in the mucosal and submucosal intestinal microbiota in advanced Crohn's disease of the terminal ileum. J Med Microbiol. 2018;67(4):549-59.
240. Vesty A, Biswas K, Taylor MW, Gear K, Douglas RG. Evaluating the Impact of DNA Extraction Method on the Representation of Human Oral Bacterial and Fungal Communities. PLoS One. 2017;12(1):e0169877.

241. Lim MY, Song EJ, Kim SH, Lee J, Nam YD. Comparison of DNA extraction methods for human gut microbial community profiling. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2018;41(2):151-7.

242. Granlund A, Thorsvik S, Catalán-Serra I, Beisvåg V, Underhill D, Sandvik A. P835 Characterisation of fungal microbiota in a Norwegian IBD cohort. Journal of Crohn's and Colitis. 2019;13:S541-S2.

243. Tang J, Iliev ID, Brown J, Underhill DM, Funari VA. Mycobiome: Approaches to analysis of intestinal fungi. J Immunol Methods. 2015;421:112-21.

244. Song EJ, Lee ES, Nam YD. Progress of analytical tools and techniques for human gut microbiome research. J Microbiol. 2018;56(10):693-705.

245. Illumina. An introduction to next-generation sequencing technology [Available from: https://emea.illumina.com/content/dam/illumina-

marketing/documents/products/illumina_sequencing_introduction.pdf.

246. Schoch CL, Seifert KA, Huhndorf S, Robert V, Spouge JL, Levesque CA, et al. Nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region as a universal DNA barcode marker for Fungi. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(16):6241-6.

247. Iliev ID, Funari VA, Taylor KD, Nguyen Q, Reyes CN, Strom SP, et al. Interactions between commensal fungi and the C-type lectin receptor Dectin-1 influence colitis. Science. 2012;336(6086):1314-7.

248. Sokol H, Leducq V, Aschard H, Pham HP, Jegou S, Landman C, et al. Fungal microbiota dysbiosis in IBD. Gut. 2017;66(6):1039-48.

249. El Mouzan MI, Winter HS, Assiri AA, Korolev KS, Al Sarkhy AA, Dowd SE, et al. Microbiota profile in new-onset pediatric Crohn's disease: data from a non-Western population. Gut Pathog. 2018;10:49.

250. Yohe S, Thyagarajan B. Review of Clinical Next-Generation Sequencing. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2017;141(11):1544-57.

251. Illumina. Fungal Metagenomic Sequencing Demonstrated Protocol 2019 [Available from: <u>https://support.illumina.com/content/dam/illumina-</u> <u>support/documents/documentation/chemistry_documentation/metagenomic/fungal-</u> metagenomic-demonstrated-protocol-1000000064940-01.pdf.

252. Illumina 16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation (Illumina Technical note 15044223) 2014 [Available from:

https://emea.support.illumina.com/content/dam/illumina-

support/documents/documentation/chemistry_documentation/16s/16smetagenomic-library-prep-guide-15044223-b.pdf.

253. Mondot S, Lepage P, Seksik P, Allez M, Treton X, Bouhnik Y, et al. Structural robustness of the gut mucosal microbiota is associated with Crohn's disease remission after surgery. Gut. 2016;65(6):954-62.

254. Goodwin S, McPherson JD, McCombie WR. Coming of age: ten years of nextgeneration sequencing technologies. Nat Rev Genet. 2016;17(6):333-51.

255. Claesson MJ, Clooney AG, O'Toole PW. A clinician's guide to microbiome analysis. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2017;14(10):585-95.

256. Balvociute M, Huson DH. SILVA, RDP, Greengenes, NCBI and OTT - how do these taxonomies compare? BMC Genomics. 2017;18(Suppl 2):114.

257. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol. 2014;15(12):550.

258. Callahan BJ, McMurdie PJ, Rosen MJ, Han AW, Johnson AJ, Holmes SP. DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat Methods. 2016;13(7):581-3.

259. Escudié F, Auer L, Bernard M, Mariadassou M, Cauquil L, Vidal K, et al. FROGS: Find, Rapidly, OTUs with Galaxy Solution. Bioinformatics. 2018;34(8):1287-94.

260. Nilsson RH, Taylor AFS, Adams RI, Baschien C, Johan B-P, Cangren P, et al. Taxonomic annotation of public fungal ITS sequences from the built environment - a report from an April 10-11, 2017 workshop (Aberdeen, UK). MycoKeys. 2018(28):65-82.

261. Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, et al. Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome Biol. 2011;12(6):R60. 262. Weiss S, Xu ZZ, Peddada S, Amir A, Bittinger K, Gonzalez A, et al. Normalization and microbial differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):27.

263. Magro F, Lopes J, Borralho P, Lopes S, Coelho R, Cotter J, et al. Comparison of different histological indexes in the assessment of UC activity and their accuracy regarding endoscopic outcomes and faecal calprotectin levels. Gut. 2018;0:1-10.

264. Mosli MH, Feagan BG, Zou G, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Khanna R, et al. Development and validation of a histological index for UC. Gut. 2017;66(1):50-8.

265. Haddish-Berhane N, Farhadi A, Nyquist C, Haghighi K, Keshavarzian A. Biological variability and targeted delivery of therapeutics for inflammatory bowel diseases: an in silico approach. Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets. 2007;6(1):47-55.

266. Ito H, Iida M, Matsumoto T, Suzuki Y, Aida Y, Yoshida T, et al. Direct comparison of two different mesalamine formulations for the maintenance of remission in patients with ulcerative colitis: a double-blind, randomized study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2010;16(9):1575-82.

267. Naganuma M. Solving the questions regarding 5-aminosalitylate formulation in the treatment of ulcerative colitis. J Gastroenterol. 2020.

268. Machiels K, Joossens M, Sabino J, De Preter V, Arijs I, Eeckhaut V, et al. A decrease of the butyrate-producing species Roseburia hominis and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii defines dysbiosis in patients with ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2014;63(8):1275-83.

269. Quévrain E, Maubert MA, Michon C, Chain F, Marquant R, Tailhades J, et al. Identification of an anti-inflammatory protein from Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, a commensal bacterium deficient in Crohn's disease. Gut. 2016;65(3):415-25.

270. Sokol H, Seksik P, Furet JP, Firmesse O, Nion-Larmurier I, Beaugerie L, et al. Low counts of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii in colitis microbiota. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15(8):1183-9.

271. Xu J, Chen N, Wu Z, Song Y, Zhang Y, Wu N, et al. 5-Aminosalicylic Acid Alters the Gut Bacterial Microbiota in Patients With Ulcerative Colitis. Front Microbiol. 2018;9:1274.

272. Jun X, Ning C, Yang S, Zhe W, Na W, Yifan Z, et al. Alteration of Fungal
Microbiota After 5-ASA Treatment in UC Patients. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020;26(3):38090.

273. Kelly TN, Bazzano LA, Ajami NJ, He H, Zhao J, Petrosino JF, et al. Gut Microbiome Associates With Lifetime Cardiovascular Disease Risk Profile Among Bogalusa Heart Study Participants. Circ Res. 2016;119(8):956-64.

274. Chen LW, Xu J, Soh SE, Aris IM, Tint MT, Gluckman PD, et al. Implication of gut microbiota in the association between infant antibiotic exposure and childhood obesity and adiposity accumulation. Int J Obes (Lond). 2020;44(7):1508-20.

275. Jawhara S, Thuru X, Standaert-Vitse A, Jouault T, Mordon S, Sendid B, et al. Colonization of mice by Candida albicans is promoted by chemically induced colitis and augments inflammatory responses through galectin-3. J Infect Dis. 2008;197(7):972-80. 276. Hoarau G, Mukherjee PK, Gower-Rousseau C, Hager C, Chandra J, Retuerto MA, et al. Bacteriome and Mycobiome Interactions Underscore Microbial Dysbiosis in Familial Crohn's Disease. mBio. 2016;7(5).

277. Schaffler H, Herlemann DP, Alberts C, Kaschitzki A, Bodammer P, Bannert K, et al. Mucosa-attached bacterial community in Crohn's Disease coheres with the Clinical Disease Activity Index. Environ Microbiol Rep. 2016.

278. Li Q, Wang C, Tang C, He Q, Li N, Li J. Dysbiosis of gut fungal microbiota is associated with mucosal inflammation in Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48(6):513-23.

279. Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Walters TD, Kim M-O, Marigorta UM, Schirmer M, et al. Prediction of complicated disease course for children newly diagnosed with Crohn's disease: a multicentre inception cohort study. Lancet (London, England). 2017;389(10080):1710-8.

280. Dovrolis N, Drygiannakis I, Filidou E, Kandilogiannakis L, Arvanitidis K, Tentes I, et al. Gut Microbial Signatures Underline Complicated Crohn's Disease but Vary Between Cohorts; An In Silico Approach. Inflammatory bowel diseases. 2019;25(2):217-25.

Paper I

DOI: 10.1111/apt.15227

Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration, drug formulation and mucosal microbiome in patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis

Maya Olaisen^{1,2} D | Olav Spigset^{1,3} | Arnar Flatberg¹ | Atle van Beelen Granlund^{1,4} | Wenche Rødseth Brede³ | Grethe Albrektsen⁵ | Elin Synnøve Røyset^{1,6} | Bodil Gilde⁷ | Arne Kristian Sandvik^{2,4} | Tom Christian Martinsen^{1,2} | Reidar Fossmark^{1,2}

¹Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU – Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

²Department of Gastroenterology, Clinic of Medicine, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

³Department of Clinical Pharmacology, Clinic of Laboratory Medicine, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

⁴Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

⁵Department of Public Health and Nursing, Faculty of Medicine and Health Science, NTNU – Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

⁶Department of Pathology, Clinic of Laboratory Medicine, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

⁷Department of Medical Genetics, Clinic of Laboratory Medicine, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

Correspondence

Reidar Fossmark, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU – Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway. Email: reidar.fossmark@ntnu.no

Funding information

This study was funded in full by the Liaison Committee between Central Norway Regional Health Authority (RHA) and Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and by St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital.

Summary

Background: 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) is the first-line therapy for ulcerative colitis (UC). 5-ASA acts locally in the colonic mucosa by numerous proposed mechanisms, and is metabolised by N-acetyltransferase (NAT). Large variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentrations have been reported, but the underlying mechanisms are not understood.

Aim: To study the relationship between 5-ASA concentration, 5-ASA formulation, NAT genotype and bacterial microbiome in patients with UC.

Methods: Patients with quiescent UC, using monotherapy of Mezavant (n = 18), Asacol (n = 14) or Pentasa (n = 10), 4.0-4.8 g/day were included. 5-ASA was measured in colonic mucosal biopsies and serum by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography. NAT genotypes were determined by Sanger sequencing. Bacterial microbiome was sequenced from faeces and mucosa by 16S rRNA sequencing using Illumina Miseq.

Results: Mezavant provided the highest mucosal 5-ASA levels (geometric mean 2.39 ng/mg), followed by Asacol (1.60 ng/mg, 33% lower, P = 0.50) and Pentasa (0.57 ng/mg, 76% lower, P = 0.033). Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not associated with NAT genotype, but serum 5-ASA concentration and NAT1 genotype was associated (P = 0.044). Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated with mucosal bacterial diversity (P = 0.0005) and bacterial composition. High mucosal 5-ASA concentration was related to reduced abundance of pathogenic bacteria such as Proteobacteria, and increased abundance of several favourable bacteria such as Faecalibacterium.

Conclusions: Mucosal 5-ASA concentration is positively associated with bacterial diversity and a mucosal bacterial composition that are perceived favourable in UC. Mezavant yielded higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than Pentasa. 5-ASA may have beneficial effects on the mucosal microbiome, and high concentrations possibly amend dysbiosis in UC.

The Handling Editor for this article was Dr Colin Howden, and it was accepted for publication after full peer-review.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes. © 2019 The Authors. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics Published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Mesalazine or 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) is the first line therapy for patients with ulcerative colitis (UC), and is effective both for inducing and maintaining remission.^{1,2} 5-ASA is proposed to act through numerous mechanisms, including inhibition of pro-inflammatory mediators such as leukotriens, prostaglandin, interleukin-1, Nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), as well as a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR- γ) receptor agonist (reviewed by Lichtenstein and Kamm³).

5-ASA exerts its effect in the intestinal mucosa, and mucosal 5-ASA concentrations are inversely correlated to disease activity.4-7 It is therefore important to identify and understand the determinants of mucosal 5-ASA concentration. In the intestinal mucosa, 5-ASA is acetylated to its inactive metabolite N-acetyl-5-ASA (Ac-5-ASA), mainly by the enzyme N-acetyl-transferase 1 (NAT1), and to a small degree by N-acetyl-transferase 2 (NAT2).8,9 Orally administered unbound 5-ASA is absorbed and inactivated in the small intestinal mucosa and in the liver, thus only small amounts 5-ASA will reach the colonic mucosa.^{3,10} Therefore, several pharmaceutical delivery systems have been developed to transport orally administered 5-ASA to the colon. In a time-dependent formulation (Pentasa, Ferring Pharmaceuticals, Saint-Prex, Switzerland), 5-ASA is coated with a semipermeable membrane of ethyl cellulose, providing a pH-independent release of approximately 35% of its content in the small bowel, 25% in the colon, while the last 40% eliminates in the faeces.¹¹ In a pH-dependent delivery system (Asacol, Tillots Pharma AG, Rheinfelden, Switzerland), 5-ASA is coated with Eudragit S which dissolves at a pH >7,12 normally occurring in the terminal ileum and caecum. The Multi Matrix System (Mezavant, Shire Pharmaceutical Contracts Ltd, in partnership with Cosmo SpA, Milan, Italy) consists of hydrophilic and lipophilic excipients, covered by a pH-dependent coating dissolving at pH 7, causing slow diffusion of the drug into the gut lumen.³ For both Asacol and Mezavant absorption in the ileum is estimated to be around 20%.^{13,14} Faecal elimination for Asacol and Pentasa has been found to be similar.¹²

After oral administration of 5-ASA, mucosal concentrations are highest in the proximal colon segments and lowest in the rectum for the previously examined preparations.^{7,15,16} Higher concentrations in the rectum and left hemicolon have been achieved by combining oral and rectal 5-ASA formulations.^{16,17} However, rectal administration may be inconvenient and adherence to treatment over time is low. As 65%-85% of patients with UC have rectosigmoid and left-sided involvement at the time of diagnosis,^{18,19} it seems essential to assure optimal concentrations of 5-ASA in these bowel segments. Although previous studies suggest that Asacol yields higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than Pentasa,^{4,15} the different 5-ASA formulations are by many considered clinically equally efficient.² Studies comparing mucosal 5-ASA concentrations of the more recently marketed Mezavant with other 5-ASA formulations, have to the best of our knowledge, not been published.

Patients with UC have an altered gut microbiome, commonly called dysbiosis. Microbiome alterations in UC are characterised by reduced alpha-diversity²⁰⁻²³ combined with increases in the Proteobacteria phylum^{22,24,25} and decreases in the Firmicutes phylum.^{21,25,26} At genus level, Roseburia is reported to be decreased and Haemophilus increased.²⁷ The effect of selected antibiotics, probiotics and faecal microbiota transplantation²⁸ supports that dysbiosis is a part of the pathogenesis in UC. 5-ASA has previously also been reported to affect intestinal bacteria, by inhibiting growth of anaerobic strains, reducing bacterial invasiveness and total faecal bacterial abundance,²⁹⁻³¹ as well as reducing bacterial adherent biofilm thickness and Escherichia and Shigella abundances in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).^{21,32} Results from a recent study also suggest that 5-ASA acts as a polyP-kinase inhibitor, thereby decreasing some bacteria's ability to colonise and increase their susceptibility to oxidative stress.33

In the current study, we aimed to measure and compare mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in the left hemicolon and rectum in patients with quiescent UC using different oral 5-ASA formulations (Mezavant, Asacol or Pentasa). We also aimed to explore underlying mechanisms which could explain variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentration as well as exploring the interrelation between 5-ASA mucosal concentration and bacterial composition.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Study population

Patients were recruited from the Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway from 2015 to 2017. Inclusion criteria were confirmed diagnosis of UC in clinical remission prior to invitation, 18-70 years of age and use of oral 5-ASA (Asacol, Pentasa or Mezavant) 4.0-4.8 g once daily. Exclusion criteria were use of rectal 5-ASA formulations, prednisolone, azathioprine, methotrexate and TNF- α medication within the last 3 months. None of the patients had been using antibiotics or probiotics during the last 3 months prior to inclusion. The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway (approval reference 2014/2043).

2.2 | Blood samples, endoscopic procedure and collection of mucosal biopsies

Eight hours after daily 5-ASA dose ingestion, patients underwent blood sample collection, enema bowel preparation and sigmoidoscopy. Blood haemoglobin (Hb), leucocyte concentration, plasma erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP) were analysed successively. Serum was stored at -80°C until analysis of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations. EDTA blood was used for NAT1 and NAT2 genotyping using Sanger sequencing, as described in Supporting Information. A 240 mL sorbitol enema (Klyx, Ferring AS, Copenhagen, Denmark) was administered 30-45 minutessequenbefore sigmoidoscopy (Olympus Exera II GIF H180, Olympus Europausing tGmbH, Hamburg, Germany) up to 40 cm from the anal verge. Setssoftwarof three mucosal biopsies were collected at 10, 25 and 40 cm fromsequenthe anal verge (total of nine biopsies) using endoscopy forcepsNA_SU(EndoJaw, Olympus Medical Systems, Tokyo, Japan) after cleaning ofappliedthe mucosa with water to remove visible faecal remnants. Threeclustered

the mucosa with water to remove visible faecal remnants. Three biopsies were put on formalin for subsequent histological scoring of inflammation. The remaining six biopsies were briefly rinsed in NaCl 9 mg/mL solution, dried, weighed, snap frozen on liquid N₂, and stored at -80° C for subsequent measurement of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentration and sequencing of the mucosal microbiome.

2.3 | Analysis of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations

5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations were analysed in five mucosal colonic biopsies (two biopsies from 10 cm, one biopsy from 25 cm and two biopsies from 40 cm from the anal verge) and in serum from each patient, using an ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) method, as described in Supporting Information.

2.4 | Evaluation of disease characteristics and inflammation

Demographic and clinical characteristics were recorded. Disease activity was assessed by clinical and endoscopic Mayo score,³⁴ Geboes histological score³⁵ and faecal calprotectin. Endoscopic remission was defined as an endoscopic Mayo score \leq 1, histological remission as a Geboes score <2.1 and remission according to total Mayo score as a total Mayo score \leq 2. Patients that fulfilled both endoscopic Mayo score \leq 1 and Geboes score <2.1 were classified as being in deep remission.³⁶ Patients were instructed to bring a fresh (<24 hours) faecal sample to the appointment. An aliquot was used for calprotectin measurement using a commercial ELISA method (Calpro AS, Lysaker, Norway), normal range <50 mg/kg. Three biopsies from each patient, one from each location (10, 25 and 40 cm from the anal verge) were histologically evaluated by an experienced pathologist. The pathology assessment of inflammation was blinded and scored according to Geboes histological score.³⁵

2.5 | Microbiome analysis

The bacterial microbiome was analysed in one mucosal biopsy (sampled 25 cm from the anal verge) and in one faecal sample from each patient (stored at -80°C until analysis). Bacterial DNA was isolated using QIAamp Powerfecal (faecal samples) (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and DNeasy Powersoil kit (biopsy samples) (Qiagen), further described in Supporting Information. Libraries were constructed according to Illumina's 16S Metagenomic Sequencing Library Preparation. 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing was performed on an Illumina MiSeq sequencer (Illumina Inc, San Diego, CA). The short read sequencing data from both faecal and mucosal origin were analysed using the operational taxonomic unit (OTU) approach. The QIIME software pipeline (version 1.9.1)³⁷ was used to cluster the gene sequences into OTUs based on sequence similarity. The SortMeR-NA_SUMACLUST method of open-reference OTU picking was applied to a total of 6207583 and 296047 sequencing reads and clustered into 1043 and 770 OTUs for faecal and mucosal samples respectively, at 0.8 SortMeRNA coverage threshold. The OTU taxonomy was identified using the Ribosomal Database Project classifier trained on the Greengenes database (version 13.8).

2.6 Statistical analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics version 24.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used to conduct the statistical analysis. Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented as median (IQR, interguartile range) for skewly distributed variables, mean value (SD) for normal distributed variables, and as % (n) for categorical variables. Accordingly, Kruskal-Wallis test, F-test (ANOVA) and chi-squared test were used for comparing 5-ASA formulations groups with respect to these measures. A multilevel linear mixed model was applied to test for difference in mean mucosal concentrations of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA (log-transformed data) by type of 5-ASA formulation, adjusted for (no-interaction model), or specific to (interaction model) sample locations in the left hemicolon and rectum (10, 25 and 40 cm from the anal verge), further described in Supporting Information. Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparing serum concentrations between the three 5-ASA formulations. Regardless of 5-ASA formulation (n = 42), mean mucosal 5-ASA concentration (individual level defined by mean of five repeated measures, log-transformed) and mean serum 5-ASA concentration was compared according to NAT genotype (two phenotypes for NAT1 and three phenotypes for NAT2) and disease activity (deep remission or remission according to endoscopic or total Mayo score) using one-way ANOVA. P-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. A power analysis was performed in which mean mucosal 5-ASA concentration estimates were based on previous studies comparing Pentasa and Asacol^{4,7,15} by one-way ANOVA and two pair-wise comparisons. With mean 5-ASA concentrations of 60 and 20 ng/mg, a SD of 30 ng/mg, α = 0.05 and β = 0.8, 11 patients in each group were needed.

Associations between 5-ASA mucosal concentrations and bacterial composition in the mucosa and faeces were examined using a linear regression model. The OTU tables generated by the QIIME pipeline were imported into the R software environment version 3.4.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) using the phyloseq package and subsequently filtered as to include only OTUs from the Bacteria kingdom and excluding OTUs classified as Mitochondria, Chloroplast or Cyanobacteria/Chlorplast. Alpha diversity values were estimated from the filtered datasets using Shannon entropy. The core microbiome was estimated by requiring 10% prevalence of detected (>1 sequence) OTUs. The core microbiome had a total of 822 and 156 OTUs in faecal and mucosal samples respectively. The count tables at a given taxonomic rank of the core **TABLE 1** Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients with ulcerative colitis using three different oral 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) formulations

	Mezavant	Asacol	Pentasa	P-value
Number of patients, n	18	14	10	_
Dose (g/d), median (IQR)	4.8 (0.0)	4.8 (0.2)	4.0 (0.0)	_
Gender (M-F) (n-n)	11-7	5-9	7-3	0.19
Age at diagnosis (y), mean (SD)	35.8 (9.7)	31.4 (12)	37.2 (13.7)	0.325
Duration of disease (y), median (IQR)	8.5 (5)	11.0 (6)	7.0 (15)	0.076
Disease extension, n (%)				
Rectosigmoid involvement	6 (33)	3 (22)	3 (30)	0.796
Left sided	3 (17)	1 (7)	1 (10)	
Pancolitis	9 (50)	10 (71)	6 (60)	
Previous medical therapy (≥3 mo ago), n (%)				
Prednisolone	17 (94)	14 (100)	8 (80)	_
Methotrexate	0	1 (7)	0	_
Azathioprine	1 (5.5)	2 (14)	0	_
Anti-TNFα	0	2 (14)	0	_
Current co-medication, n (%) ^a				
No co-medication	10 (56)	10 (72)	7 (70)	0.802
Laboratory values				
Hb ^b (g/dL), mean (SD)	14.4 (1.3)	13.9 (1.4)	14.9 (1.1)	0.168
CRP ^c (mg/L), median (IQR)	<5 (0)	<5 (4)	<5 (0)	0.074
ESR ^d (mm/h), median (IQR)	3,0 (4)	7.0 (12) ^e	4.5 (6)	0.210
Leukocytes (×10 ⁹ /L), mean (SD)	6.7 (1.4)	8.1 (2)	6.6 (1.1)	0.036 ^f
Faecal calprotectin (mg/kg), median (IQR)	33 (243)	93 (175)	55 (410)	0.253
Disease activity				
Total Mayo score, median (IQR)	1.5 (3.0)	1.0 (2.25)	0.5 (1.25)	0.055
Clinical Mayo score, median (IQR)	1.0 (2.0)	0.5 (2.0)	0.0 (1.0)	0.311
Endoscopic Mayo score, median (IQR)	1.0 (2.0)	0.0 (1.0)	0.0 (1.0)	0.010 ^g
Endoscopic remission ^h , n (%)	12 (67%)	13 (93%)	10 (100%)	0.021 ⁱ
Histologic Geboes score, median (IQR)	1.1 (1.1)	1.1 (0.1)	0.1 (1.3)	0.328
Histologic remission ^j , n (%)	14 (78)	11 (79)	7 (70)	0.873
Deep remission ^k , n (%)	12 (67)	11 (79)	7 (70)	0.750

^aPercentage of patients on monotherapy with oral 5-ASA and no co-medication. For patients using co-medication, the following drugs were used: amiloride/hydrochlorothiazide (n = 1), lisinopril/hydrochlorothiazide (n = 1), losartan/ hydrochlorothiazide(n = 1), calcium and cholecalciferol (n = 3), zoledronate (n = 1), alendronate (n = 2), pantoprazole (n = 1), esomeprazole (n = 1), drospirenone/ethinylestradiol (n = 1), estradiol/norethindrone acetate (n = 1), ethinylestradiol/levonorgestrel (n = 1), venlafaxine (n = 2), levothyroxine (n = 2), tiotropium bromide (n = 1), simvastatin (n = 1), cetirizine (n = 1), paracetamol (n = 1), zolmitriptan (n = 1), sumatriptan (n = 1), desoximetasone crème 2.5 mg/g (n = 1), terbinafine (n = 1).

^bBlood haemoglobin. ^cC-reactive protein.

^dPlasma erythrocyte sedimentation rate.

^eFor one Asacol patient SR-value is missing.

^fAsacol group had higher leukocyte concentration.

^gMezavant group had higher endoscopic Mayo scores.

^hDefined as a endoscopic Mayo score ≤ 1 .

ⁱMezavant patients had lower rates of endoscopic remission.

^jDefined as a Geboes score <2.1.

^kDefined as a endoscopic Mayo score ≤ 1 and a Geboes score < 2.

microbiome were imported into the DESeq2 R package to estimate which OTUs that significantly correlated with log-transformed mucosal 5-ASA concentrations.³⁸ Significant OTUs were identified using a regression model in DESeq2 using default options and *P*-values were estimated using a Wald test and adjusted for multiple testing by Benjamini Hochberg false discovery rate correction.

1305



FIGURE 1 Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) concentration in five colonic biopsies sampled 40, 25 and 10 cm from the anal verge in patients with ulcerative colitis using three different oral 5-ASA formulations. Each line represents one patient

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Patient characteristics

Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented in Table 1. Overall the three 5-ASA formulation groups were similar. There were no significant differences in total Mayo score (P = 0.055) or proportion of patients in deep remission (P = 0.750). However, the Asacol group had higher leukocyte concentrations (P = 0.036), and the Mezavant group had higher endoscopic Mayo scores (P = 0.01) and fewer patients in endoscopic remission (P = 0.021). All Pentasa patients were classified to be in endoscopic remission, while 12 (67%) Mezavant patients and 13 (93%) Asacol patients were in endoscopic remission (P = 0.021). The proportion of patients in histological remission was, however, lowest in the Pentasa group, n = 7 (70%).

3.2 | 5-ASA drug formulation was associated with mucosal 5-ASA concentration

A graphical display of the individual 5-ASA concentrations at different locations (Figure 1) illustrates large inter-individual variations, but small intra-individual variation between segments. Boxplots of mucosal 5-ASA concentration at all locations are shown in Figure S4.

The overall test for difference in adjusted mean 5-ASA concentration (averaged over location) between the three 5-ASA formulation groups (Table 2) did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.099), but pairwise comparisons revealed a significant higher mean concentration in patients using Mezavant compared with Pentasa (geometric mean 2.39 ng/mg vs 0.57 ng/mg, P = 0.033) and a nonsignificant higher mean value compared to the Asacol group (2.39 ng/mg vs 1.60 ng/mg, P = 0.50). Recalculated into % difference, the Pentasa patients had 76% lower 5-ASA concentrations compared with

Mezavant patients, and Asacol patients had in average 33% lower concentrations. The mean 5-ASA concentration level differed significantly by location ($P \le 0.001$), with the lowest concentrations in the rectum regardless of formulation. Despite a more clear decreasing trend according to location in the Pentasa group, the test for interaction between location and formulation did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.68). Consequently, the difference between the three 5-ASA formulations was consistently observed at each location, although power of test within subgroups was low. Adjustment for deep remission did not change the results notably, but provided more precise estimates (slightly lower *P*-values and smaller Cl, results not shown).

The mucosal concentration of Ac-5-ASA decreased significantly from oral to anal direction, and did not differ between the formulations overall (P = 0.47) or in pairwise comparisons (Mezavant vs Pentasa P = 0.23 and Mezavant vs Asacol P = 0.48). There were no significant differences in serum 5-ASA (P = 0.20) or serum Ac-5-ASA (P = 0.20) between the different 5-ASA formulations (Table 3).

3.3 | Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated to abundance of numerous beneficial bacteria

Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was significantly associated to the mucosal bacterial abundance on all taxonomic levels (Table 4), whereas the association to bacterial abundance in faecal samples was weaker (Table 5). Mucosal 5-ASA concentration and alpha-diversity was positively associated in mucosal biopsies ($P = 4.7 \times 10^{-4}$), whereas no association was found in faecal samples (Figure 2). Regression analysis of bacterial abundances on phylum level and mucosal 5-ASA concentration (Figure 3) revealed that mucosal 5-ASA mucosal concentrations were associated with lower abundances

	Geometric mean (95% confidence interval) ^a			P-value	
	Mezavant (n = 18)	Asacol (n = 14)	Pentasa (n = 10)	By location ^b	By formulation ^c
5-ASA concentrations					
Adjusted mean ^d	2.39 (1.09-5.28)	1.60 (0.65-3.91)	0.57 (0.20-1.64)		0.099
Difference (%)	1.0 (reference)	-33.2 (-79.8, 119.7)	-76.3 (-93.7, -11.2)		
<i>P</i> -value ^e		0.50	0.033		
By location (cm from the anal verge)				<0.001	
40	2.71 (1.20-6.10)	1.71 (0.68-4.31)	0.76 (0.26-2.26)		0.24
25	3.22 (1.36-7.59)	2.31 (0.88-6.10)	0.58 (0.18-1.81)		0.064
10	1.61 (0.71-3.63)	1.09 (0.43-2.74)	0.37 (0.13-1.10)		0.081
P-value, location ^f	0.013	0.011	0.006		
P -value, interaction ^g	0.68				
Ac-5-ASA concentrations					
Adjusted mean ^d	1.56 (0.98-2.49)	1.03 (0.61-1.74)	1.19 (0.64-2.22)		0.47
Difference (%)	1.0 (reference)	-34.3 (-67.4, 32.4)	-23.9(-64.9, 65.2)		
P-value ^e		0.23	0.48		
By location (cm from the anal verge):				<0.001	
40	2.03 (1.24-3.30)	1.68 (0.97-2.93)	2.02 (1.05-3.89)		0.85
25	1.50 (0.88-2.57)	0.88 (0.48-1.61)	1.05 (0.52-2.15)		0.47
10	1.29 (0.79-2.10)	0.71 (0.41-1.24)	0.78 (0.40-1.50)		0.27
P-value, location ^f	0.009	<0.001	<0.001		
P-value, interaction ^g	0.23				

 TABLE 2
 Mucosal concentrations (ng/mg) of 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) and acetylated 5-ASA (Ac-5-ASA) in the left hemicolon and rectum in patients with ulcerative colitis using three different oral 5-ASA formulations

^aResults based on analyses of log-transformed data in multilevel linear mixed model, with and without interaction between 5-ASA formulation type and location, and with additional adjustments for pinch biopsy site and replicates (replicate samples at 40 and 10 cm).

^bF-tests for difference in mean values between locations; 10, 25 and 40 cm from the anal verge (no-interaction model).

^cF-tests for difference in mean values between 5-ASA formulation groups, overall (no-interaction model) and at each specific location (interaction model).

^dOverall mean, averaged over location and order of sampling (estimated marginal means from no-interaction model).

^ePairwise tests (each group compared with Mezavant).

^fF-tests for difference in mean values between locations within each 5-ASA formulation (interaction model).

^gF-test for interaction between location and 5-ASA formulation type.

TABLE 3	Serum concentrations (ng/mL) of 5-aminosalicyclic acid
(5-ASA) and	acetylated 5-ASA (Ac-5-ASA) in patients with ulcerative
colitis using	three different oral 5-ASA formulations

	Mezavant	Asacol	Pentasa	P-value ^a
Serum concer	ntrations (ng/mL)	, median (interq	uartile range)	
5-ASA	3420 (5085)	1658 (3347)	3028 (6317)	0.202
Ac-5-ASA	2319 (2769)	1770 (2439)	4634 (5555)	0.200

^aCompared using Kruskal-Wallis test.

of the Proteobacteria phylum ($P = 1.2 \times 10^{-15}$) and higher abundances of Firmicutes ($P = 2.6 \times 10^{-6}$) and Bacteroidetes ($P = 3.1 \times 10^{-4}$) in mucosal biopsies. There were no associations between faecal bacterial abundance on phylum level and 5-ASA mucosal concentration.

In the mucosal biopsies, 10 bacterial families were positively and six families were negatively associated to mucosal 5-ASA concentration (Figures S5 and S6), the most significant association was seen for Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae families (Figure 4A,B). Totally 19 mucosal bacterial genera were associated with 5-ASA concentration. The bacterial genus in the mucosa that was most significantly associated to 5-ASA concentration was Faecalibacterium (4.8×10^{-16}) (Figure 4C), followed by the genera Blautia (Figure 4D), Bacteroides, Coprococcus and Dorea. Of the genera associated with 5-ASA concentration, 18 of 19 were positively associated (Figure S7). Cloacibacterium was the only genus negatively associated (P = 0.048) with mucosal 5-ASA concentration in the mucosal biopsies (Figure 4F). On species level, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii was positively correlated with mucosal 5-ASA concentration (P = 1.3×10^{-6}) (Figure 4E). In faeces, two bacterial genera were associated with 5-ASA mucosal concentration; Prevotella ($P = 7.2 \times 10^{-5}$) and Sutterella (P = 0.03), both genera were negatively associated with 5-ASA concentrations (Table 5).

TABLE 4 Mucosal bacteria abundances significantly associated with 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) concentration on different taxonomic levels (regression analysis)

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Р	В
Proteobacteria	_	_	_	_	1.2×10^{-15}	-1.29
Firmicutes	_	_	_	_	2.6×10^{-6}	0.48
Bacteroidetes	_	_	_	_	3.1×10^{-4}	0.99
Firmicutes	Clostridia	_	_	_	6.1×10^{-21}	2.33
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	_	_	_	6.9×10^{-9}	2.10
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	_	_	_	1.2×10^{-6}	-0.87
Firmicutes	Bacilli	_	_	_	1.2×10^{-5}	-0.70
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	_	_	_	5.5×10^{-5}	-0.65
Bacteroidetes	Flavobacteriia	_	_	_	4.8 0.10 ⁻³	-2.34
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	_	_	2.4×10^{-20}	2.62
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	_	_	8.2×10^{-10}	2.10
Actinobacteria	Actinobacteria	Bifidobacteriales	_	_	1.3×10^{-4}	1.94
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	_	_	1.4×10^{-4}	3.37
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	_	_	9.8×10^{-4}	-0.57
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Bacillales	_	_	0.002	-0.49
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	_	7.8×10^{-13}	1.73
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Ruminococcaceae	_	1.6×10^{-12}	2.01
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Comamonadaceae	_	9.8×10^{-12}	-1.27
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Bacilliales	Bacillaceae	_	6.2×10^{-12}	-1.32
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	Brucellaceae	_	2.8×10^{-8}	-1.51
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Bacteroidaceae	_	3.9×10^{-5}	1.46
Bacteroidetes	Flavobacteriia	Flavobacteriales	Weeksellaceae	_	5.7×10^{-4}	-2.95
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Porphyromonadaceae	_	8.2×10^{-4}	2.04
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Rikenellaceae	_	0.011	2.38
Proteobacteria	Alphaproteobacteria	Rhizobiales	Methylobacteriaceae	_	0.015	-1.11
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	_	0.015	2.10
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Clostridiaceae	_	0.015	1.76
Actinobacteria	Actinobacteria	Actinomycetales	Microbacteriaceae	_	0.029	-0.74
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	_	0.031	3.60
Actinobacteria	Actinobacteria	Bifidobacteriales	Bifidobacteriaceae	_	0.031	0.99
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Streptococcaceae	_	0.035	1.87
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Ruminococcaceae	Faecalibacterium	4.8×10^{-16}	3.16
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Blautia	$2.1 imes 10^{-14}$	2.60
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Bacteroidaceae	Bacteroides	$1.8 imes 10^{-10}$	2.72
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Coprococcus	3.6×10^{-10}	2.41
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Dorea	$1.8 imes 10^{-8}$	3.05
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Ruminococcus	$6.1 imes 10^{-8}$	3.97
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Ruminococcaceae	Oscillospira	$6.2 imes 10^{-8}$	3.94
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Roseburia	$9.6 imes 10^{-8}$	3.39
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Porphyromonadaceae	Parabacteroides	1.0×10^{-7}	3.40
Actinobacteria	Actinobacteria	Bifidobacteriales	Bifidobacteriaceae	Bifidobacterium	1.9×10^{-5}	2.10
Firmicutes	Bacilli	Lactobacillales	Streptococcaceae	Streptococcus	5.5×10^{-5}	3.55
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Sutterella	1.2×10^{-4}	3.36
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Lachnospiraceae	Lachnospira	1.2×10^{-4}	2.02
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Ruminococcaceae	Ruminococcus	2.1×10^{-4}	2.76

1308 WILEY- AP&T Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Р	В
Actinobacteria	Coriobacteriia	Coriobacteriales	Coriobacteriaceae	Collinsella	1.2×10^{-3}	2.17
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Odoribacteraceae	Odoribacter	$9.3 imes 10^{-3}$	2.48
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella	0.021	4.51
Firmicutes	Clostridia	Clostridiales	Veillonellaceae	Dialister	0.028	1.40
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Weeksellaceae	Cloacibacterium	0.048	-1.62

Bacteria within each taxonomic level are listed by increasing P-values. P = adjusted P-value, B = regression coefficient. Red text = increased abundance (positive association), blue = decreased abundance (negative association).

 TABLE 5
 Faecal bacteria abundances significantly associated with 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) concentration on different taxonomic levels (regression analysis)

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Р	В
Proteobacteria	Betaproteobacteria	_	_	—	0.004	-2.02
Bacteroidetes	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	_	_	0.007	-2.02
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	_	7.7×10^{-5}	-5.17
Firmicutes	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	_	0.02	-1.92
Bacteroidetes	Bacteroidia	Bacteroidales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella	7.2×10^{-5}	-5.27
Firmicutes	Betaproteobacteria	Burkholderiales	Alcaligenaceae	Sutterella	0.025	-1.91

Bacteria within each taxonomic level are listed by increasing P-values. P = adjusted P-value, B = regression coefficient, Blue text = decreased abundance (negative association).



FIGURE 2 Bacterial diversity analysis in biopsies and faecal samples in patients with ulcerative colitis using 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA). Red line = regression line, dark grey area = 95% confidence interval

3.4 | Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not associated with mucosal inflammation

neither associated with deep remission (P = 0.106), total Mayo score (P = 0.114) nor endoscopic Mayo score (P = 0.055). The inflammation variables tended to be higher in patients with high mucosal 5-ASA concentration.

Mucosal 5-ASA concentrations and disease activity were not significantly associated in our patients. Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was



FIGURE 3 Bacterial phyla correlated to 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) mucosal concentration in biopsies and faecal samples in patients with ulcerative colitis (UC). P: phylum, P = adjusted P-value, B = regression coefficient, Rlog = regularised logarithm transformation. Blue line = regression line. Dark grey area = 95% confidence interval



FIGURE 4 Selected bacterial families, genera and species significantly correlated to 5-aminosalicylic acid (5-ASA) mucosal concentration in mucosal biopsies in patients with ulcerative colitis; (A) Lachnospiraceae, (B) Ruminococcaceae, (C) Faecalibacterium, (D) Blautia, (E) Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, (F) Cloacibacterium (for complete list see Figures S5-S7). P, phylum; C, class; F, family; G, genus; Sp, species. *P* = adjusted *P*-value; *B* = regression coefficient, Rlog = regularised logarithm transformation. Blue line = regression line. Dark grey area = 95% confidence interval

3.5 | NAT1 genotype influences serum, but not mucosal 5-ASA concentration

All patients were successfully genotyped for NAT1 and NAT2. Eight patients (19.1%) had a slow acetylator NAT1 phenotype (Table 6). Thirty-one patients (73.8%) had a slow acetylator NAT2 phenotype (Table S3). Patients with NAT1 slow acetylators status had significantly higher 5-ASA serum concentrations (P = 0.044) than patients with NAT1 rapid acetylator status. There was no significant association between serum 5-ASA concentration and NAT2 genotype (P = 0.708). Mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not significantly associated with neither NAT1 (P = 0.276) nor NAT2 (P = 0.488) genotype.

4 DISCUSSION

This is the first study to measure mucosal 5-ASA concentration in UC patients using different oral 5-ASA formulations, and correlating

it to NAT genotype and bacterial microbiota. Concurring with previous findings, our patients had declining concentrations of 5-ASA towards the rectum.¹⁶ A novel finding was that patients using Mezavant had higher overall mucosal 5-ASA concentrations, compared to patients using Pentasa, while there was no significant difference between patients using Mezavant and Asacol. All patients used high doses of 5-ASA, however the manufacturers' maximal recommended dose of Pentasa (4.0 g) is 17% lower than of Mezavant (4.8 g) and Asacol (4.8 g), but this could only explain a minor proportion of the observed differences. The large inter-individual variation in concentration was consistent with previous reports,4-7 whereas the intra-individual variation between bowel segments was small. Factors such as colonic transit time, intraluminal pH and disease pattern may affect dissolution and uptake of 5-ASA in the colon³⁹ and could explain some of the inter-individual variation in 5-ASA concentration reported in the present and previous studies.^{4,15,16} The mucosal Ac-5-ASA concentration reflects the amount of 5-ASA metabolised by NAT1 in the colonic mucosa. There were no significant differences

TABLE 6 Frequencies of N-acetyl-transferase 1 (NAT1) genotypes and phenotype/acetylator status in patients with ulcerative colitis using oral 5-aminosalicylic acid

NAT1 Genotype	Number of patients (n)	Phenotype/ Acetylator status	Observed frequency (%)
NAT1*3/*4	1	Rapid	2.4
NAT1*4/*4	24	Rapid	57.1
NAT1*4/*10	7	Rapid	16.7
NAT1*4/*14B	2	Slow	4.8
NAT1*4/*15	1	Slow	2.4
NAT1*4/*16	1	Rapid	2.4
NAT1*4/*17	4	Slow	9.5
NAT1*10/*10	1	Rapid	2.4
NAT1*10/*14A	1	Slow	2.4

in Ac-5-ASA mucosal concentrations between the three 5-ASA formulations. Similarly, the serum concentrations of 5-ASA or Ac-5-ASA did not differ between the formulations.

The intestinal bacterial composition and metabolic products may affect disease activity in UC. 5-ASA has been found to inhibit in vitro growth of Mycobacterium avium paratuberculosis as well as anaerobic bacteria.^{31,40} 5-ASA also influence bacterial gene expression causing reduced bacterial invasiveness.30 Furthermore, in patients with irritable bowel syndrome, 5-ASA reduces overall faecal bacterial abundance, increases Firmicutes and decreases Bacteroidetes abundances.²⁹ In the present study, mucosal 5-ASA concentration was remarkably associated with alterations in the mucosal bacterial composition, but to a lesser degree with alterations in faecal microbiota. High mucosal 5-ASA concentration was associated with high bacterial diversity, decreased mucosal abundances of Proteobacteria phylum and increased mucosal abundances of Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes phyla. Reduced bacterial diversity is a hallmark of dysbiosis in UC, whereas increased bacterial diversity is perceived beneficial.^{20,21,25,41} Proteobacteria are increased in patients with UC,^{25,42,43} and linked to increased disease activity and relapse frequency.^{24,42} Overall, the bacterial genera positively associated with high 5-ASA concentrations have previously been associated with beneficial effects in IBD: (a) the abundances of the butyrate producing Faecalibacterium and Roseburia have been inversely correlated to disease activity in UC.44 (b) Blautia, Bacteroides, Parabacteroides and Sutterella have all been reported to be inversely correlated with inflammation in patients with ileal-pouch anal anastomosis.45 (c) Ruminococcaceae and Ruminococcus spp in donor faeces transplanted to UC patients is associated with induction of remission⁴⁶ and (d) the Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae family, to which most genera in Table 4 belong, may protect against UC as they are increased in healthy twins discordant for UC.22 One genus, Cloacibacterium, was found to be negatively associated to mucosal 5-ASA concentration, recently this genus has been reported to be more abundant in inflamed vs. non-inflamed tissue of UC patients.²³

Although 16S rRNA sequencing may not be the preferred method for analysing bacteria on species level, the mucosal 5-ASA concentration was positively associated with the mucosal abundance of *F. prausnitzii. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* is found to be depleted in UC patients and inversely correlated with disease activity, whereas increased abundance is associated with long-term remission.^{44,47}

The mucosal 5-ASA concentration was not associated with alterations in the faecal bacteriome to the same extent as the mucosal bacteriome. The faecal bacterial diversity, and bacterial abundance on phylum level, were not associated with mucosal 5-ASA concentrations. However, abundances of the Betaproteobacteria class and Burkholderiales order in faeces were negatively associated to mucosal 5-ASA concentration, the former association was also found in the mucosa and is presumed favourable in UC.^{24,42}

5-ASA concentration have previously been found to be inversely correlated to disease activity index scores,^{5,7} endoscopic and histologic remission^{4,6} in UC patients with mild to moderate disease activity. In the present study, patients had low disease activity, and in contrast to previous findings, the 5-ASA concentration was not significantly associated with the combined parameters of disease activity. Such associations may not be evident within a relatively homogenous patient group with low disease activity. In fact, there was a trend towards higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in patients with higher endoscopic scores and it is unlikely that the microbiome features associated with mucosal 5-ASA concentration were confounded by the degree of inflammation. NAT1 and NAT2 genotypes have previously not been found to influence treatment efficacy,48 but studies correlating NAT genotypes to 5-ASA mucosal concentrations have previously not been published. We found no correlation between NAT genotypes and mucosal 5-ASA concentration, thus NAT1 genotype cannot explain the large inter-individual variations in mucosal 5-ASA concentrations in our study. Interestingly we found that patients with the NAT1 slow acetylator genotype had significantly higher serum 5-ASA concentrations compared to patients with NAT1 rapid acetylator genotype, which could theoretically influence the risk of concentration dependent systemic adverse effects.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

Patients using Mezavant had significantly higher mucosal 5-ASA concentrations than patients using Pentasa. Our results suggest that 5-ASA increases bacterial diversity, favours numerous beneficial bacteria and inhibits disadvantageous bacteria in UC patients. In conclusion, our novel findings indicate that 5-ASA may have positive effects on the mucosal microbiome and could amend dysbiosis in UC patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Bjørn Munkvold for preparation of histological sections. The bacterial sequencing was provided by the Genomics Core Facility (GCF), NTNU. GCF is funded by the Faculty

-WILEY-AP&T Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics

of Medicine and Health Sciences at NTNU and RHA. Financial support was given from the Liaison Committee between Central Norway Regional Health Authority (RHA) and Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and from St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital.

Declaration of personal interests: None.

AUTHORSHIP

Guarantor of the article: Reidar Fossmark.

Author contributions: TCM and RF designed the study. MO, TCM and RF have collected the data. OS, AF, WRB, GA, ESR, and BG have contributed to analyses of biological material and data. MO, OS, AF, AvBG, GA, AKS, TCM and RF have interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. All authors have approved the final version of the manuscript including the author list.

ORCID

Maya Olaisen D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9932-9380

REFERENCES

- Wang Y, Parker CE, Bhanji T, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5aminosalicylic acid for induction of remission in ulcerative colitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;4:CD000543.
- Wang Y, Parker CE, Feagan BG, MacDonald JK. Oral 5-aminosalicylic acid for maintenance of remission in ulcerative colitis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;5:CD000544.
- Lichtenstein GR, Kamm MA. Review article: 5-aminosalicylate formulations for the treatment of ulcerative colitis–methods of comparing release rates and delivery of 5-aminosalicylate to the colonic mucosa. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2008;28:663-673.
- D'Inca R, Paccagnella M, Cardin R, et al. 5-ASA colonic mucosal concentrations resulting from different pharmaceutical formulations in ulcerative colitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19:5665-5670.
- D'haens G, Hommes D, Engels L, et al. Once daily MMX mesalazine for the treatment of mild-to-moderate ulcerative colitis: a phase II, dose-ranging study. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2006;24:1087-1097.
- Frieri G, Giacomelli R, Pimpo M, et al. Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration inversely correlates with severity of colonic inflammation in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut.* 2000;47:410-414.
- Naganuma M, Iwao Y, Ogata H, et al. Measurement of colonic mucosal concentrations of 5-aminosalicylic acid is useful for estimating its therapeutic efficacy in distal ulcerative colitis: comparison of orally administered mesalamine and sulfasalazine. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2001;7:221-225.
- Hein DW, Doll MA, Rustan TD, et al. Metabolic activation and deactivation of arylamine carcinogens by recombinant human NAT1 and polymorphic NAT2 acetyltransferases. *Carcinogenesis*. 1993;14:1633-1638.
- Hickman D, Pope J, Patil Sd, et al. Expression of arylamine N-acetyltransferase in human intestine. *Gut.* 1998;42:402-409.
- Harris MS, Lichtenstein GR. Review article: delivery and efficacy of topical 5-aminosalicylic acid (mesalazine) therapy in the treatment of ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2011;33:996-1009.

- Rasmussen SN, Bondesen S, Hvidberg EF, et al. 5-aminosalicylic acid in a slow-release preparation: Bioavailability, plasma level, and excretion in humans. *Gastroenterology*. 1982;83:1062-1070.
- Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB. Systematic review: the pharmacokinetic profiles of oral mesalazine formulations and mesalazine pro-drugs used in the management of ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2003;17:29-42.
- Brunner M, Assandri R, Kletter K, et al. Gastrointestinal transit and 5-ASA release from a new mesalazine extended-release formulation. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2003;17:395-402.
- Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Buch A. Comparative pharmacokinetics of equimolar doses of 5-aminosalicylate administered as oral mesalamine (Asacol) and balsalazide: a randomized, single-dose, crossover study in healthy volunteers. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2004;19:1089-1098.
- De Vos M, Verdievel H, Schoonjans R, Praet M, Bogaert M, Barbier F. Concentrations of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA in human ileocolonic biopsy homogenates after oral 5-ASA preparations. *Gut.* 1992;33:1338-1342.
- Frieri G, Pimpo MT, Palumbo GC, et al. Rectal and colonic mesalazine concentration in ulcerative colitis: oral vs. oral plus topical treatment. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 1999;13:1413-1417.
- Frieri G, Pimpo M, Galletti B, et al. Long-term oral plus topical mesalazine in frequently relapsing ulcerative colitis. *Dig Liver Dis.* 2005;37:92-96.
- Henriksen M, Jahnsen J, Lygren I, et al. Ulcerative colitis and clinical course: results of a 5-year population-based follow-up study (the IBSEN study). *Inflamm Bowel Dis*. 2006;12:543-550.
- Ungaro R, Mehandru S, Allen PB, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Colombel JF. Ulcerative colitis. *Lancet*. 2017;389:1756-1770.
- Alipour M, Zaidi D, Valcheva R, et al. Mucosal barrier depletion and loss of bacterial diversity are primary abnormalities in paediatric ulcerative colitis. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10:462-471.
- Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, et al. Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. *Genome Biol.* 2012;13:R79.
- Lepage P, Häsler R, Spehlmann ME, et al. Twin study indicates loss of interaction between microbiota and mucosa of patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology*. 2011;141:227-236.
- Hirano A, Umeno J, Okamoto Y, et al. Comparison of the microbial community structure between inflamed and non-inflamed sites in patients with ulcerative colitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;33:1590-1597.
- Haberman Y, Tickle TL, Dexheimer PJ, et al. Pediatric Crohn disease patients exhibit specific ileal transcriptome and microbiome signature. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:3617-3633.
- Imhann F, Vich Vila A, Bonder MJ, et al. Interplay of host genetics and gut microbiota underlying the onset and clinical presentation of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* 2018;67:108-119.
- Walker AW, Sanderson JD, Churcher C, et al. High-throughput clone library analysis of the mucosa-associated microbiota reveals dysbiosis and differences between inflamed and non-inflamed regions of the intestine in inflammatory bowel disease. *BMC Microbiol.* 2011;11:7.
- Shah R, Cope JL, Nagy-Szakal D, et al. Composition and function of the pediatric colonic mucosal microbiome in untreated patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut Microb.* 2016;7:384-396.
- McIlroy J, laniro G, Mukhopadhya I, Hansen R, Hold GL. Review article: the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease-avenues for microbial management. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2018;47:26-42.
- Andrews CN, Griffiths TA, Kaufman J, Vergnolle N, Surette MG, Rioux KP. Mesalazine (5-aminosalicylic acid) alters faecal bacterial profiles, but not mucosal proteolytic activity in diarrhoea-predominant irritable bowel syndrome. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;34:374-383.

${ m AP}_{\&}$ T Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics $-{ m WILEY}$

- Kaufman J, Griffiths TA, Surette MG, Ness S, Rioux KP. Effects of mesalamine (5-aminosalicylic acid) on bacterial gene expression. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2009;15:985-996.
- Sandberg-Gertzen H, Kjellander J, Sundberg-Gilla B, Jarnerot G. In vitro effects of sulphasalazine, azodisal sodium, and their metabolites on Clostridium difficile and some other faecal bacteria. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* 1985;20:607-612.
- Swidsinski A, Loening-Baucke V, Bengmark S, Lochs H, Dorffel Y. Azathioprine and mesalazine-induced effects on the mucosal flora in patients with IBD colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2007;13:51-56.
- Dahl J-U, Gray MJ, Bazopoulou D, et al. The anti-inflammatory drug mesalamine targets bacterial polyphosphate accumulation. *Nat Microbiol.* 2017;2:16267.
- Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, Ilstrup DM. Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis. A randomized study. N Engl J Med. 1987;317:1625-1629.
- Geboes K, Riddell R, Ost A, Jensfelt B, Persson T, Lofberg R. A reproducible grading scale for histological assessment of inflammation in ulcerative colitis. *Gut.* 2000;47:404-409.
- Magro F, Lopes J, Borralho P, et al. Comparison of different histological indexes in the assessment of UC activity and their accuracy regarding endoscopic outcomes and faecal calprotectin levels. *Gut.* 2018:1-10.
- Caporaso JG, Kuczynski J, Stombaugh J, et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nat Methods. 2010;7:335-336.
- Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol.* 2014;15:550.
- Haddish-Berhane N, Farhadi A, Nyquist C, Haghighi K, Keshavarzian A. Biological variability and targeted delivery of therapeutics for inflammatory bowel diseases: an in silico approach. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets*. 2007;6:47-55.
- Greenstein RJ, Su L, Shahidi A, Brown ST. On the action of 5-aminosalicylic acid and sulfapyridine on *M. avium* including subspecies paratuberculosis. *PLoS ONE*. 2007;2:e516.

- Qin J, Li R, Raes J, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature*. 2010;464:59-65.
- Mukhopadhya I, Hansen R, El-Omar EM, Hold GL. IBD-what role do Proteobacteria play? Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2012;9:219-230.
- Michail S, Durbin M, Turner D, et al. Alterations in the gut microbiome of children with severe ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*. 2012;18:1799-1808.
- Machiels K, Joossens M, Sabino J, et al. A decrease of the butyrateproducing species Roseburia hominis and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii defines dysbiosis in patients with ulcerative colitis. Gut. 2014;63:1275-1283.
- Tyler AD, Knox N, Kabakchiev B, et al. Characterization of the gutassociated microbiome in inflammatory pouch complications following ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *PLoS ONE*. 2013;8:e66934.
- 46. Kump P, Wurm P, Gröchenig Hp, et al. The taxonomic composition of the donor intestinal microbiota is a major factor influencing the efficacy of faecal microbiota transplantation in therapy refractory ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2018;47:67-77.
- Varela E, Manichanh C, Gallart M, et al. Colonisation by *Faecalibac-terium prausnitzii* and maintenance of clinical remission in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2013;38:151-161.
- Ricart E, Taylor WR, Loftus EV, et al. N-acetyltransferase 1 and 2 genotypes do not predict response or toxicity to treatment with mesalamine and sulfasalazine in patients with ulcerative colitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2002;97:1763-1768.

How to cite this article: Olaisen M, Spigset O, Flatberg A, et al. Mucosal 5-aminosalicylic acid concentration, drug formulation and mucosal microbiome in patients with quiescent ulcerative colitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*. 2019;49:1301–1313. https://doi.org/10.1111/apt.15227

Supporting information

NAT1 and NAT2 genotyping

NAT1 *4 and NAT2 *4 have been defined as reference alleles (1). A total of 28 sequence variants or NAT1 alleles have been described to date (2). Carriers, both heterozygous and homozygous of NAT1 *14A, *14B, *15, *17, *19A, *19B and *22 alleles have a reduced enzyme activity and were considered slow acetylators, while all other allele combinations were considered rapid acetylators (1). NAT2 genotypes are classified into rapid, intermediate and slow acetylators phenotypes according to previous publications (1).

DNA was isolated from EDTA preserved whole blood using QIAsymphony SP/AS and QIAsymphony DSP DNA Midi kit, version 1.0 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), quality tested using NanoDrop (Termo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and stored at -20 °C until analysis of NAT1 and NAT2 genotype. NAT1 and NAT 2 genotypes were determined using Sanger sequencing. All primers were designed using Oligo[®] Primer Analysis Software version 7.57 (Molecular Biology Insights, Inc., Colorado Springs, CO) and Alamut[®] Visual version 2.10 (Interactive Biosoftware, Rouen, France). The primers were ordered from Eurogentec (BioNordika AS, Oslo, Norway). Four primers pairs (Supplementary information table S1) were designed to identify all known NAT1 genotypes (2). The primers amplify the region c.-6-405 – c.*297 of the reference sequence NG_012245.2 (NM_001160170.3) with overlapping regions. Two primer pairs (Supplementary information table S2) were designed to identify the most common six NAT2 alleles; NAT2*4, NAT2*5, NAT2*6, NAT2*7, NAT2*10 and NAT2*14 (3). The primers amplify the region c.-5-c.-91 of the reference sequence NG_012246.1 (NM_00015.2).

30 ng of isolated DNA from EDTA preserved whole blood and 7μM of each primer were added to the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) mix of 25 μL. PCR was preformed using AmpliTaq Gold 360 Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster city, CA) as per manufacturer's instructions. The PCR products were purified with A'SAP (ArcticZymes[®], Tromsø, Norway) before sequencing reaction was performed with BigDye Terminator version 3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems) as per manufacturer's instructions. The PCR and sequencing were done on a 2720 Thermal Cycler (Applied Biosystem). The sequencing products were purified with BigDye XTerminator Purification Kit (Applied Biosystems) and subsequent capillary electrophoresis was performed on 3730 DNA Analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Sanger sequencing data was analysed using SeqScape Software version 3.0 (Applied Biosystems) and Alamut[®] Visual, version 2.10 (Interactive Biosoftware).

Analysis of 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations

5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations were analysed in five mucosal colonic biopsies and in serum from each patient. Two biopsies were sampled from 10 cm, one biopsy from 25 cm and two biopsies from 40 cm from the anal verge. The mean net weight of the biopsies was 7.5 mg (IQR 3.33). 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA concentrations were analysed using an ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (UPLC-MS/MS) method. Reference standards of both compounds were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), whereas the internal standard 5-ASA-d₃ was from Alsachim (Illkirch Graffenstaden, France). For the preparation of spiked standards and quality controls, blank intestinal tissue was collected from patients undergoing colectomy without using 5-ASA. Blank human serum was collected from healthy medication-free blood donors.

On the day of analysis, preparation of the thawed intestinal biopsy started with the addition of 100 μ L water and 10 μ L of the internal standard 5-ASA-d₃ at a concentration of 15 μ g/mL. Thereafter, the biopsy was finely cut with a stainless steel scissor, mixed and frozen at -80 °C for 20 minutes. After thawing, 0.7 mL of ice-cold acetonitrile with 1% formic acid was added and the sample was shaken, centrifuged, transferred to new tubes and evaporated to dryness. The dry residue was dissolved in 50 μ L 0.1% formic acid in water and 0.5 μ L was injected onto the UPLC-MS/MS system.

A Waters Acquity UPLC I-class FTN system equipped with an Acquity UPLC HSST3 1.8μ m, 2.1 x 100mm column (Waters, Milford, MA) was used for chromatographic separation. Mobile phase A consisted of 0.1% formic acid in water and mobile phase B consisted of methanol. After isocratic conditions with 95% A and 5% B for 2.5 minutes, a step gradient to 5% A and 90% B followed. At 4.5 minutes, the composition was reset to the initial conditions, and a 1.5 min equilibration time was allowed. The compounds were detected on a Xevo TQ-S tandem-quadrupole mass spectrometer (Waters, Manchester, UK) equipped with an electrospray source. Positive electrospray ionization was performed in the multiple reaction monitoring mode. Mass transitions were m/z 154.0>136.0 for 5-ASA, m/z 196.0>136.0 for Ac-5-ASA and m/z 157.0>139.0 for the internal standard 5-ASA-d₃.

The limit of quantification was 25 ng/mL for both 5-ASA and Ac-5-ASA, corresponding to 0.5 ng/mg in a biopsy weighing 5 mg and 0.25 ng/mg in a biopsy weighing 10 mg. The method was linear at least up to 10,000 ng/mL. Between-day coefficients of variation were assessed at three different concentrations (low, medium and high), and were <6% for 5-ASA and <19% for Ac-5-ASA.

DNA isolation, microbiome analysis

Faecal DNA was isolated from 250 mg samples of faeces using QIAamp[®] Powerfecal DNA (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's protocol with the following adjustment; Step 5 (Vortex) was replaced, instead the provided PowerBead tubes were vortexed using Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France) at 5000 rpm x 3 rounds of 40 seconds. The DNA from the mucosal biopsy, mean net weight was 7.3 mg (IQR 3.98), were isolated using the DNeasy PowerSoil kit[®] (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's protocol with the following adjustments; Step 3 and 4 (vortexing) were replaced and instead the provided PowerBead tubes were vortexed using Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Technologies) at 5000 rpm x 3 rounds of 40 seconds, after bead beating and before centrifuging (Step 5) 20 μ L of Proteinase K 20mg/mL were added and samples incubated at 65°C for 30 minutes, according to Qiagen's recommendations. The isolated DNA were quality tested using NanoDrop (Termo Fisher Scientific) and Qubit (Termo Fisher Scientific).

Statistical analysis

5-ASA formulation and biopsy location (pinch biopsy site and replicates) were included in the multilevel linear mixed model as fixed factors (categorical variables), whereas subject was defined as random factor to take account of the dependency (equal covariance assumed) in the repeated measurements over location (10, 25, 45 cm) and order of observation (2 replicates at each location except at 25 cm). An interaction term between formulation type and location was included in the model to examine whether the difference in mean mucosa 5-ASA concentration by location differed between formulation type, and conversely, whether the difference in mean values between formulation types differed by location. The analyses were

performed on log-transformed data, but estimated parameters were back-transformed (geometric mean and relative difference in mean values, respectively).

References

1. Hein DW. N-acetyltransferase SNPs: emerging concepts serve as a paradigm for understanding complexities of personalized medicine. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2009;5(4):353-66.

2. Boukouvala S. [Human NAT1 Alleles (Haplotypes)]. Available from: http://nat.mbg.duth.gr/Human NAT1 alleles 2013.htm.

3. Cascorbi I, Drakoulis N, Brockmoller J, Maurer A, Sperling K, Roots I. Arylamine Nacetyltransferase (NAT2) mutations and their allelic linkage in unrelated Caucasian individuals: correlation with phenotypic activity. Am J Hum Genet. 1995;57(3):581-92. **Table S1.** N-acetyltransferase 1 (NAT1) primers designed to genotype NAT1 haplotypes on reference sequence NG_012245.2 (NM_001160170.3) with overlapping regions. S = sense strand. AS = antisense strand, PCR = Polymerase chain reaction, bp = basepairs. - / + = bp before/after coding sequence.

Primer	Primer sequence	Coding sequence	PCR product length (bp)
Primer 1 S	5'-TTGAGTGGGTCAGGTACCACG-3'	-6-405	479
Prime 1 AS	3'-GTTTCCAAGTCCAATTTGTTCC-5'	68	
Primer 2 S	5'-GTCTAGGAACAAATTGGACTTGG-3'	42	511
Primer 2 AS	3'-GCTGTCTTCTAGGAGATCAGAATG-5'	552	
Primer 3 S	5'-GATTCTGGTATCTAGACCAAATC-3'	470	372
Primer 3 AS	3'-GCACAAGCTTTCTCTGCAAG-5'	841	
Primer 4 S	5'-GTTCCTTGCAGACCCCAG-3'	668	503
Primer 4 AS	3'-CAACAATAAACCAACATTAAAAGC-5'	+297	

Table S2. N-acetyltransferase 2 (NAT2) primers designed to genotype NAT2 haplotypes on reference sequence NG_012246.1 (NM_000015.2) with overlapping regions. S = sense strand. AS = antisense strand, PCR = Polymerase chain reaction, bp = basepairs. - / + = bp before/after coding sequence.

Primer	Primer sequence	Coding sequence	PCR product length (bp)
Primer 1 S	GGATCATGGACATTGAAGC	-5	468
Primer 1 AS	CTTCTGTCAAGCAGAAAATG	463	
Primer 2 S	ATTGTCGATGCTGGGTCTG	358	607
Primer 2 AS	ACGTGAGGGTAGAGAGGAT	+91	

Table S3. Frequencies of N-acetyltransferase 2 (NAT2) genotypes and phenotype/acetylator

 status in patients with ulcerative colitis using using oral 5-aminosalicylic acid.

NAT2 Genotype	Number of patients (n)	Phenotype/Acetylator status	Observed frequency (%)
NAT2*4/*4	3	Rapid	7.1
NAT2*4/*5	3	Intermediate	7.1
NAT2*4/*6	4	Intermediate	9.5
NAT2*4/*7	1	Intermediate	2.4
NAT2*5/*5	7	Slow	16.7
NAT2*5/*6	14	Slow	33.4
NAT2*5/*7	4	Slow	9.5
NAT2*6/*6	4	Slow	9.5
NAT2*6/*7	2	Slow	4.8

Figure S4. Logarithmic mucosal 5-aminosalisylic acid (5-ASA) concentration 40, 25 and 10 cm from the anal verge in patients with ulcerative colitis (UC), stratified by 5-ASA formulation. The vertical line inside the box represents the median value, the length of the box represents the interquartile range (IQR) and the whiskers represent the highest and lowest values, values more than 1.5 x IQR are defined as outliers.


Figure S5. Bacterial families positively correlated to 5-aminosalisylic acid (5-ASA) mucosal concentration in mucosal biopsies. P: phylum, C: class, F: family, p = adjusted p-value, B = regression coefficient, Rlog = regularized logarithm transformation. Blue line = regression line. Dark grey area = 95% confidence interval.





Figure S6. Bacterial families negatively correlated to 5-aminosalisylic acid (5-ASA) mucosal concentration in mucosal biopsies. P: phylum, C: class, F: family, p = adjusted p-value, B = regression coefficient, Rlog = regularized logarithm transformation. Blue line = regression line. Dark grey area = 95% confidence interval.



Figure S6. Bacterial families negatively correlated to 5-ASA mucosal concentration in mucosal biopsies

Figure S7. Bacterial genera positively correlated to 5-aminosalisylic acid (5-ASA) mucosal concentration in mucosal biopsies. P: phylum, C: class, F: family, G: genus, p = adjusted p-value, B = regression coefficient, Rlog = regularized logarithm transformation. Blue line = regression line. Dark grey area = 95% confidence interval.







Paper II

Bacterial Mucosa-associated Microbiome in Inflamed and Proximal Noninflamed Ileum of Patients With Crohn's Disease

Maya Olaisen, MD,^{*,†} Arnar Flatberg, PhD,^{*} Atle van Beelen Granlund, PhD,^{*,‡} Elin Synnøve Røyset, MD,^{*,§} Tom Christian Martinsen, MD, PhD,^{*,†}, Arne Kristian Sandvik, MD, PhD,^{*,†,‡} and Reidar Fossmark, MD, PhD^{*,†}

Background: Microbiota is most likely essential in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease (CD). Fecal diversion after ileocecal resection (ICR) protects against CD recurrence, whereas infusion of fecal content triggers inflammation. After ICR, the majority of patients experience endoscopic recurrence in the neoterminal ileum, and the ileal microbiome is of particular interest. We have assessed the mucosa-associated microbiome in the inflamed and noninflamed ileum in patients with CD.

Methods: Mucosa-associated microbiome was assessed by 16S rRNA sequencing of biopsies sampled 5 and 15 cm orally of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis.

Results: Fifty-one CD patients and forty healthy controls (HCs) were included in the study. Twenty CD patients had terminal ileitis, with endoscopic inflammation at 5 cm, normal mucosa at 15 cm, and no history of upper CD involvement. Crohn's disease patients (n = 51) had lower alpha diversity and separated clearly from HC on beta diversity plots. Twenty-three bacterial taxa were differentially represented in CD patients vs HC; among these, *Tyzzerella* 4 was profoundly overrepresented in CD. The microbiome in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileal mucosa did not differ according to alpha diversity or beta diversity. Additionally, no bacterial taxa were differentially represented.

Conclusions: The microbiome is similar in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileal mucosa within the same patients. Our results support the concept of CD-specific microbiota alterations and demonstrate that neither ileal sublocation nor endoscopic inflammation influence the mucosa-associated microbiome.

Key Words: Crohn's disease, mucosal microbiota, microbiome.

INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) characterized by transmural inflammation of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. It may involve the entire GI tract from the oral cavity to the perianal area. Approximately 75% percent of patients have small bowel involvement, usually

Supported by: This study was funded in full by the Liaison Committee between Central Norway Regional Health Authority (RHA) and Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and by St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway.

Address correspondence to: Reidar Fossmark, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Postboks 3250 Torgarden, 7006 Trondheim, Norway. E-mail: reidar.fossmark@ntnu.no.

© 2020 Crohn's & Colitis Foundation. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of Crohn's & Colitis Foundation.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc/4.0/), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

doi: 10.1093/ibd/izaa107 Published online 25 May 2020 in the distal ileum and 25%–30% of all patients have ileitis exclusively.^{1, 2} The etiology of CD is not known; however, an abnormal immune reaction toward environmental factors, including gut microbiota, in genetically predisposed individuals is the most widely accepted hypothesis. During their lifetime, 75%–80% of CD patients will require surgical intervention,^{1, 3} most commonly ileocecal resection (ICR).^{2, 4} Furthermore, 75%–80% of patients experience endoscopic recurrence of disease, usually in the neoterminal ileum, proximal to the surgical anastomosis.^{1-3, 5}

Patients with CD have an altered gut microbiome composition compared with healthy controls, characterized by decreased bacterial diversity and alterations in bacterial composition, including increased abundances of potentially harmful bacteria and decreased abundances of protective bacteria.⁶⁻⁹ More specifically, the altered mucosal microbiome in the ileal mucosa of CD patients is characterized by increased abundances of Proteobacteria and Fusobacteria phyla, in addition to Enterobacteriaceae, Veillonellaceae, Gemellaceae, and Fusobacteriaceae families, in combination with decreased abundance of Firmicutes phylum and Lachnospiraceae, Bifidobacteriaceae, and Erysipelotrichaeceae families.^{7,10-14}

Previous studies have found large differences between the bacterial composition in fecal samples and in mucosal biopsies from the colon.^{14, 15} Because microbes found in fecal samples may be derived from any part of the GI tract, fecal samples are not ideal for studying microbial changes within the small bowel.

Received for publications January 6, 2020; Editorial Decision April 20, 2020.

From the *Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway; 'Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway; 'Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway; 'Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway

Conflicts of interest: The authors report no conflicts of interest.

Investigating the ileal microbiome may be crucial to understand etiologic aspects of CD, for instance, why fecal diversion after ileocecal resection prevents downstream CD recurrence, whereas reestablishment of bowel continuity or infusion of intestinal content is associated with recurrence of disease.^{16, 17} Analyses of ileal mucosal microbiome both at the time of ICR and postoperatively have identified characteristics of the microbiome that are associated with postoperative recurrence.18-20 Sokol et al²⁰ found that increased abundances of Gammaproteobacteria, Corynebacterium, and Ruminococcus gnavus and reduced abundance of Ruminoclostidium 6 at the time of ileocecal resection were predictive of disease recurrence. Additionally, a recent analysis of 2 separate cohorts found that reductions in a specific cluster of bacteria in postoperative CD patients was associated with increased risk of disease recurrence.⁶ Postoperative recurrence of disease most often occurs in the surgical anastomosis and immediately proximal to the anastomosis,^{1, 3, 5} and analyses of the mucosal microbiome in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileum could increase our understanding of the microbial role in disease recurrence.

In the current study, we assessed the ileal bacterial microbiome of adult CD patients and compared the bacterial mucosa-associated microbiome in the inflamed ileum with the proximal noninflamed mucosa within the same patients, which to the best of our knowledge, has not been performed previously.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients and Control Subjects

Patients were recruited from the Department of Gastroenterology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, between 2017 and 2019. Patients with Norwegian ethnicity who were 18 to 70 years old and referred to an endoscopic examination involving the small intestine were invited to participate if they were eligible. Inclusion criteria included an established diagnosis of CD based on clinical, endoscopic, and histological criteria or a clinical suspicion of CD that was confirmed after both endoscopic and histologic evaluation. The Montreal classification was used to describe CD characteristics.²¹ Ageand sex-matched patients referred to ileocolonoscopy due to rectal bleeding or screening for disease were included as healthy controls (HCs) if the endoscopy and histologic evaluation of biopsies were normal. Exclusion criteria included use of antibacterial or antifungal treatment for the past 2 months or a diagnosis of either diabetes mellitus, liver diseases including primary sclerosing cholangitis and primary biliary cirrhosis, or celiac disease. Additional exclusion criteria for the HC group were history of gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal polyps, cancer, diverticulitis, or irritable bowel disease fulfilling ROME IV criteria.22

Endoscopic Procedure

Ileocolonoscopy was performed using either Olympus Exera II GIF HQ190 or PH190L or enteroscope SIF-Q180 (Olympus Europa GmbH, Hamburg, Germany). A total of 4 ileal pinch biopsies were collected from each study participant. An overview of the study design is provided in Figure 1. In CD patients, 2 biopsies were sampled from the inflamed area (approximately 5 cm orally of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis) and 2 from normal appearing mucosa (approximately 15 cm from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis). In CD patients with active inflammation where the proximal limit of inflammation could not be reached by the endoscope, in CD patients in remission and in the HC group, biopsies were sampled 5 cm and 15 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve or anastomosis. In the CD patients with an ileal stenosis preventing further intubation of the ileum, 5-cm samples were collected exclusively. Degree of endoscopic ileal inflammation was evaluated according to Rutgeerts score;²³ inflammation was defined as Rutgeerts score \geq 1. One pair of mucosal pinch biopsies sampled at 5 and 15 cm from the ileocecal valve were put on formalin for histological grading of inflammation, and the remaining pair were put directly on liquid N, and stored on N, until subsequent DNA isolation and sequencing of the mucosal bacterial microbiome.

Histological Evaluation of Biopsies

Formalin-fixed biopsies were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) and evaluated blindly by an experienced pathologist and scored according to Global Histologic Disease Activity Score (GHAS) and Robarts score.^{17, 24, 25} No validated histological scoring index for evaluation of disease activity in CD exists. Due to the focality of CD and poor correlation between histological activity and other measurements of disease activity, it is claimed that the significance of histological evaluation of all biopsies ensured classification of a histological, normal appearing ileal mucosa in biopsies from HCs.

Microbial Analyses

DNA was isolated from the mucosal biopsies using DNeasy Powersoil kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer's protocol with the following adjustments: steps 3 and 4 (vortexing) were replaced, and instead the provided PowerBead tubes were vortexed using Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Technologies, Montignyle-Bretonneux, France) at 5000 rpm \times 3 rounds of 40 seconds (step 3). After bead beating, 20 µL of Proteinase K 20 mg/mL was added, and samples were incubated at 65°C for 30 minutes according to Qiagen's recommendations before centrifugation (step 5). The isolated DNA was quality tested using NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA) and Qubit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Then 16S metagenomic



FIGURE 1. Illustration of study design with mucosal pinch biopsy location and number from the study participants. Fifty-one Crohn's disease patients including 7 CD patients with ileal stenosis (CD-S), 22 CD patients with terminal ileitis (CD-TI) with endoscopic inflamed mucosa at 5-cm location (Rutgeerts score \geq 1) and normal endoscopic appearing mucosa at 15-cm location, 10 CD patients with active disease (CD-A) with endoscopic inflamed mucosa at both 5-cm and 15-cm location, and 12 CD patients in remission (CD-R) with endoscopic normal appearing mucosa at both 5-cm and 15-cm location and 40 healthy controls (HC) were included in the cohort. Two mucosal pinch biopsies were collected on each location in the 44 CD patients and HCs, in total 4 mucosal pinch biopsies per study participant. Two mucosal biopsies were collected in the 7 CD-S patients at 5-cm location because of ileal stenosis mucosal pinch biopsies could not be collected at 15-cm location.

sequencing libraries were prepared according to the "16S Illumina Demonstrated Library Prep Guide,"²⁷ with minor adjustments. In brief, 22.5 ng genomic DNA (extracted from biopsies samples) was used as a template for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification (25 cycles) of the 16S V3 and V4 regions. The 16S ribosomal RNA gene

PCR primers were based on sequences first published by Klindworth.²⁸ Illumina adaptor compatible overhang nucleotide sequences were added to the gene/locus specific sequences (16S Amplicon PCR Forward Primer = 5' TCG TCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGCCTA CGGGNGGCWGCAG and 16S Amplicon PCR Reverse

Primer = 5' GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTAT AAGAGACAGGACTACHVGGGGTATCTAATCC), resulting in a PCR product of the expected size of approximately 550 bp. The PCR products were then cleaned using AMPure XP beads to purify 16S V3 and V4 amplicons from free primers and primer-dimer products. In a second PCR amplification step (8 cycles), dual indices and Illumina sequencing adaptors were added by using the Nextera XT indexing kit (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A second PCR clean-up step was performed using AMPure XP beads before validation of the library by a LabChip GX DNA high sensitivity assay (PerkinElmer, Inc., Waltham, MA). Libraries were normalized and pooled to 10 pM and subjected to clustering on 1 MiSeq v3 flowcell. Finally, paired end read sequencing was performed for 2X300 cycles on a MiSeq instrument (Illumina Inc.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Base calling was done on the MiSeq instrument by RTA v1.18.54. FASTQ files were generated using bcl2fastq2 conversion software v2.17 (Illumina Inc.).

Statistics

IBM SPSS Statistics version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used to conduct the statistical analysis apart from the sequencing data. Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented as percentages (n) for categorical variables, median (interquartile range [IQR]) for skewed distributed variables, and mean value (SD) for normally distributed variables; \times^2 test, Mann-Whitney *U* test, or independent *t* test were used for comparing CD patients with HCs. A *P* value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Sequencing data were processed using QIIME II pipeline and denoised using DADA2. Data generated by the QIIME II pipeline were imported into the R software environment version 3.5.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) using the phyloseq package and subsequently filtered to include only operational taxonomic units from the bacteria kingdom and excluding operational taxonomic units classified as mitochondria, chloroplast or cyanobacteria/chloroplast. Sequences were classified taxonomically using Silva (release 132) reference database. Alpha diversity was assessed by Shannon entropy and beta diversity by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index. The count tables merged at a given taxonomic rank were imported into the DESeq2 R package to estimate differential expression. P values were estimated using a Wald test and adjusted for multiple testing by Benjamini-Hochberg false discovery rate correction. For all statistical analysis, adjusted P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway (approval reference, 2016/2164). All study participants provided written informed consent.

RESULTS

Patient Characteristics

A total of 51 CD patients and 40 HCs were included in the study. Demographic and clinical characteristics of all study participants are presented in Table 1. Overview of study participants is provided in Figure 1. Seven of the 51 CD patients had a stenosis preventing intubation 15 cm into the ileum (CD-S). For the remaining 44 CD patients, biopsy specimens were sampled from both 5 and 15 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve or anastomosis; 22 of these had terminal ileitis (CD-TI) with endoscopic inflammation at 5 cm and normal appearing mucosa at 15 cm; 10 had endoscopic active inflammation both at 5 and 15 cm (CD-A); and 12 were in endoscopic remission with normal appearing mucosa at 5 and 15 cm (CD-R). Crohn's disease-specific characteristics are presented in Table 2. The majority of CD patients had previously undergone ileocecal resection (n = 32), 63.6% and 57.1% in the CD and CD-S groups, respectively. A total of 190 pinch biopsies were sampled from all CD patients; of these, 95 biopsy specimens underwent histologic evaluation, and the remaining 95 underwent 16S rRNA sequencing for analysis of the bacterial microbiome (Supplementary Table 1).

We found 76% agreement between endoscopic and histologic characterization of inflammation. In the majority of cases where endoscopic and histologic conclusion differed, endoscopy disclosed inflammation, but histology was described as normal, plausibly due to the focality of CD.

Mucosa-associated Bacterial Microbiota in CD Patients vs HC

Crohn's disease patients (n = 51) had lower alpha diversity compared with HC ($P = 2.4 \times 10^{-7}$; Fig. 2A). There was also a clear separation between CD patients and HCs on nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plots of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, reflecting differences in bacterial microbiome composition (Fig. 2B). Differential expression analysis identifying taxa differentially expressed between CD patients and HCs showed that CD significantly increased abundances of Proteobacteria phylum ($P = 1.2 \times 10^{-12}$) and Enterobacteriaceae family ($P = 9.9 \times 10^{-7}$) compared with HCs. At genus level, CD patients had higher abundances of Tyzzerella 4 (27-fold [log2]; $P = 4.1 \times 10^{-68}$) and Escherichia shigella and lower abundances of Ruminiclostridium 5, Ruminiclostridium 6, Eisenbergiella and Fecalibacterium. In total, 7 bacterial families and 15 bacterial genera were significantly differently expressed between CD and HC (Fig. 2C). The increased abundance of Tyzzerella 4 in CD patients was remarkable; this genus was further identified as Tyzzerella sp. Marseille-P3062. However, 16S rRNA sequencing is not the

	CD	HC	P^{a}
Number of patients, n	51	40	
Male gender, n (%)	26 (51%)	19 (47.5%)	0.785
Age, years, mean (SD)	41.5 (14.2)	36.6 (12.9)	0.94
BMI, mean (SD)	25.9 (4.7)	26.6 (4.7)	0.502
Acid reflux medication, n (%)			0.839
PPI	5 (9.8%)	2 (5%)	
H, blockers	1 (2.0%)	0	
PPI on demand	1 (2.0%)	0	
H ₂ blockers on demand	1 (2.0%)	1 (2.5%)	
Smoking			0.560
Never smoker	25 (49%)	25 (62.5%)	
Active smoker	6 (11.8%)	5 (12.5%)	
Snuff	12 (23.5%)	8 (20%)	
Ex-smoker	8 (15.7%)	2 (5%)	
Laboratory values			
Hb (g/dL), mean (SD)	13.9 (1.4)	14.5 (1.7)	0.09
Leukocytes (x10 ⁹ /L), median (IQR)	6.7 (2.0)	6.5 (2.3)	0.261
CRP (mg/L), median (IQR)	<5(5)	<5 (0)	0.006

.....

^aComparing CD with HC using Mann-Whitney U test for skewly distributed continuous variables, independent t test for normal distributed continuous variables, and Fisher exact test for categorical variables.

preferred method for analyzing bacteria on species level. The microbiome community composition shift within individual patients is visualized in Supplementary Figure 1.

Mucosa-associated Microbiota at Different Locations in the lleum

Alpha diversity did not differ between 5-cm and 15-cm biopsy samples within CD patients (P = 0.83; Fig. 3A). Similarly, bacterial composition did not differ between 5 cm and 15 cm within CD patients (Fig. 3B). Differential expression analysis did not identify any bacterial phyla, families, or genera that differed in expression at 5 cm and 15 cm in the ileum in CD patients. When CD and HC samples were pooled together, there was no separation between 5 cm and 15 cm regarding beta diversity, nor within the HC or CD groups (Fig. 3C). We also performed differential expression analysis comparing abundances of bacterial taxa at 5 cm and 15 cm within the HC samples. We found the Peptostreptococcaceae family to be overrepresented at 15 cm vs 5 cm (P = 0.02); however, this was the only taxa on phylum, family, genus and species level that was differentially expressed between 5 cm and 15 cm in the ileum of HC.

Mucosal Microbiome in the Inflamed and Proximal Noninflamed Ileum in CD Patients

To separate the effects of localized inflammation itself from a potentially disseminated alteration in mucosa-adjacent bacteria, we compared the microbiome in inflamed ileal mucosal microbiome at 5 cm and the orally noninflamed mucosal microbiome 15 cm from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis in CD patients. Twenty-two CD patients had terminal ileitis with inflammation at 5 cm and endoscopic normal appearing mucosa at 15 cm (CD-TI); however, 2 patients had a history of concomitant upper gastrointestinal CD and were excluded from these particular subanalyses. There was no difference in alpha diversity between 5-cm samples and 15-cm samples from the 20 CD-TI patients (P = 0.88; Fig. 4A). Similarly, there was no separation between 5-cm and 15-cm samples according to beta diversity (Fig. 4B), reflecting a similar bacterial microbiome composition in inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileal mucosa. Differential expression analysis provided similar results; no taxa (phylum, family, genus, or species level) were differentially represented between inflamed 5 cm vs noninflamed 15 cm ileal location. However, the 20 CD-TI patients had significantly lower alpha diversity (P = 0.0013) than HCs (Fig. 4C), and beta diversity analysis demonstrated a clear separation between CD-TI patients and HCs (Fig. 4D).

Effects of Inflammation on Mucosa-Associated Microbiome

To further explore if microbiome differences found in CD patients vs HC were associated with inflammation, we compared the microbiome in CD biopsies from locations characterized as inflamed at endoscopy (n = 49) and

TABLE 2. Crohn's Disease Characteristics, Current and Previous Medical Treatment, and Surgical History of CD Patients

	Crohn's disease (5 + 15 cm samples)	Crohn's disease with stenosis (CD-S, only 5 cm sample)
Number of patients n	(c = c = c = c = c = c = c = c = c = c =	7
Disease duration years (median (IOR))	10.0 (19.8)	80(130)
Subclassification of patients a n (%)	10.0 (19.8)	0.0 (15.0)
CD_TI ^b (inflamed 5 cm, normal 15 cm)	22 (50.0%)	0
CD = 11 (initiation of 5 cm and 15 cm)	10(22.7%)	0
$CD \cdot A$ (minimized 5 cm and 15 cm)	10(22.770) 12(27.20/)	0
CD-K (nonininanica 5 cm)	12 (27.570)	7 (100%)
Montreal logation $p(0/2)$	0	7 (100%)
The initial location, fr (%)	22 (52 2%)	1 (14 20/)
Ierminal fleum (L1)	23 (52.3%)	1 (14.3%)
lleocolonic (L3)	16 (36.4%)	4 (57.1%)
Ileocolonic + Upper GI $(L3 + L4)$	5 (11.4%)	2 (28.6%)
Montreal behaviour, n (%)		
Nonstricturing, nonpenetrating (B1)	8 (18.2%)	0
Nonstricturing, nonpenetrating + perianal (B1p)	2 (4.5%)	1 (14.3%)
Stricturing (B2)	15 (34.1%)	3 (42.9%)
Stricturing + perianal (B2p)	6 (13.6%)	2 (28.6%)
Penetrating (B3)	11 (25%)	1 (14.3%)
Penetrating + perianal (B3p)	2 (4.5%)	0
Montreal age (age at diagnosis), n (%)		
16 years or younger (A1)	12 (27.3%)	1 (14.3%)
17-40 years (A2)	22 (50%)	5 (71.4%)
Over 40 years (A3)	10 (22.7%)	1 (14.3%)
CD-medication, n (%)	f	g
No medical therapy for CD	18 (40.9%)	1 (14.3)
Budesonide	7 (15.9%)	4 (57.2%)
Prednisolone	4 (9.1%)	0
5-ASA	3 (6.8%)	1 (14.3%)
Azathioprine	6 (13.6%)	0
Methotrexate	3 (6.8%)	0
Adalimumab	4 (9.1%)	2 (28.6%)
Infliximab	7 (15.9%)	1 (14.3%)
Vedolizumab	1 (2.3%)	1 (14.3%)
Treatment naïve, n (%)	6 (13.6%)	0
TNE α naïve n (%)	23 (52.3%)	2 (28.6%)
Rutgeerts score n (%)	20 (021070)	2 (201070)
i0	12 (27.3%)	0
il	12(27.3%)	ů 0
12	5 (11 4%)	0
i3	6 (13.6%)	Ű.
i4	9 (20 5%)	7 (100%)
Ileocecal resection	28 (63 6%)	4 (57 1%)
neocecai resection	20 (05.070)	T (37.170)

^aBased on endoscopic evaluation of inflammation

^bCD-TI; Crohn's disease patients with terminal ileitis

°CD-A; Crohn's disease patients with endoscopic active inflammation

^dCD-R; Crohn's disease patients in endoscopic remission

°CD-S; Crohn's disease patients with ileal stenosis

Consideration: n = 8 (18.2%) used 2 CD medications, n = 1 (2.3%) used 3 CD medications 2 Comedication: n = 3 (42.9%) used 2 CD medications, n = 0 used 3 CD medications



FIGURE 2. Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome in 51 Crohn's disease patients and 40 healthy controls, mucosal biopsies sampled 5 and 15 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis, respectively (except for 7 CD patients with stenosis where only 5 cm sample was obtained). In total, 95 biopsy specimens from 51 CD patients and 80 biopsy specimens from 40 HCs. A, Alpha diversity illustrated by Shanon entropy index in CD patients vs HC compared with Wilcoxon test. B, Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot, each sample colored according to phenotype (CD and HC). C, Bacterial taxa significantly differentially represented (adjusted *P* < 0.05) in patients with CD vs HC, illustrated by log2 fold change.



FIGURE 3. Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome at 5-cm and 15-cm location (proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis respectively) in 51 Crohn's disease patients; biopsies not collected from 7 CD patients at 15-cm location due to ileal stenosis. A, Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, at 5-cm and 15-cm location compared with Wilcoxon test. B, Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot; each sample colored according to mucosal pinch biopsy location; 5 and 15 cm. C, Beta diversity in 51 CD patients and 40 healthy controls, illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot; each sample colored according to phenotype and location; CD 15 cm, CD 5 cm, HC 15 cm, and HC 5 cm.

histology (n = 32), with biopsies from locations that were noninflamed at endoscopy (n = 46) and with normal histology (n = 63). There was no significant difference in alpha diversity between biopsies from endoscopically inflamed vs noninflamed locations (P = 0.54; Fig. 5A). However, biopsies from locations with histological inflammation had significantly lower alpha diversity than locations where biopsies were normal (P = 0.03; Fig. 5B). There were no differences in beta diversity between inflamed and noninflamed locations, according to neither endoscopic nor histologic evaluation



FIGURE 4. Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome in 20 Crohn's disease patients with terminal ileitis with endoscopic inflamed mucosa at 5 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis and normal endoscopic appearing mucosa at 15 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis. A, Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index according to location, compared with Wilcoxon test. B, Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot, each sample colored according to mucosal pinch biopsy location; 5 and 15 cm. C, Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, at 5-cm location in 20 CD-TI patients vs 40 healthy controls compared with Wilcoxon test. D, Beta diversity, illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot, in 5-cm samples from CD-TI patients and HCs; each sample colored according to phenotype; HC and CD-TI.

of inflammation (Fig. 5C and D). Similarly, differential expression analysis did not find any bacterial taxa on phylum, family, or genus level to be differentially expressed between CD patients with endoscopic inflammation and endoscopic remission.

The Microbiome in Patients with Ileal Stenosis (CD-S)

Alpha diversity in CD-S patients was similar to that of other CD subgroups (Supplementary Fig. 2); however, on beta diversity NMDS plots, CD-S patients clustered furthest



FIGURE 5. Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome in 95 mucosal pinch biopsy specimens (sampled from 5 and 15 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis) from 51 Crohn's disease patients according to endoscopic inflammation (Rutgeerts score \geq 1) and histologic inflammation (GHAS and Robarts score \geq 1) at biopsy sample location. A, Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, according to endoscopic inflammation compared with Wilcoxon test. B, Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, according to endoscopic inflammation compared with Wilcoxon test. C, Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot in 95 mucosal pinch biopsies from 51 CD patients and 80 mucosal pinch biopsies from 40 healthy controls; each sample colored according to endoscopic inflammation (yes or no) or HC. D, Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot in 95 mucosal pinch biopsies from 51 CD patients; each sample colored according to histologic inflammation (yes or no).

away from HCs compared with patients with terminal ileitis (CD-TI) or in remission (CD-R; Fig. 6). In a differential expression analysis identifying taxa that were differentially expressed between CD-TI patients and CD-S patients, we found a trend toward higher abundances of Akkermaniaceae family in CD-TI compared with CD-S patients (P = 0.098). The same trend was found for Akkermansia genus, but neither was statistically significant. At species level, three species were significantly overrepresented in CD-TI patients in comparison with CD-S patients: *Bacteroides massiliensis B84634*, unidentified species of *Sutterella*, unidentified species of *Akkermansia*.



FIGURE 6. Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome composition in 40 healthy controls, 20 Crohn's disease patients with terminal ileitis and endoscopic inflammation, 12 CD patients in remission and endoscopic normal appearing mucosa, and in 7 CD patients with ileal stenosis. Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot; each biopsy sample colored according to phenotype; HC, CD-TI, CD-R and CD-S. Each study participant represented with 1 mucosal pinch biopsy sampled 5 cm proximal to the ileocecal valve or anastomosis, respectively.

Effects of ICR on Ileal Mucosa-Associated Microbiome

In our cohort, 62.7% of CD patients had previously undergone ICR (n = 32). An overview of CD patients' surgical history is provided in Supplementary Table 2. When we analyzed samples according to ICR, we found lower alpha diversity in the ICR group (P = 0.021) compared with CD patients who had not undergone ICR (Supplementary Fig. 3A). However, bacterial composition did not seem to differ according to ICR status (Supplementary Fig. 3B). Furthermore, bacterial composition at 5 cm and 15 cm proximal to the anastomosis did not differ in patients having undergone ICR (Supplementary Fig. 3C). We performed a differential expression analysis comparing the microbiome of ICR patients in remission (n = 6) with ICR patients with disease recurrence (endoscopic inflammation, n = 26) and found increased abundances of *Parasutterella* genus to be associated with disease recurrence ($P = 6.8 \times 10^{-18}$).

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to assess the mucosa-associated microbiota in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed ileum within the same patients. We did not find differences in alpha diversity or beta diversity when comparing inflamed with proximal noninflamed locations within the same patients. Furthermore, no bacterial taxa were differentially expressed in the inflamed vs proximally noninflamed mucosa. Our findings suggest that the altered ileal mucosa-associated microbiota in CD patients is present across locations and independent of inflammation itself at the biopsy location. In consistence, the beta diversity in mucosal biopsies from CD and ulcerative colitis (UC) patients pooled according to inflammation status, and intestinal location did not seem influenced by these factors.²⁹ Our findings are also supported by analyses of ileal biopsies from pediatric treatment-naïve IBD patients, where dysbiosis seemed to exist in absence of inflammation.¹⁰ The present findings of an altered microbiome in CD patients also proximal to the upper border of inflammation suggests that the ileal mucosa-associated microbiota is altered regardless of inflammation status and location and contributes to delineate the role of bacteria in CD pathogenesis.

Crohn's disease-specific alterations in ileal mucosa-associated microbiota were confirmed in our cohort; CD patients had lower alpha diversity and separated clearly from HCs on beta diversity plots. Furthermore, we identified 23 bacterial taxa that were differentially represented in CD patients vs HCs. In accordance with previous reports, Proteobacteria phylum and Enterobacteriaceae family were increased, and Ruminococcaceae family and several genera from the Lachnospiraceae family were depleted in CD patients.7, 10, 12, 13 Interestingly, we found Tyzzerella 4 to be profoundly overrepresented in CD patients. At species level, this genus was identified as Tyzzerella sp. Marseille-P3062. Previously, Tyzzerella 4 has been reported to be increased in a cohort of UC patients from China.8 The literature describing Tyzzerella 4 is very limited, but previous reports have found this genus to be increased in patients with a high-risk profile of cardiovascular disease and associated with an increased lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease.³⁰ Tyzzerella 4 is also overrepresented in patients with a diet that was characterized as unhealthy by a healthy eating index (HEI).³¹ Interestingly, numerous recent studies have identified IBD as a risk factor of cardiovascular disease.32 Hypothetically, increased abundances of Tyzzerella 4 could mediate this risk, but further research on CD patients with and without cardiovascular disease in addition to dietary patterns could clarify this. Two of the most decreased taxa in CD patients were the genera Ruminiclostridium 5 and Ruminiclostridium 6. Ruminiclostridium has been described to be depleted in the mucosa of newly diagnosed and treatment-naïve CD patients,33 and increased abundances of Ruminiclostridium 6 seem protective with respect to endoscopic recurrence of CD after ICR.20

In analysis of all CD patients in the cohort, we confirmed that ileal sublocation did not impact microbiome diversity or composition, neither within CD patients nor within HCs. When we assessed the bacterial microbiome according to inflammatory variables, we found that biopsy samples evaluated as histologically inflamed had a lower alpha diversity in comparison with samples from CD patients that were histologically normal, although alpha diversity in endoscopically inflamed biopsies vs endoscopically normal tissue was similar. Biopsies that were histologically inflamed were, in the majority of cases, also evaluated as endoscopically inflamed. This could suggest that alpha diversity is reduced in patients with severely inflamed ileal mucosa but not in modestly inflamed ileal mucosa, supported by Sokol et al²⁰ who found alpha diversity only to be reduced in patients with Rutgeerts score i2–i4 and not in patients with Rutgeerts score i0–i1. Ileal mucosa-associated microbiome composition did not differ between inflamed and noninflamed locations, neither according to histological nor endoscopic inflammation status.

Crohn's disease phenotype subgroups separated on beta diversity plots, and there was a trend toward reduced abundance of Akkermaniaceae family in CD-S patients compared with CD-TI patients. Although our cohort only contained seven patients with ileal stenosis (CD-TI), we assessed if there were differences in the mucosa-associated microbiota between CD-S patients and patients with terminal ileitis without stenosis (CD-TI). Our findings indicate that Bacteroides massiliensis B84634 and unidentified species of Sutterella and Akkermansia are underrepresented in patients with stricturing CD. Previous research has found the abundance of Akkermanisa muciniphila to be correlated with time in remission in UC patients and increased in HC and UC patients in long-term remission.³⁴ Similarly, Sutterella abundance has been found to be inversely correlated to ileal-pouch inflammation.35 Specific microbiome alterations in stricturing CD have been reported previously. In a prospective pediatric cohort study assessing the ileal mucosa-associated microbiome in patients before treatment, increased abundances of Ruminococcus was associated with development of stricturing disease.³⁶ Unique microbial profile in stricturing CD was also found in 2 data sets from separate cohorts.³⁷ In conclusion, our results suggest that patients with stenosing CD have a more profound loss of presumed beneficial bacteria compared with CD patients with inflammation but without stenosis. Although the current study has a cross-sectional design that prevents separation of primary and secondary alterations in microbial signatures, it is possible that stenosing disease behavior may be caused by specific bacteria and their products. Previous reports have found specific microbiome characteristics both at the time of ICR and postoperatively to be associated with postoperative recurrence.^{6, 18-20} We found increased abundances of Parasutterella to be associated with disease recurrence after ICR in our cohort. Parasutterella genus belongs to the Gammaproteobacteria class (according to SILVA database but classified as a betaproteobacteria in GenBank, for example). Increased abundances of Gammaproteobacteria have previously been identified as a part of the microbial signature for postoperative recurrence.²⁰ However, it should be noted that in our patients, ICR was performed months to years ahead of study sampling.

Our study has some limitations. We have assessed the ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome in a heterogeneous population of CD patients with longstanding disease, and the majority of patients had undergone ICR. Although we did not find that ICR impacted the ileal bacterial composition, it would be desirable to repeat the analyses on a cohort of newly diagnosed treatment-naïve patients. Even so, pediatric studies on treatment-naïve CD patients have found similar alterations in the mucosa-associated microbiota,^{10, 14} arguing against medical treatment and disease duration as major contributors to the observed microbiome alterations in CD patients.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that the ileal mucosa-associated microbiota alterations in CD patients do not seem affected by inflammatory status or sublocation in the terminal ileum. The abundance of *Tyzzerella 4* is profoundly increased in CD patients, and depleted abundances of presumed favorable bacteria are found in CD patients with ileal stenosis.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Supplementary data is available at *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* online.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Bjørn Munkvold for preparation of histological sections. The 16S library prep, sequencing, and bioinformatics analysis were performed in close collaboration with the Genomics Core Facility (GCF), Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). The GCF is funded by the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences at NTNU and Central Norway Regional Health Authority.

REFERENCES

- Gajendran M, Loganathan P, Catinella AP, et al. A comprehensive review and update on Crohn's disease. *Dis Mon.* 2018;64:20–57.
- Torres J, Mehandru S, Colombel JF, et al. Crohn's disease. Lancet. 2017;389:1741–1755.
- Fornaro R, Caratto E, Caratto M, et al. Post-operative recurrence in Crohn's disease. Critical analysis of potential risk factors. An update. Surgeon. 2015;13:30–347.
- Ma C, Moran GW, Benchimol EI, et al. Surgical rates for Crohn's disease are decreasing: a population-based time trend analysis and validation study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2017;112:1840–1848.
- Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, et al. Natural history of recurrent Crohn's disease at the ileocolonic anastomosis after curative surgery. *Gut.* 1984;25:665–672.
- Yilmaz B, Juillerat P, Øyås O, et al.; Swiss IBD Cohort Investigators. Microbial network disturbances in relapsing refractory Crohn's disease. *Nat Med.* 2019;25:323–336.
- Wright EK, Kamm MA, Wagner J, et al. Microbial factors associated with postoperative Crohn's disease recurrence. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11:191–203.
- Qiu Z, Yang H, Rong L, et al. Targeted metagenome based analyses show gut microbial diversity of inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Indian J Microbiol*, 2017;57:307–315.
- McIlroy J, Ianiro G, Mukhopadhya I, et al. Review article: the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease-avenues for microbial management. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2018;47:26–42.
- D. Haberman Y, Tickle TL, Dexheimer PJ, et al. Pediatric Crohn disease patients exhibit specific ileal transcriptome and microbiome signature. J Clin Invest. 2014;124:3617–3633.

- Alipour M, Zaidi D, Valcheva R, et al. Mucosal barrier depletion and loss of bacterial diversity are primary abnormalities in paediatric ulcerative colitis. J CroInss Colitis, 2016;10:462–471.
- Eun CS, Kwak MJ, Han DS, et al. Does the intestinal microbial community of Korean Crohn's disease patients differ from that of western patients? *BMC Gastroenterol.* 2016;16:28.
- Liguori G, Lamas B, Richard ML, et al. Fungal dysbiosis in mucosa-associated microbiota of Crohn's disease patients. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10:296–305.
- Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, et al. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2014;15:382–392.
- Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, et al. Dysfunction of the intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. *Genome Biol.* 2012;13:R79.
- Rutgeerts P, Goboes K, Peeters M, et al. Effect of fecal stream diversion on recurrence of Crohn's disease in the neoterminal ileum. *Lancet.* 1991;338: 771–774.
- D'Haens GR, Geboes K, Peeters M, et al. Early lesions of recurrent Crohn's disease caused by influsion of intestinal contents in excluded ileum. *Gastroenterology*. 1998;114:262–267.
- Wright EK, Kamm MA, Teo SM, et al. Recent advances in characterizing the gastrointestinal microbiome in Crohn's disease: a systematic review. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2015;21:1219–1228.
- Mondot S, Lepage P, Seksik P, et al.; GETAID. Structural robustness of the gut mucosal microbiota is associated with Crohn's disease remission after surgery. *Gut.* 2016;65:954–962.
- Sokol H, Brot L, Stefanescu C, et al.; REMIND Study Group Investigators. Prominence of ileal mucosa-associated microbiota to predict postoperative endoscopic recurrence in Crohn's disease. *Gut.* 2020;69:462–472.
- Silverberg MS, Satsangi J, Ahmad T, et al. Toward an integrated clinical, molecular and serological classification of inflammatory bowel disease: report of a Working Party of the 2005 Montreal World Congress of Gastroenterology. *Can J Gastroenterol*, 2005;19(Suppl A):5A–36A.
- Mearin F, Lacy BE, Chang L, et al. Bowel disorders. *Gastroenterology*. 2016. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.02.031.
- Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, et al. Predictability of the postoperative course of Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. 1990;99:956–963.
- Mosli MH, Feagan BG, Zou G, et al. Development and validation of a histological index for UC. *Gut.* 2017;66:50–58.

- Novak G, Parker CE, Pai RK, et al. Histologic scoring indices for evaluation of disease activity in Crohn's disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2017;7:CD012351.
- Sandborn ŴJ, Feagan BG, Hanauer SB, et al. A review of activity indices and efficacy endpoints for clinical trials of medical therapy in adults with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology*. 2002;122:512–530.
- Illumina. An introduction to next-generation sequencing technology. 2017. https://emea.illumina.com/content/dam/illumina-marketing/documents/products/illumina_sequencing_introduction.pdf. Accessed January 1, 2020.
- Klindworth A, Pruesse E, Schweer T, et al. Evaluation of general 16S ribosomal RNA gene PCR primers for classical and next-generation sequencing-based diversity studies. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41:e1.
- Forbes JD, Van Domselaar G, Bernstein CN. Microbiome survey of the inflamed and noninflamed gut at different compartments within the gastrointestinal tract of inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* 2016;22:817–825.
- Kelly TN, Bazzano LA, Ajami NJ, et al. Gut microbiome associates with lifetime cardiovascular disease risk profile among Bogalusa Heart Study participants. Circ Res. 2016;119:956–964.
- Liu Y, Ajami NJ, El-Serag HB, et al. Dietary quality and the colonic mucosaassociated gut microbiome in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2019;110:701–712.
 Choi YJ, Lee DH, Shin DW, et al. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease
- Choi YJ, Lee DH, Shin DW, et al. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease have an increased risk of myocardial infarction: a nationwide study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* 2019;50:769–779.
- El Mouzan MI, Winter HS, Assiri AA, et al. Microbiota profile in new-onset pediatric Crohn's disease: data from a non-Western population. *Gut Pathog.* 2018;10:49.
- Herrera-deGuise C, Varela E, Robles V, et al. Ulcerative colitis patients in longterm stable remission recover eubiotic characteristics of their microbiota. United European Gastroenterol J. 2018;6(Supplement B): A1–A134.
- Tyler AD, Knox N, Kabakchiev B, et al. Characterization of the gut-associated microbiome in inflammatory pouch complications following ileal pouch-anal anastomosis. *PLoS One.* 2013;8:e66934.
- Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Walters TD, et al. Prediction of complicated disease course for children newly diagnosed with Crohn's disease: a multicentre inception cohort study. *Lancet.* 2017;389:1710–1718.
- Dovrolis N, Drygiannakis I, Filidou E, et al. Gut microbial signatures underline complicated Crohn's disease but vary between cohorts; an in silico approach. *Inflamm Bowel Dis*. 2019;25:217–225.

Supplementary table 1 Number of mucosal pinch biopsies sampled from Crohn's disease (CD) patients and healthy controls (HC)

	CD	HC
Number of patients, n	51	40
Number of biopsies, n	190	160
Histologic evaluation, n	95	80
16S rRNA sequencing, n	95	80
Endoscopic inflammation ¹ , n (%)	49 (51.6%)	0
Histologic inflammation, n (%)	32 (33.7%)	0
Agreement between endoscopic and histologic grading of inflammation, n (%)	72 (76%)	80 (100%)

1 Endoscopic inflammation at mucosal pinch biopsy sample location (5 or 15 cm from the ileocecal valve)

Supplementary table 2

Surgical history	Crohn's disease 5 + 15 cm samples n=44	Crohn's disease patients with stenosis Only 5 cm sample n=7
Number of patients, n	44	7
Surgical history		
Never undergone CD-surgery, n (%)	10 (22.7%)	1 (14.3%)
Undergone ileocecal resection (ICR), n (%)	28 (63.6%)	4 (57.1%)
Number of surgical interventions (SI)		
Number of SI due to CD, mean (95%CI) ¹	1.7 (1.2-2.2)	2.7 (-0.1-5.6)
Bowel resections, mean (95%CI)	1.2 (0.9-1.5)	1.7 (-1.3-4.7)
Perianal surgery, mean (95%CI)	0.34 (0.05-0.6)	1.0 (03-2.3)
Number of patients in remission ² after ICR	6 (13.6%) ³	0

1 Include all surgical interventions due to CD (operations due to surgical complications or adenocarcinoma (n=2) not included), these surgical interventions included bowel resection, stoma surgery, surgery due to bowel perforations, intra-abdominal abscesses, perianal fistula/abscess surgery where an incision was made (changing of steton threads was not considered perianal surgery). 2 Crohn's disease patients in endoscopic remission (termed CD-R in the manuscript) 3 Of the 12 CD patients in remission termed CD-R in the manuscript, 6 had undergone ICR previously.

Surgical history	CD-TI ¹	CD-A ²	CD-R ³
by CD phenotype			
Number of patients, n	22	10	12
Surgical history			
Never undergone CD-surgery, n (%)	3 (13.6%)	4 (40%)	3 (25%)
Undergone ileocecal resection (ICR), n (%)	17 (77.3%)	5 (50%)	6 (50%)
Number of surgical interventions (SI)			
Number of SI due to CD, mean (95%CI) ⁴	1.8 (1.1-2.5)	1.5 (-0.2-3.2)	1.75 (0.7-2.8)
Bowel resections, mean (95%CI)	1.3 (0.9-1.7))	1.0 (0.3-1.8)	1.2 (0.3-2.1)
Perianal surgery, mean (95%CI)	0.2 (-0.2-0.6)	0.4 (-0.5-1.3)	0.5 (-0.7-1.1)
Number of patients in remission ⁵ after ICR, n (%)	0	0	6 (50%)

1 CD-TI; Crohn's disease patients with terminal ileitis

2 CD-A; Crohn's disease patients with endoscopic active inflammation

3 CD-R; Crohn's disease patients in endoscopic remission

4 Include all surgical interventions due to CD (operations due to surgical complications or adenocarcinoma (n=2) not included), these surgical interventions included bowel resection, stoma surgery, surgery due to bowel perforations, intra-abdominal abscesses, perianal fistula/abscess surgery where an incision was made (changing of steton threads was not considered perianal surgery).

5 Endoscopic remission (Rutgeerts score <1)



Supplementary Figure 1 Bar chart illustrating the ileal mucosa-associated bacteriome community composition within individual Crohn's disease (CD) patients and healthy controls (HC). Bacterial taxa in this figure were significantly differentially represented (adjusted p-value <0.05) in patients with CD vs. HC. Abundance of bacterial taxa on y-axis, each study participant accounts for one bar on the x-axis. CD patients categorized as CD phenotype subgroups: CD patients with terminal ileitis (CD-TI), CD patients with endoscopic active inflammation (CD-A), CD patients in endoscopic remission (CD-R) and CD patients with ileal stenosis (CD-S). (A) Phylum level. (B) Class level. (C). Order level. (D) Family level *uncultured family of the order Rhodospirillales. (E) Genus level * uncultured genus of the family Lachnospiraceae, ** gut metagenome genus belonging to uncultured family of the order Rhodospirillales *** genus GCA-900066575 belonging to Lachnospiraceae family.

Location, all samples HC 15 cm CD-TI 15 cm CD-A 15 cm CD-R 15 cm CD-S 5 cm



Supplementary Figure 2 Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, in 51 Crohn's disease (CD) patients and 40 healthy controls (HC) according to phenotype and mucosal pinch biopsy location. Two mucosal pinch biopsies were sampled from 5 and 15 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis respectively in each study participant, except for 7 CD patients were only 5 cm sample was obtained. In total 95 biopsy specimens from 51 CD patients and 80 biopsy specimens from 40 HC. CD patients divided into disease phenotype groups: CD-TI, CD patients with terminal ileitis and endoscopic inflamed mucosa at 5 cm and normal appearing mucosa at 15 cm; CD-A, CD patients with active disease and endoscopic inflammation at 5 and 15 cm; CD-S, CD patients with ileal stenosis and endoscopic severely inflamed ileal mucosa (Rutgeerts score i4). HC 15 cm vs CD-TI 15 cm and HC 5 cm vs. CD-TI 5 cm, compared by Wilcoxon test, p-values <u>not</u> corrected for multiple comparisons.





Supplementary Figure 3 Ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome in 51 Crohn's disease (CD) patients according to ileocecal resection. (A) Alpha diversity, illustrated by Shannon entropy index, according to ileocecal resection status compared by Wilcoxon test, one biopsy sampled 5 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis representing each patient. (B) Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot, each sample coloured according to ileocecal resection status, one biopsy sampled 5 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis representing each patient. (C) Beta diversity illustrated by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index on non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot, according to ileal location in 32 ileocecal resected CD patients, two mucosal pinch biopsies sampled 5 and 15 cm proximal from the ileocecal valve or anastomosis respectively were obtained from each patient, except for 4 patients where only 5 cm sample was obtained due to ileal stenosis, each sample coloured according to mucosal pinch biopsy location; 5 and 15 cm.



Supplementary Figure 4 Complementary information regarding ileal mucosa-associated bacterial microbiome composition in Crohn's disease (CD) patients and healthy controls (HC) provided in Figure 1B. (A) Similar to Figure 1B (see Figure 1B for details) (B) Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) plot illustrating phylum position contributing to sample organization on NMDS plot (A)/Figure 1B.

Paper III

Fungal microbiota in the ileal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease

Short title: Mycobiota in CD

Authors: Maya Olaisen^{1,2*}, Mathias L. Richard^{3,4*}, Vidar Beisvåg^{1,5}, Atle van Beelen Granlund ^{1,6}, Elin Synnøve Røyset^{1,6,7}, Tom Christian Martinsen^{1,2}, Arne Kristian Sandvik^{1,2,6}, Harry Sokol ^{3,4,8}, Reidar Fossmark^{1,2}.

¹ Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU - Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

² Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway

³ Micalis Institute, INRA, AgroParisTech, Université Paris-Saclay, Jouy-en-Josas, France.

⁴ Paris Center for Microbiome Medicine, Fédération Hospitalo-Universitaire, F-75012 Paris, France.

⁵ Central Administration, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway

⁶ Centre of Molecular Inflammation Research, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

⁷ Department of Pathology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Norway

⁸ Sorbonne Université, INSERM, Centre de Recherche Saint-Antoine, CRSA, AP-HP, Saint Antoine Hospital, Gastroenterology Department, F-75012 Paris, France.

*The two authors have contributed equally.

Corresponding author: Maya Olaisen, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Postboks 3250 Torgarden, 7006 Trondheim, Norway. email: maya.olaisen@ntnu.no, phone +4746418701.

Funding: This study was funded by the Liaison Committee between Central Norway Regional Health Authority (RHA) and Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and by St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital.

Disclosures: Authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Author contributions: MO, TCM and RF were responsible for study design. MO and RF were responsible for data acquisition. MO, MLR, VB, AvBG and ES were responsible for analyses of biological material and data analysis. MO, MLR and RF interpreted the results and drafted the manuscript. MO, MLR, VB, AvBG, ES, TCM, AKS, HS and RF contributed to critical revision of the manuscript.

Word count: 3589

Abstract

Background: The gut mycobiota is thought to be involved in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease (CD). However, its role is incompletely understood. The terminal ileum is a predilection site for CD, both for primary involvement and recurrences. We have assessed the mucosa-associated mycobiota in the inflamed and non-inflamed ileum in patients with CD.

Methods: In this cross-sectional study, the mucosa-associated mycobiota was assessed by ITS2 sequencing in a total of 168 biopsies sampled 5 and 15 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis in 44 CD patients and 40 healthy controls (HC). CD patients with terminal ileitis, with endoscopic inflammation at 5 cm and normal mucosa at 15 cm and no history of upper CD involvement were analysed separately.

Results: CD patients had reduced mycobiota evenness, increased Basidiomycota/Ascomycota ratio and reduced abundance of Chytridiomycota compared to HC. The mucosa-associated mycobiota of CD patients were characterised by an expansion of *Malassezia* and a depletion of *Saccharomyces*, along with increased abundances of *Candida albicans* and *Malassezia restricta*. When the mycobiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa within the same patients were compared, alpha diversity was similar. However, the inflamed mucosa had a more dysbiotic composition with increased abundances of *Candida sake* and reduced abundances of *Exophiala equina* and *Debaryomyces hansenii*.

Conclusions: The ileal mycobiota in CD patients is altered compared to HC. The mycobiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum within the same patients harbour structural differences which may play a role in the CD pathogenesis.

Introduction

Crohn's disease (CD) is a chronic inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) characterised by transmural and segmental inflammation of the gastrointestinal tract. Currently, CD is thought to develop in genetically susceptible individuals exposed to environmental factors and gut microbiota, causing an aberrant immune response that leads to inflammation and subsequent tissue damage (1). CD may affect any part of the gastrointestinal tract, however most commonly the terminal ileum and colon (1). After ileocecal resection (ICR), approximately 75% of CD patients experience disease recurrence after 10-years of follow-up (2). An ileostomy diverting the intestinal contents has a well-known protective effect, whereas reestablishment of bowel continuity or infusion of faecal content triggers recurrence (3, 4). Disease recurrence typically manifests at and immediately proximal to an anastomosis (2, 5). Studies of the terminal and neo-terminal ileum are therefore of particular interest with regards to understanding CD pathogenesis. Furthermore, alterations in the ileal bacterial mucosa-associated microbiota at the time of ICR and postoperatively have been associated with risk of disease recurrence (6-8).

The mycobiota has for long thought to be implicated in CD pathogenesis. For instance, the presence of Anti-*Saccharomyces cerevisiae* antibodies (ASCA) was an early biomarker for identification of CD (9). Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have later found polymorphisms in *CARD9* to be associated with CD (10, 11). Identification of intestinal fungi through C-lectin receptors depends on *CARD9* in the signalling pathway to stimulate a pro-inflammatory response to commensal fungi (12, 13) and a defect in *CARD9* is associated with susceptibility to fungal infections and a lower number of Th-17 cells in humans (12). In addition, Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms associated with both CD and UC also predispose for systemic Candida infections in humans (14).

After the introduction of high throughput sequencing enabling culture-independent analyses of fungal populations, the majority of studies within the field have analysed the faecal mycobiota. However, the mucosa-associated and faecal bacterial microbiotas are different (15-17), and the mucosa-associated microbiota is by many considered more relevant in CD pathogenesis (18). Only a few studies have described the mucosa-associated mycobiota in CD patients (13, 19, 20). Mucosa-associated mycobiota alterations in CD are characterised by a skewed Ascomycota to Basidiomycota ratio compared to HC, with increased abundances of Basidiomycota and decreased abundances of Ascomycota phyla in CD (13, 20). Liguori et al.

(19) found inflamed tissue in CD patients to have a 40-fold higher load of fungi compared to healthy controls (HC), furthermore CD patients had increased abundances of Cystofilobasidiaceae family and *Candida glabrata* species. Limon et al. (13) have recently investigated water-lavage samples obtained from CD patients during colonoscopy and found increased abundances of *Malassezia*, *Cladosporium* and *Aureobasidium* and decreased abundances of *Fusarium* compared to HC. Notably, *Malassezia* was overrepresented in patients carrying a CARD9 allele which is associated with an increased risk of CD (13). El Mouzan et al. (20) found CD to be associated with increased abundances of Psathyrellaceae and Cortinariaceae families and *Psathyrella* and *Gymnopilus* genera. The identification of these unusual fungal strains was probably due to the specific cohort (teenagers) and also possibly to a specific diet in Saudi Arabia compared to the previous studies.

In the current study, we have assessed the mycobiota of patients with CD and HC, with a particular focus on differences between inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileal mucosa within CD patients, which to the best of our knowledge has not been performed previously.

Material and methods

Patients and control subjects:

We have previously assessed the bacterial ileal microbiota of the same patient cohort (21). Study participants were recruited from the Department of Gastroenterology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway between 2017-2019. Patients 18-70 years with Norwegian ethnicity referred to ileocolonoscopy were invited to participate if they were eligible. Inclusion criteria were an established diagnosis of CD based on clinical, endoscopic and histological criteria or patients with CD symptoms where the diagnosis was confirmed after both endoscopic and histologic evaluation. CD characteristics were registered according to the Montreal classification (22). Age- and sex-matched subjects referred to colonoscopy due to rectal bleeding or screening for disease were included as healthy controls (HC) if the ileocolonoscopy and histologic evaluation of biopsies were normal. Exclusion criteria were identical to those described in (21) i.e. use of antibacterial or antifungal treatment for the past 2 months or comorbidity with diabetes mellitus, celiac disease or liver diseases including primary sclerosing cholangitis and primary biliary cholangitis. Additional exclusion criteria for HCs were previous gastrointestinal surgery, gastrointestinal polyps, cancer, diverticulitis or irritable bowel disease fulfilling the ROME IV criteria (23).

Endoscopic procedure

The ileum was reached during endoscopy using either a colonoscope (Olympus Exera II GIF HQ190 or PH190L, Olympus Europa GmbH, Hamburg, Germany) or a single-balloon enteroscope (Olympus SIF-Q180). A total of six ileal pinch biopsies were collected from each study participant, three biopsies from approximately 5 cm and 15 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis, respectively. In CD patients with terminal ileitis, the 5-cm samples were taken from an endoscopically inflamed area and 15-cm samples from normal appearing mucosa. In CD patients categorised as having active disease, both biopsy locations (5- and 15-cm) were endoscopically inflamed. For CD patients in remission and the HC group, both biopsy locations (5- and 15-cm) appeared endoscopically normal. Endoscopic inflammation was evaluated using Rutgeerts score (24) whether the patients were operated by ICR or not, with inflammation defined as Rutgeerts score ≥ 1 . One pair of mucosal pinch biopsies from the 5- and 15-cm locations were put on formalin for histological grading of inflammation. The two remaining biopsy pairs were put directly on liquid N₂ and stored on N₂ until subsequent bacterial or fungal DNA isolation and sequencing of the bacterial (21) and fungal microbiota, respectively.

Histological evaluation of biopsies

Formalin-fixed biopsies were stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Histological examination was performed blinded for phenotype by an experienced pathologist and scored according to Global Histologic Disease Activity Score (GHAS) and Robarts score (4, 25, 26). A validated histological scoring index for evaluation of disease activity in CD is lacking, and the reciprocity between histological scoring and disease activity measures is deficient (26, 27). However, histological evaluation blinded for phenotype verified all biopsies from HC as histologically normal.

DNA isolation

The fungal cell wall is particularly robust and is known to be hard to lyse (28, 29). A DNA isolation protocol specially designed to lyse the fungal cell wall, with both a chemical and mechanical lysis step, was therefore chosen. DNA from two mucosal biopsies (at 5- and 15- cm location) was isolated according to a previously described protocol (30) with the following adjustments; bead beating was performed with Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Technologies, Montigny-le-Bretonneux, France) at 6500 rpm for 60 seconds twice. Centrifugation steps were performed at 21000 g, otherwise the original protocol was followed (30). The DNA samples were quantified using Qubit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA).

ITS2 sequencing

ITS2 metagenomic sequencing libraries were prepared according to the "Illumina Metagenomics Sequencing Demonstrated Protocol" (31) with minor adjustments. In brief; 200 ng genomic DNA (extracted from biopsy samples) was used as a template for PCR amplification of the ITS2 region (98°C at 30 sec, followed by 34 cycles with: 15 sec at 98°C, 53°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 45 sec, followed by 7 min at 72°C). The ITS2 PCR primers were based on sequences first published by Liguori et al. (19). Illumina adaptor compatible overhang nucleotide sequences were added to the gene/locus specific sequences (ITS2 Amplicon PCR Forward Primer = 5'

TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGTGARTCATCGAATCTTT and ITS2 Amplicon PCR Reverse Primer = 5'

GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTGTATAAGAGACAGGATATGCTTAAGTTCAGCGGG T). The PCR products were then cleaned up by using AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter, Woerden, Netherlands) to purify ITS2 amplicons away from free primers and primer dimer species. In a second PCR amplification step (9 cycles) dual indices and Illumina sequencing adaptors were added by using the Nextera XT indexing kit (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A second PCR clean up step was performed using AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter), before validation of the library by a LabChip GX DNA high sensitivity assay (PerkinElmer, Inc., Waltham, MA). Libraries were normalised and pooled to 12 pM and subjected to clustering on two MiSeq V3 flowcells. Finally, paired-end read sequencing was performed for 2 x 300 cycles on a MiSeq instrument (Illumina, Inc.), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Base calling was done on the MiSeq instrument by RTA v1.18.54. FASTQ files were generated using bcl2fastq2 conversion software v2.17 (Illumina, Inc.).

Bioinformatics

Sequencing data were processed using FROGS pipeline (32), established in Toulouse France (33) for sequence quality control, filtering and affiliation of taxa. The sequences were assigned to OTUs with 97% threshold of pairwise identity and classified taxonomically using the UNITE ITS database (version 8_2) (34). Five biopsy samples were removed from the study due to a low number of sequences. This included two 5-cm samples from HC and three 5-cm samples from CD patients. Phyloseq Package for R analysis was used for alpha and beta diversity analyses as well as illustration. Deseq2 package for R analysis was used for differential analysis of OTUs in respect to the different phenotypes (35). The linear discriminant analysis (LDA) effect size (LEfSe) algorithm (36) was used to identify taxa that were specific to phenotype or inflamed vs proximal non-inflamed mucosa.

Statistics

IBM SPSS Statistics version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) was used for statistical analysis apart from analyses of sequencing data. Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented as % (n) for categorical variables, median (interquartile range (IQR)) for skewly distributed variables and mean value (standard deviation (SD)) for normally distributed variables. Accordingly, the chi-squared test, Mann-Whitney U test or independent t-test were used for comparing CD patients with HC. For all statistical analyses, a p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Central Norway (approval reference, 2016/2164). All study participants provided written informed consent.

Results

Patients

Forty-four CD patients and 40 HC were included. Demographic and clinical characteristics are presented in Table 1. CD patients had higher CRP levels compared to HC (p=0.017), apart from that the groups were similar. The bacterial microbiota characteristics in this cohort have been described previously (21). CD characteristics are provided in Table 2. Twenty-two CD patients had terminal ileitis with endoscopic inflammation at 5-cm location and normal mucosa at 15-cm location, of which 20 had no history of upper gastrointestinal CD involvement. Of the remaining CD patients, ten had active disease, and 12 were in remission.

Ileal mycobiota in CD patients vs HC

CD patients had a lower fungal alpha diversity compared to HC based on the Simpson diversity index (p=0.025), whereas the observed numbers of operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were similar (p=0.21). This implies that the fungal species richness was similar, but that the evenness of fungi was reduced within the CD group compared to HC (Figure 1A). The most prevalent phyla in the samples overall were Ascomycota, Basidiomycota and Chytridiomycota, some Rozellomycota were also detected (Figure 1B). In CD patients, the Basidiomycota-to-Ascomycota ratio was increased compared to HC (Supplementary figure 1A). CD patients also had lower abundances of Chytridiomycota phyla (Supplementary Figure 1A). Beta diversity analysis assessed by Bray-Curtis dissimilarity showed a clustering of the samples according to the disease status (p < 0.001), confirming structural differences in the mycobiota composition between CD patients and HC (Figure 1C). Using LEfSe (36), fungal composition in CD patients and HC were compared and differentially abundant fungi identified (Figure 2). Malassezia and Vishniacozyma genera were increased in CD patients, while Saccharomyces, Paludomyces and Oculimacula were depleted in comparison to HC (Figure 2A and Supplementary figure 1B). When the comparison was performed at species level, CD patients had increased abundances of Malassezia restricta as well as Malassezia sympodialis and two other Malassezia species (Figure 2B). Candida albicans and Vishniacozyma victoriae were also increased in CD patients (Figure 2B). In HC Trichosporon asahii, Paludomyces mangrovei and a species from the Chaetomiaceae family were overrepresented compared to CD patients.
Mycobiota in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed ileum in CD patients

Twenty CD patients had terminal ileitis with inflamed 5-cm location and non-inflamed 15-cm location, and no history of upper CD involvement, these patients were analysed separately. Alpha diversity in inflamed 5-cm samples and non-inflamed 15-cm samples are presented in Figure 3A. There was no statistically significant difference in fungal alpha diversity between 5- and 15-cm locations in CD patients with terminal ileitis based on observed OTUs and Simpson index. Interestingly, on the beta diversity plot assessed by Jaccard index, which focuses more on low abundant OTUs in comparison to Bray-Curtis dissimilarity, inflamed 5cm samples clustered furthest away from HC with non-inflamed CD 15-cm samples in an intermediate location (Figure 3B). In a beta diversity plot including only CD patients with terminal ileitis, 5- and 15-cm samples separated clearly (p < 0.05) according to Jaccard index (Figure 3C). When we compared the fungal composition in inflamed 5-cm samples with noninflamed 15-cm samples using LEfSe, we identified six taxa which were increased at 5-cm location and four taxa which were increased at 15-cm location (Figure 4). Cordycipitaceae and Sporidiobolaceae families and Lecanicillium genus were overrepresented at the inflamed 5-cm location, whereas Exophiala and Debaryomyces genera were overrepresented at noninflamed 15-cm location. Differentially abundant species were identified using LEfSe are presented in a heatmap (Figure 4B). Candida sake was overrepresented at inflamed 5-cm location. The Exophiala and Debaryomyces genera, which were increased at non-inflamed 15-cm location, were identified as Exophiala equina and Debaryomyces hansenii (Figure 4B).

Mycobiota according to ileal inflammation and sub-location in CD patients overall

The mycobiota was similar according to both alpha diversity (Observed OTUs and Simpson index) and beta diversity (Bray-Curtis dissimilarity), regardless of endoscopic or histologic inflammation in the whole cohort of CD patients including all biopsy samples (Figure 5). This argues that endoscopic and histologic inflammation per se does not alter the fungal mycobiota tremendously. Similarly, we compared the mucosa-associated mycobiota at 5-cm and 15 cm-locations in the CD study cohort in order to assess if differences found in CD patients with terminal ileitis could be explained by effect of location alone (Figure 6). There was no difference in alpha diversity (Observed OTUs and Simpson index) nor beta diversity

(Bray-Curtis dissimilarity) between 5-cm and 15-cm location when all CD patients and biopsy samples were included. Correspondingly, when all samples were pooled (both CD and HC), there were no differences in alpha nor beta diversity between ileal sublocation (5- and 15-cm) (Supplementary Figure 2). This is in accordance with our previous findings suggesting that the mucosa-associated bacterial microbiota alterations in CD patients are present across locations and independent of inflammation and ileal sublocation (21).

Discussion

The mechanisms by which fungi may influence the pathogenesis of CD are uncertain, but both genetic and environmental factors may exist. A proportion of IBD patients have genetic polymorphisms which increase the susceptibility to fungal infections, also the fungal load and richness are elevated in CD patients (19, 37). Factors known to affect the mycobiome include diet, antibacterial and antifungal agents as well as interaction between fungi and bacteria (38-41). The risk of CD was recently reported to be associated with cumulative antibiotic exposure in a Swedish national cohort (42). Antibacterial therapy increases fungal abundances in faecal samples (40, 43) and fungi may mediate the increased risk of CD observed after exposure to antibacterial agents (44). An increase in faecal fungi has also been associated with a diet based on meat, eggs and cheeses compared to a vegetarian diet (45) and correspondingly, epidemiological studies have shown that intake of fibre and fruit reduces CD-risk (46). This is the first study to assess the mucosa-associated fungal microbiota in the ileum of adult CD patients. Previous reports have found CD patients to have an altered fungal composition compared to HC (13, 19, 20, 47).

In this study, we found that that the mucosa-associated mycobiota in the ileum of CD patients had reduced alpha diversity based on the Simpson index, but a similar number of observed OTUs compared to HC, implicating similar species richness, but reduced evenness in CD patients. As reported previously, CD patients had an increased Basidiomycota-to-Ascomycota ratio (13, 47). Furthermore, CD was associated with an altered mycobiota composition characterised by a significant gain of *Malassezia* and loss of *Saccharomyces*. At species level, *Malassezia* was identified as *Malassezia restricta* and *Malassezia sympodialis*. We also found *Candida albicans* to be overrepresented in CD patients vs HC. The expansion of *Malassezia restricta* has previously been reported by others (13, 48). Interestingly increased abundance of *M. restricta* was found in CD patients carrying the *CARD9* risk allele and *M. restricta*

aggravated dextran sodium sulphate-induced colitis in mice (13). The depletion of *Saccharomyces*, both at genus level and higher taxonomic levels have also been described in faecal samples from IBD patients, where *Saccharomyces* was positively correlated with abundances of bacteria depleted in IBD, such as the butyrate-producing *Roseburia*, *Blautia* and *Ruminococcus* genera (47, 49). Several *Saccharomyces* spp. have been suggested to have anti-inflammatory effects (39, 47, 50, 51).

Candida albicans has been proposed to participate in IBD through increasing the inflammation response and by increased abundance in the gut during inflammation, thereby creating a vicious circle (39, 44). We found increased abundances of *C. albicans* in the ileal mucosa of CD patients. Faecal abundance of *Candida* prior to faecal microbiota transplantation in UC patients has been associated with therapeutic response, and the observed effect of faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) may be mediated by a reduction in *Candida* abundance (52). Increased abundances of *Candida* and *Candida* glabrata have previously been found in faecal and colonic samples, respectively, from CD patients (19, 47, 53). Interestingly, increased abundances of *Candida tropicalis* in faecal samples from CD patients have been found to be positively correlated to ASCA concentrations (41). *Candida* is also extensively involved in bacterial interactions and has a significant influence on microbiome composition (39, 41).

We specifically analysed the mucosa-associated mycobiota in the inflamed and proximal noninflamed mucosa of CD patients with terminal ileitis as the terminal ileum is the predilection site of primary and recurrent CD. We did not find differences in alpha diversity between the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa, however there was a separation on beta diversity plots suggesting an altered and more dysbiotic fungal composition in the inflamed ileum compared to the proximal-non inflamed ileum and healthy mucosa of controls. In the inflamed mucosa *Lecanicillium* genera and *Candida sake* sp. were increased, whereas *Exophiala equina and Debaryomyces hansenii* were increased in the proximal non-inflamed mucosa. *C. sake* is frequently found in faeces of healthy humans (28), but can also cause invasive candidemia (54). In the food industry *C. sake* is used as a biocontrol agent to limit decay of apples due to mould (55, 56). *D. hansenii* is a commensal gut fungus which is found in faeces of healthy adults and reported to be increased in faeces of infants (28, 57). *D. hansenii* is also a frequently found in foods such as meat, fruit, cheese, beer and wine (58). The literature on *E. equina* is scarce, but it has been isolated from drinking water (59). However, one report identified *E. equina* in subcutaneous abscesses with histologically

11

granulomatous inflammation (60). *E. equina* has also been described to cause widespread granulomatous inflammation in a Galapagos tortoise (61). Recently, *Exophiala* has been associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis (62).

Fungal richness and diversity have previously been found to be increased in inflamed vs noninflamed mucosa assessed by PCR and Denaturing Gel Gradient Electrophoresis (DGGE), however the method is less sensitive in terms of taxa identification and diversity measures compared to ITS-sequencing (63). In the current study, neither endoscopic nor histologic inflammation was associated with an increased number of OTUs or altered mycobiota according to other alpha diversity or beta diversity measures. Similarly, ileal sub-location did not seem to impact mycobiota diversity.

Strengths of the study include that the mucosa-associated mycobiota was assessed in the highest number of CD patients to date (13, 19, 20), the sequencing analysis was of good quality, and the majority of sequences were taxonomically classified. Limitations include heterogeneity of the disease duration, medical and surgical treatment which may affect the mycobiota composition. We have not correlated the bacterial and fungal microbiota, interactions between bacteria and fungi occur and these have not been assessed.

Summarised, CD patients exhibit an altered mucosa-associated mycobiota composition compared to HC. Within CD patients with terminal ileitis, the mycobiota in inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa harboured structural differences in terms of beta diversity and fungal composition. The significance of a different fungal taxa composition in the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa may be a result of different immunological activity between inflamed and non-inflamed ileal sites or that fungi overrepresented in the inflamed mucosa trigger inflammation onset or maintenance. However, in the whole cohort of CD patients, neither inflammation nor ileal sub-location impacted mycobiota composition, arguing that inflammation or location it-self does not alter immunological activity. Further studies should focus on how the differentially abundant fungi identified may influence the mucosa and immune system, thus providing mechanistic explanations of the role of fungi in CD pathogenesis.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study confirms CD associated alterations in the mucosa-associated mycobiota. The mycobiota composition in the inflamed ileum and proximal non-inflamed ileum differ according to beta diversity, and differentially abundant fungal taxa were identified. The significance of a different mycobiota composition between the inflamed and proximal non-inflamed mucosa within the same patients may play a role in CD pathogenesis and warrants further research.

Acknowledgements

We would sincerely thank all our patients for participating in the study. We would like to thank Bjørn Munkvold for preparation of histological sections. The 16S library prep and sequencing were performed in close collaboration with the Genomics Core Facility (GCF), Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). The GCF is funded by the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences at NTNU and Central Norway Regional Health Authority.

References

1. Torres J, Mehandru S, Colombel JF, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Crohn's disease. Lancet. 2017;389(10080):1741-55.

2. Fornaro R, Caratto E, Caratto M, Fornaro F, Caristo G, Frascio M, et al. Post-operative recurrence in Crohn's disease. Critical analysis of potential risk factors. An update. Surgeon. 2015;13(6):330-47.

3. Rutgeerts P, Goboes K, Peeters M, Hiele M, Penninckx F, Aerts R, et al. Effect of faecal stream diversion on recurrence of Crohn's disease in the neoterminal ileum. Lancet. 1991;338(8770):771-4.

4. D'Haens GR, Geboes K, Peeters M, Baert F, Penninckx F, Rutgeerts P. Early lesions of recurrent Crohn's disease caused by infusion of intestinal contents in excluded ileum. Gastroenterology. 1998;114(2):262-7.

5. Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, Kerremans R, Coenegrachts JL, Coremans G. Natural history of recurrent Crohn's disease at the ileocolonic anastomosis after curative surgery. Gut. 1984;25(6):665-72.

6. Sokol H, Brot L, Stefanescu C, Auzolle C, Barnich N, Buisson A, et al. Prominence of ileal mucosa-associated microbiota to predict postoperative endoscopic recurrence in Crohn's disease. Gut. 2019.

7. Yilmaz B, Juillerat P, Oyas O, Ramon C, Bravo FD, Franc Y, et al. Microbial network disturbances in relapsing refractory Crohn's disease. Nat Med. 2019;25(2):323-36.

8. Sokol H, Pigneur B, Watterlot L, Lakhdari O, Bermudez-Humaran LG, Gratadoux JJ, et al. Faecalibacterium prausnitzii is an anti-inflammatory commensal bacterium identified by gut microbiota analysis of Crohn disease patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(43):16731-6.

 Main J, McKenzie H, Yeaman GR, Kerr MA, Robson D, Pennington CR, et al. Antibody to Saccharomyces cerevisiae (bakers' yeast) in Crohn's disease. Bmj. 1988;297(6656):1105-6.
 Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2012;491(7422):119-24.

11. Rivas MA, Beaudoin M, Gardet A, Stevens C, Sharma Y, Zhang CK, et al. Deep resequencing of GWAS loci identifies independent rare variants associated with inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Genet. 2011;43(11):1066-73.

12. Glocker EO, Hennigs A, Nabavi M, Schäffer AA, Woellner C, Salzer U, et al. A homozygous CARD9 mutation in a family with susceptibility to fungal infections. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(18):1727-35.

13. Limon JJ, Tang J, Li D, Wolf AJ, Michelsen KS, Funari V, et al. Malassezia Is Associated with Crohn's Disease and Exacerbates Colitis in Mouse Models. Cell Host Microbe. 2019;25(3):377-88.e6.

14. Underhill D, Braun J. Current understanding of fungal microflora in inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;14(8):1147-53.

15. Zmora N, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Mor U, Dori-Bachash M, Bashiardes S, et al. Personalized Gut Mucosal Colonization Resistance to Empiric Probiotics Is Associated with Unique Host and Microbiome Features. Cell. 2018;174(6):1388-405.e21.

 Gevers D, Kugathasan S, Denson LA, Vazquez-Baeza Y, Van Treuren W, Ren B, et al. The treatment-naive microbiome in new-onset Crohn's disease. Cell Host Microbe. 2014;15(3):382-92.
 Morgan XC, Tickle TL, Sokol H, Gevers D, Devaney KL, Ward DV, et al. Dysfunction of the

intestinal microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease and treatment. Genome Biol. 2012;13(9):R79.

18. Pittayanon R, Lau JT, Leontiadis GI, Tse F, Yuan Y, Surette M, et al. Differences in Gut Microbiota in Patients With vs Without Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: A Systematic Review. Gastroenterology. 2020;158(4):930-46.e1.

19. Liguori G, Lamas B, Richard ML, Brandi G, da Costa G, Hoffmann TW, et al. Fungal Dysbiosis in Mucosa-associated Microbiota of Crohn's Disease Patients. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(3):296-305.

20. El Mouzan M, Wang F, Al Mofarreh M, Menon R, Al Barrag A, Korolev KS, et al. Fungal Microbiota Profile in Newly Diagnosed Treatment-naive Children with Crohn's Disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2017;11(5):586-92.

21. Olaisen M, Flatberg A, Granlund AVB, Røyset ES, Martinsen TC, Sandvik AK, et al. Bacterial Mucosa-associated Microbiome in Inflamed and Proximal Noninflamed Ileum of Patients With Crohn's Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2020.

22. Silverberg MS, Satsangi J, Ahmad T, Arnott ID, Bernstein CN, Brant SR, et al. Toward an integrated clinical, molecular and serological classification of inflammatory bowel disease: report of a Working Party of the 2005 Montreal World Congress of Gastroenterology. Can J Gastroenterol. 2005;19 Suppl A:5a-36a.

23. Mearin F, Lacy BE, Chang L, Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Simren M, et al. Bowel Disorders. Gastroenterology. 2016.

24. Rutgeerts P, Geboes K, Vantrappen G, Beyls J, Kerremans R, Hiele M. Predictability of the postoperative course of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 1990;99(4):956-63.

25. Mosli MH, Feagan BG, Zou G, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Khanna R, et al. Development and validation of a histological index for UC. Gut. 2017;66(1):50-8.

26. Novak G, Parker CE, Pai RK, MacDonald JK, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, et al. Histologic scoring indices for evaluation of disease activity in Crohn's disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;7:Cd012351.

27. Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Hanauer SB, Lochs H, Lofberg R, Modigliani R, et al. A review of activity indices and efficacy endpoints for clinical trials of medical therapy in adults with Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 2002;122(2):512-30.

28. Nash AK, Auchtung TA, Wong MC, Smith DP, Gesell JR, Ross MC, et al. The gut mycobiome of the Human Microbiome Project healthy cohort. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):153.

29. Gow NAR, Latge JP, Munro CA. The Fungal Cell Wall: Structure, Biosynthesis, and Function. Microbiol Spectr. 2017;5(3).

30. Tang J, Iliev ID, Brown J, Underhill DM, Funari VA. Mycobiome: Approaches to analysis of intestinal fungi. J Immunol Methods. 2015;421:112-21.

31. Illumina. Fungal Metagenomic Sequencing Demonstrated Protocol 2019 [Available from: https://support.illumina.com/content/dam/illumina-

support/documents/documentation/chemistry_documentation/metagenomic/fungal-metagenomicdemonstrated-protocol-1000000064940-01.pdf.

32. FROGS pipeline [Available from: <u>http://frogs.toulouse.inra.fr</u>.

33. Escudié F, Auer L, Bernard M, Mariadassou M, Cauquil L, Vidal K, et al. FROGS: Find, Rapidly, OTUs with Galaxy Solution. Bioinformatics. 2018;34(8):1287-94.

34. Nilsson RH, Larsson KH, Taylor AFS, Bengtsson-Palme J, Jeppesen TS, Schigel D, et al. The UNITE database for molecular identification of fungi: handling dark taxa and parallel taxonomic classifications. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019;47(D1):D259-d64.

35. Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol. 2014;15(12):550.

36. Segata N, Izard J, Waldron L, Gevers D, Miropolsky L, Garrett WS, et al. Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation. Genome Biol. 2011;12(6):R60.

37. Ott SJ, Kuhbacher T, Musfeldt M, Rosenstiel P, Hellmig S, Rehman A, et al. Fungi and inflammatory bowel diseases: Alterations of composition and diversity. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2008;43(7):831-41.

 Hoffmann C, Dollive S, Grunberg S, Chen J, Li H, Wu GD, et al. Archaea and fungi of the human gut microbiome: correlations with diet and bacterial residents. PLoS One. 2013;8(6):e66019.
 Richard ML, Sokol H. The gut mycobiota: insights into analysis, environmental interactions

and role in gastrointestinal diseases. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;16(6):331-45.
 Lewis JD, Chen EZ, Baldassano RN, Otley AR, Griffiths AM, Lee D, et al. Inflammation,

40. Lewis JD, Chen EZ, Baldassano RN, Otley AR, Griffiths AM, Lee D, et al. Inflammation, Antibiotics, and Diet as Environmental Stressors of the Gut Microbiome in Pediatric Crohn's Disease. Cell Host Microbe. 2015;18(4):489-500.

41. Hoarau G, Mukherjee PK, Gower-Rousseau C, Hager C, Chandra J, Retuerto MA, et al. Bacteriome and Mycobiome Interactions Underscore Microbial Dysbiosis in Familial Crohn's Disease. mBio. 2016;7(5).

42. Nguyen LH, Örtqvist AK, Cao Y, Simon TG, Roelstraete B, Song M, et al. Antibiotic use and the development of inflammatory bowel disease: a national case-control study in Sweden. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(11):986-95.

43. Samonis G, Gikas A, Anaissie EJ, Vrenzos G, Maraki S, Tselentis Y, et al. Prospective evaluation of effects of broad-spectrum antibiotics on gastrointestinal yeast colonization of humans. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1993;37(1):51-3.

44. Sokol H. Antibiotics: a trigger for inflammatory bowel disease? Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2020;5(11):956-7.

45. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. Nature. 2014;505(7484):559-63.

46. Piovani D, Danese S, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Nikolopoulos GK, Lytras T, Bonovas S. Environmental Risk Factors for Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: An Umbrella Review of Meta-analyses. Gastroenterology. 2019;157(3):647-59.e4.

47. Sokol H, Leducq V, Aschard H, Pham HP, Jegou S, Landman C, et al. Fungal microbiota dysbiosis in IBD. Gut. 2017;66(6):1039-48.

48. Ha CWY, Martin A, Sepich-Poore GD, Shi B, Wang Y, Gouin K, et al. Translocation of Viable Gut Microbiota to Mesenteric Adipose Drives Formation of Creeping Fat in Humans. Cell. 2020;183(3):666-83.e17.

49. Takahashi K, Nishida A, Fujimoto T, Fujii M, Shioya M, Imaeda H, et al. Reduced Abundance of Butyrate-Producing Bacteria Species in the Fecal Microbial Community in Crohn's Disease. Digestion. 2016;93(1):59-65.

50. McIlroy J, Ianiro G, Mukhopadhya I, Hansen R, Hold GL. Review article: the gut microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease-avenues for microbial management. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2018;47(1):26-42.

51. Guslandi M, Mezzi G, Sorghi M, Testoni PA. Saccharomyces boulardii in maintenance treatment of Crohn's disease. Dig Dis Sci. 2000;45(7):1462-4.

52. Leonardi I, Paramsothy S, Doron I, Semon A, Kaakoush NO, Clemente JC, et al. Fungal Transkingdom Dynamics Linked to Responsiveness to Fecal Microbiota Transplantation (FMT) Therapy in Ulcerative Colitis. Cell Host Microbe. 2020;27(5):823-9.e3.

53. Standaert-Vitse A, Sendid B, Joossens M, François N, Vandewalle-El Khoury P, Branche J, et al. Candida albicans colonization and ASCA in familial Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2009;104(7):1745-53.

54. Juneja D, Borah AK, Nasa P, Singh O, Javeri Y, Dang R. Candida sake candidaemia in nonneutropenic critically ill patients: a case series. Crit Care Resusc. 2011;13(3):187-91.

55. Nunes C, Usall J, Teixidó N, Viñas I. Improvement of Candida sake biocontrol activity against post-harvest decay by the addition of ammonium molybdate. J Appl Microbiol. 2002;92(5):927-35.

56. Morales H, Sanchis V, Usall J, Ramos AJ, Marín S. Effect of biocontrol agents Candida sake and Pantoea agglomerans on Penicillium expansum growth and patulin accumulation in apples. Int J Food Microbiol. 2008;122(1-2):61-7.

57. Schei K, Avershina E, Øien T, Rudi K, Follestad T, Salamati S, et al. Early gut mycobiota and mother-offspring transfer. Microbiome. 2017;5(1):107.

58. Breuer U, Harms H. Debaryomyces hansenii--an extremophilic yeast with biotechnological potential. Yeast. 2006;23(6):415-37.

59. de Hoog GS, Vicente VA, Najafzadeh MJ, Harrak MJ, Badali H, Seyedmousavi S. Waterborne Exophiala species causing disease in cold-blooded animals. Persoonia. 2011;27:46-72.

60. Najafzadeh MJ, Suh MK, Lee MH, Ha GY, Kim JR, Kim TH, et al. Subcutaneous phaeohyphomycosis caused by Exophiala equina, with susceptibility to eight antifungal drugs. J Med Microbiol. 2013;62(Pt 5):797-800.

61. Manharth A, Lemberger K, Mylniczenko N, Pinkerton M, Pessier AP, Kammeyer P, et al. Disseminated Phaeohyphomycosis Due to an Exophiala species in a Galapagos Tortoise, Geochelone nigra. Journal of Herpetological Medicine and Surgery. 2005;15(2):20-6.

62. Lemoinne S, Kemgang A, Ben Belkacem K, Straube M, Jegou S, Corpechot C, et al. Fungi participate in the dysbiosis of gut microbiota in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gut. 2020;69(1):92-102.

63. Li Q, Wang C, Tang C, He Q, Li N, Li J. Dysbiosis of gut fungal microbiota is associated with mucosal inflammation in Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2014;48(6):513-23.

	CD	HC	p-value ^a
Ni sana hi sana ƙwa a ƙwara ƙasar	4.4	40	
Number of patients, n	44	40	
Male gender, n (%)	24 (54.5%)	19 (47.5%)	0.52
Age, years, mean (SD)	42.2 (14.4)	36.6 (12.9)	0.07
BMI, mean (SD)	25.8 (4.8)	26.6 (4.7)	0.40
Acid reflux medication, n (%)			0.72
PPI	5 (11.4%)	2 (5%)	
H ₂ blockers	0	0	
PPI on demand	0	0	
H ₂ blockers on demand	1 (2.3%)	1 (2.5%)	
Smoking, n (%)			0.57
Never smoker	23 (52.3%)	25 (62.5%)	
Active smoker	5 (11.4%)	5 (12.5%)	
Snuff	10 (22.7%)	8 (20%)	
Ex-smoker	6 (13.6%)	2 (5%)	
Laboratory values			
Hb (g/dL), mean (SD)	14.1 (1.5)	14.5 (1.7)	0.197
Leukocytes (x 10^9 /L), median	6.4 (2.3)	6.5 (2.3)	0.50
CRP (mg/L), median (IQR)	<5 (4)	<5 (0)	0.017

Table 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of Crohn's disease (CD) patients and healthy controls (HC)

^a Comparing CD (n=44) with HC (n=40) using Mann-Whitney U test for skewly distributed continuous variables, independent t test for normal distributed continuous variables and Chi square/Fisher exact test for categorical variables.

Table 2 Crohn's disease (CD) characteristics, medical treatment, endoscopic evaluation and surgical history I

CD characteristics	CD (n=44) 10.0 (19.8)	
Disease duration, years (median, IQR)		
Subclassification of patients, n (%) ^a		
Terminal ileitis (Inflamed 5-cm + normal 15-cm)	22 (50.0%)	
Active disease (Inflamed 5 cm + 15 cm)	10 (22.7%)	
Remission (Normal 5 + 15 cm)	12 (27.3%)	
Montreal location, n (%)		
Terminal ileum (L1)	23 (52.3%)	
Ileocolonic (L3)	16 (36.4%)	
Ileocolonic + Upper GI (L3 + L4)	5 (11.4%)	
Montreal behaviour, n (%)		
Non-stricturing, non-penetrating (B1)	8 (18.2%)	
Non-stricturing, non-penetrating + perianal (B1p)	2 (4.5%)	
Stricturing (B2)	15 (34.1%)	
Stricturing + perianal (B2p)	6 (13.6%)	
Penetrating (B3)	11 (25%)	
Penetrating + perianal (B3p)	2 (4.5%)	
Montreal age (age at diagnosis), n (%)		
16 years or younger (A1)	12 (27.3%)	
17-40 years (A2)	22 (50%)	
Over 40 years (A3)	10 (22.7%)	
CD-medication, n (%) ^b		
No medical therapy for CD	18 (40.9%)	
Budesonide	7 (15.9%)	
Prednisolone	4 (9.1%)	
5-ASA	3 (6.8)	
Azathioprine	6 (13.6%)	
Methotrexate	3 (6.8%)	
Adalimumab	4 (9.1%)	
Infliximab	7 (15.9%)	
Vedolizumab	1 (2.3%)	
Treatment naïve, n (%)	6 (13.6%)	
TNF α naïve, <i>n</i> (%)	23 (52.3%)	
Rutgeerts score, n (%)	. ,	
i0	12 (27.3%)	
i1	12 (27.3%)	
i2	5 (11.4%)	
i3	6 (13.6%)	
i4	9 (20.5%)	
Ileocecal resection	28 (63.6%)	
1	<pre></pre>	

^a Based on endoscopic evaluation of inflammation ^b Co-medication: n=8 (18.2) used two CD medications, n=1 (2.3%) used three CD medications

Figure legends

Figure 1 Altered mucosa-associated mycobiota in Crohn's disease (CD) patients in comparison to healthy controls (HC). (A) Fungal alpha-diversity, according to observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (left) and Simpson index (right), boxplots coloured according to disease phenotype. (B) Relative abundance of fungal phyla in HC and CD patients. (C) Beta-diversity. Principal coordinates analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity with samples coloured according to disease phenotype. The fraction of diversity captured by the coordinate is given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. Groups compared using Permanova method.

Figure 2 Differentially abundant fungal taxa in Crohn's disease (CD) patients in comparison to healthy controls (HC) identified using linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe). (A) Fungal taxa overrepresented in CD patients (red) and HC (green) illustrated in a histogram which shows Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) score computed for the differentially abundant fungal taxa. (B) Heatmap illustrating the distribution of differentially abundant fungal species between CD and HC mucosal pinch biopsies sampled 5 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis.

Figure 3 Fungal mucosa-associated mycobiota in a subset of 20 Crohn's disease (CD) patients with terminal ileitis and without upper CD involvement. Biopsies sampled at inflamed 5-cm and non-inflamed 15-cm proximal to the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis. (A) Alpha diversity, according to observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (left) and Simpson index (right), boxplots coloured according to biopsy location. (B) Beta-diversity in CD patients with terminal ileitis and healthy controls (HC). Principal coordinates analysis of Jaccard index with samples coloured according to disease phenotype and ileal location. The fraction of diversity captured by the coordinate is given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. (C) Beta-diversity. Principal coordinates analysis of Jaccard index with samples coloured according to given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. Groups compared using Permanova method.

Figure 4 Differentially abundant fungal taxa between inflamed 5-cm vs proximal noninflamed 15-cm ileal biopsies from 20 Crohn's disease (CD) patients with terminal ileitis and no history of upper CD involvement. Biopsies sampled from 5- and 15 cm proximal of the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis within the same patients. (A) Fungal taxa overrepresented in 5-cm biopsies (green) and in 15-cm biopsies (red) illustrated in a histogram with Linear Discriminant Analysis (LDA) score computed using linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe). (B) Heatmap showing the distribution of differentially abundant fungal species in 5-cm samples (right) and 15-cm samples (left) identified using LEfSe.

Figure 5 Inflammation does not impact mucosa-associated mycobiota in CD patients overall (n=44). (A and B) Alpha-diversity, according to observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (left) and Simpson index (right), boxplots coloured according to endoscopic (A) or histologic (B) inflammation. (C and D) Beta-diversity. Principal coordinates analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity with samples coloured according to endoscopic (C) or histological (D) inflammation. The fraction of diversity captured by the coordinate is given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. Groups compared using Permanova method.

Figure 6 Mucosal pinch biopsy location in the ileum of CD patients does not impact mucosaassociated mycobiota. 44 CD patients, biopsies sampled from 5- and 15-cm from the ileocecal valve or ileocolic anastomosis. (A) Alpha-diversity according to observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (left) and Simpson index (right), boxplots coloured according to biopsy location 5-cm or 15-cm. (B) Beta-diversity. Principal coordinates analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity with sample colour according to biopsy location. The fraction of diversity captured by the coordinate is given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. Groups compared using Permanova method.

Supplementary Figure 1 Altered mucosa-associated mycobiota Crohn's disease (CD) patients in comparison to healthy controls (HC). (A) Abundances of fungal phyla and Basidiomycota/Ascomycota ratio, boxes coloured according to disease phenotype. Groups compared using Independent Sample t-test. (B) Abundances of fungal genera, boxes coloured according to disease phenotype. Groups compared using Independent Sample t-test.

Supplementary Figure 2 Mucosa-associated mycobiota is similar across different ileal sublocations in both Crohn's disease (CD) patients (n=44) and healthy controls (HC) (n=40). (A) Alpha-diversity according to observed operational taxonomic units (OTUs) (left) and Simpson index (right), boxplots coloured according to biopsy location 5-cm or 15-cm. (B) Beta-diversity. Principal coordinates analysis of Bray-Curtis dissimilarity with sample colour according to biopsy location. The fraction of diversity captured by the coordinate is given in percentage on axes 1 and 2. Groups compared using Permanova method.







C Bray-Curtis





Figure 3









Figure 4

Α



В



Figure 5





Supplementary Figure 1

Α



Malassezia



**** p<0.0001 *** p<0.0005

Supplementary Figure 2





ISBN 978-82-326-6102-2 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-6518-1 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

